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KEY FIGURES AT GLANCE 

Key Figures

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

 
Total operating income  10,752 20,593

Income from management services  3,268 5,169

Income from investment property  3,661 4,771

Share of results of associated companies  3,556 10,273

Other income  267 380

Administrative expense  -8,083 -9,738

Personnel expense  -4,643 -6,176

General expense  -3,440 -3,562

Earnings before depreciation, valuation adjustments, provisions, interest and taxes  2,669 10,855

Depreciation, valuation adjustments and provisions  -634 -3,443

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  2,035 7,412

Finance result, net (financial income, financial expense, market value adjustment)  -8,528 -896

Net result from continued operations before taxes  -6,493 6,516

Income taxes  2 298

Net result from continued operations  -6,491 6,814

Net result from discontinued operations  - 435

Net result  -6,491 7,249

attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG  -3,568 7,185

attributable to non-controlling interests  -2,923 64

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Total assets  137,812 205,358

Current assets  40,194 45,212

Non-current assets  97,618 160,146

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  -  - 

Total liabilities  45,539 78,254

Current liabilities  20,305 20,633

Non-current liabilities  25,234 57,621

Total shareholders' equity (including non-controlling interests)  92,273 127,104

Equity capital quota, in per cent  67.0  61.9 

Staff (full-time equivalents, FTE) 38.8 67.0

Closing price of VLRT share, in CHF 12.70 18.00

Equity of Shareholders per share, in CHF 29.50 27.87

Dividend per share, in CHF 0.50 -

Dividend yield in percent 3.9 -
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Gustav Stenbolt, 
Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors

Dear Shareholders

The Financial year 2023 was characterised by a challenging in-
vestment environment with high interest rates and volatility in 
the foreign exchange markets. According to International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), Valartis Group reports a net 
loss of CHF 6.5 million (previous year: net profit of CHF 7.2 mil-
lion) primarily attributable to the strengthening of the Swiss 
franc against all investments in foreign currencies, which ad-
versely affected the net finance result by CHF 10.4 million. Oper-
ating income decreased overall by 48 per cent compared to the 
previous year due mainly to lower contribution of associated 
companies as well as the restructuration of Group’s third-party 
advisory business that has been transferred with the disposal of 
EPH European Property Holdings’ Russian portfolio. Administra-
tive expenses shrank by 17 per cent following this transforma-
tion. The income from investment property increased 4 per cent 
in base currency but has been impacted by the unfavourable for-
eign exchange movement. As a result, the earnings before inter-
est and taxes (“EBIT”) were a gain of CHF 2.0 million (previous 
year: gain of CHF 7.4 million).

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Valartis Group will focus on successfully developing existing 
and new profitable, cash-producing activities. The focus of activ-
ities in 2024 will be the collaboration with EPH European Proper-
ty Holdings PLC (“EPH”) by strengthening its local asset manage-
ment teams following the latest acquisitions and developments 
including deployment and implementation of the ESG measures 
across its real estate portfolio. The business activities of ENR 
Russia Invest SA (“ENR”) and management of the Group’s partic-
ipations will remain a challenge in the context of the latest de-
velopments in both the global and Russian economies as well as 
the sanctions environment implying activity restrictions and 
capital controls. The construction of our first container vessel 
will support the growth of our shipping business. On the banking 

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS 

side, we expect Norinvest/Banque Cramer & Cie to continue its 
growth and good performance also in 2024.

ACTIVITIES IN 2023

Valartis Group is holding a 29.2 per cent stake in Norinvest, hav-
ing a 100 per cent stake in Banque Cramer & Cie, Geneva. The 
bank has benefitted the from rising interest rate environment 
and good growth in Assets under Management during 2023. Fur-
thermore, the bank has been able to again increase its profitabil-
ity compared to previous period. The bank is aiming to sustaina-
bly increase its assets under management and has confirmed its 
solid position as a profitable Swiss private bank with operations 
in Geneva, Zurich, Lugano and Dubai.

Our shipping joint-venture company has taken delivery of a new 
mid-size feeder container cargo vessel in the 3rd quarter of 2023, 
which started operations immediately. Our two other joint-ven-
ture investments in multi-purpose vessels witnessed a reduc-
tion of the daily time charter rates compared to the peaks 
reached in 2022. Nevertheless, they maintained a high level of 
profitability and distributions. Together, the return of these in-
vestments amounts to CHF 1.2 million for the year 2023. 

In 2023, EPH European Property Holdings PLC (“EPH”), successful-
ly disposed of its entire Russian real estate portfolio. This trans-
action supported by Valartis Group closed in April 2023 and con-
tributed to the strategic realignment of the company. Valartis 
Group has subsequently continued providing real estate adviso-
ry and management services exclusively to the remaining Euro-
pean portfolio of EPH. Consequently, Valartis Group has restruc-
tured its local subsidiaries and reduced its operations in Russia. 
All third-party advisory business outside the mandate from ENR 
have ceased with most employees in Moscow having been reas-
signed.

With its dedicated asset management team, Valartis Group 
supported EPH in the development of an ESG strategy based on 
a detailed portfolio analysis by examining sustainability across 
the entire EPH Group. As a result, EPH has developed a compre-
hensive sustainability strategy that integrates sustainability 
values into its core business of acquiring and owning high-qual-
ity real estate. Various improvements of internal process pro-
jects have been undertaken with the support of Valartis Group. 
In 2023, EPH continued its growth strategy by acquiring a five-
star hotel sitting in a historic building in Vevey. Valartis Group 
has supported EPH with the acquisition of this prestigious 
property and will accompany the renovation project over the 
next five years. Overall, EPH continues to carefully examine 
market opportunities in Europe’s business hubs to position the 
real estate portfolio for long-term stability in income and value 
growth. Valartis Group as external asset manager of EPH Euro-
pean Property Holdings PLC is supporting the EPH transactions, 
the refinancing of its real estate assets, the development of 
EPH capital structures, administration of its properties and its 
investor relations. Valartis Group has managed EPH’s assets 
since its incorporation.
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The Group continues to hold a 63.2 per cent participation in ENR. 
At the Petrovsky Fort business centre, the business performed 
well in 2023 and had lower office and retail vacancies compared 
to 2022. Office tenants and visitors benefit from convenience 
grocery shopping at the supermarket in the building, and a range 
of other serviced focussed tenants. The thousand square metres 
area designated for the new upmarket co-working business will 
open in April 2024, adding another value-added rental offering 
at Petrovsky Fort. Regular ongoing improvements and capex pro-
grams continue. Discussions are currently ongoing with the fi-
nancing institution to buyout the bank loan.

At Kaluga Flower Holding LLC, the flower production supplies a 
large retail, wholesale and smaller customer base on a regular 
basis. Greenhouses are operating at full capacity where 25.1 hec-
tares is in productive use, with 15 hectares planted with, among 
others, more than 40 rose varieties.

As initiator, investor as well as investment advisor, Valartis 
Group advises and develops the Luxembourg based Valartis Ger-
man Residential Health Care fund. This fund, which is investing 
into senior living facilities in Germany, continued to manage its 
recent years acquisitions. Considering the demographic develop-
ment, the increase of the portion of the elderly population, and 
the aging baby boomer generation requesting care services 
soon, the demand for both, nursing homes with in-patient care 
services and senior living apartments with out-patient care ser-
vice offerings, continues to grow. 

During the first semester 2023, Valartis Group acquired 
1,173,000 Valartis Group AG shares or 27.3 per cent of its own 
shares held by one of its large shareholders. As a consideration 
for the Valartis shares, the Group has delivered a significant por-
tion of its holdings in Athris AG. During the second semester 
2023, Valartis Group further disposed of an additional stake of 
its holdings in Athris AG. Together, by partially disposing of its 
stake in Athris AG, Valartis Group realised a gain that in accord-
ance with IFRS, the gain on the sale has been recognised over the 
entire period of ownership exclusively in the balance sheet rath-
er than being recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement as 
a one-time gain at the date of disposal. This fact is reflected 
within the Consolidated statement of changes in equity where 
the realised gain is transferred to retained earnings. The share 
buyback transaction was approved by the Annual General Meet-
ing of 16 May 2023. The Annual General Meeting also approved 
the cancellation of the 1,173,000 Valartis shares that took place 
on 14 June 2023.

VALARTIS GROUP TODAY

The business model continues to be based on our core compe-
tencies i.e. financial services, real estate management and in-
vestments. We continue to look for new or add on investments, 
especially if they will increase our cash flows. Our main focus in-
dustries remain financial services and real estate projects, but 
we will also consider opportunities in other industries. At the 
end of 2023, Valartis Group employed 39 people (38.8 Full-Time 

Equivalents (“FTE”) across the Group in the real estate manage-
ment, in marketing, leasing and maintenance businesses – previ-
ous year: 67 employees (67 FTE).

The 2023 Annual General Meeting of 16 May 2023 authorised 
the repurchase of up to a maximum of 120,000 shares of Valartis 
Group’s own shares prior to the 2026 Annual General Meeting by 
way of a public share buyback programme for cancellation pur-
poses. By 31 December 2023, a total volume of 103,000 shares 
had been purchased in a share buyback at a fixed price for CHF 
1.4 million at a purchase price of CHF 13.75 per share. The 
amendment of the Articles of Association (reduction of share 
capital) in respect of the actual number of shares repurchased 
will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting 2024 for ap-
proval. 

TODAY AND TOMORROWʼS PRIORITIES

The 2024 financial year will continue to present us with challenges 
and opportunities. A key success factor in our businesses continues 
to be the rapid and successful development of new profitable and 
cash generative activities and the further development of existing 
projects and the launch of innovative investment products and ser-
vices. 

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors will propose a dividend of CHF 0.50 per 
share entitled to dividend to the 36th Annual General Meeting 
on 14 May 2024. Based on year-end shareholdings, this corre-
sponds to a total distribution of CHF 1.4 million. The Board of Di-
rectors thus expresses its appreciation to the shareholders and 
thanks them for the trust they have placed in Valartis Group.

THANK YOU

We would like to take this opportunity to express our special 
appreciation and gratitude to our employees for their contin-
ued loyalty. We thank the shareholders of Valartis Group AG for 
their loyalty and understanding. We are confident that Valartis 
Group is well prepared for future challenges and sustained cor-
porate success.

Fribourg, Switzerland, 28 March 2024.

Gustav Stenbolt,  
Chairman and Delegate of  
the Board of Directors
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MANAGEMENT REPORT

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE 

During the financial year 2023, Valartis Group reported a net loss 
of CHF 6.5 million (previous year: net profit of CHF 7.2 million) 
primarily attributable to the strengthening of the Swiss franc 
against all investment in foreign currencies, which adversely af-
fected the net finance result by CHF 10.4 million. The operating 
business has performed satisfactorily considering the environ-
ment and the earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”) were a 
gain of CHF 2.0 million (previous year: gain of CHF 7.4 million). 
Furthermore, the operating income has decreased by CHF 9.8 
million but this effect has been mitigated by administrative ex-
penses lowered by CHF 1.7 million and valuation adjustments 
improved by CHF 2.6 million compared to the previous year.

During the second quarter 2023, following the disposal of EPH 
 European Property Holdings PLC (“EPH”) Russian real estate port-
folio, Valartis Group continued to provide real estate advisory 
and management services exclusively to the European portfolio 
of EPH. Consequently Valartis Group has reorganised its local 
subsidiaries and reduced its operations in Russia. All third party 
advisory business outside the mandate from ENR have ceased 
with most employees in Moscow having been reassigned.

Norinvest Holding (Banque Cramer & Cie SA) benefitted from 
a pleasing business development during 2023, has been able to 
optimise its resource allocation successfully, increased its 
profitability compared to previous period and has confirmed 
its solid position as a profitable Swiss private bank. The Bank has 
benefitted from the rising interest rate environment and been 
able to again increase its profitability compared to previous peri-
od. Banque Cramer is aiming to sustainably increase its assets 
under management.

On the shipping side, our joint-venture company has taken deliv-
ery of the new mid-size feeder container cargo vessel, which is 
now operating. Our two other joint-venture investments in mul-
ti-purpose vessels witnessed a reduction of the daily time char-
ter rates compared to the peaks reached in former periods. Nev-
ertheless, they maintained a high level of profitability and 
distributions. Together, the return of these investments amounts 
to CHF 1.2 million for the year 2023. 

The Investment property business centre had lower office and re-
tail vacancies in 2023 compared to 2022. Office tenants and visi-
tors benefit from convenience grocery shopping at the supermar-
ket in the building, and a range of other serviced focussed tenants 
(including a flower shop of the flower production business). The 
thousand square metres area designated for the new upmarket 
co-working business will open in April 2024, adding another value 
added rental offering at Petrovsky Fort. Regular ongoing improve-
ments and capex programs continue. 

The flower production facility produces high-quality locally grown 
flowers. The business supplies a large retail, wholesale and small-
er customer base on a regular basis. Greenhouses are operating at 
full capacity where 25.1 hectares is in productive use, with 15 
hectares planted with more than 40 rose varieties; 2 hectares 
planted with more than 20 germini and gerbera varieties; 5 hec-

tares used for a large annual tulip programme, supplemented by a 
range of seasonal flower programs; 3 hectares used for chrysan-
themums and 0.1 hectares for flower plant propagation. Flower 
growing, cutting and sales continue to increase each year.

Overview of the 2023 financial year
On the asset management side, Valartis Group supported EPH to 
successfully dispose its entire Russian portfolio, which contribut-
ed to the strategic realignment of the company. Further, with its 
dedicated asset management team, Valartis Group supported 
EPH in the development of an ESG strategy based on a detailed 
portfolio analysis by examining sustainability across the entire 
EPH Group. As a result, EPH has developed a comprehensive sus-
tainability strategy that integrates sustainability values into its 
core business of acquiring and owning high-quality real estate. 
Various improvement of internal process projects have been un-
dertaken with the support of Valartis Group. In 2023, EPH contin-
ued its growth strategy by acquiring a five-star hotel sitting in 
an historic building in Vevey. Valartis Group has supported EPH 
with the acquisition of this prestigious property and will accom-
pany the renovation project over the next years. Overall, EPH 
continues to carefully examine market opportunities in Europe’s 
business hubs to position the real estate portfolio for long-term 
stability in income and value growth. Valartis Group as external 
asset manager of EPH European Property Holdings PLC is sup-
porting the EPH transactions, the refinancing of its real estate 
assets, the development of EPH capital structures, administra-
tion of its properties and its investor relations. Valartis Group 
has managed EPH’s assets since its incorporation.

Valartis German Residential Health Care SICAV FIS, which invests 
in senior living properties in Germany, was influenced by the 
general economic development. Increasing interest rates and in-
flation environment allowed some increase on the rental income. 
At the same time and for the same underlying reason, the valua-
tion had to be impaired by approximately 5 per cent in 2023.

The demand for senior-living and care services continues to grow 
driven by the general demographic development. Within the 
next 10 years, the aging baby boomer generation will demand 
care services and additional senior appropriate living facilities. 
Thus, new senior living offerings and care services are required 
to meet the demand. In 2023 the German senior living and 
health care market faced a challenging year. Operators of senior 
living facilities were impacted by increasing personnel, rental, fi-
nancing, and energy costs. In addition, the shortage of trained 
nursing staff in the care sector makes it more difficult to find 
sufficient staff to maintain the operation of inpatient care facil-
ities. In close cooperation with the operators of the facilities of 
Valartis German Residential Health Care has been able to miti-
gate these risks.

ESG (Environmental Social Governance) relevant topics and Euro-
pean Union taxonomy regulations gain more importance. In 
2023, the Fund incorporated the Sustainable Finance Disclosure 
Requirement (“SFDR”) as required by European Union. By com-
mitting to social and environmental characteristics, the Fund 
will not only contribute to climate protection and social aspects 
but also attract a broader investors’ universe. The fund is open 
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for new investors’ subscriptions to further acquire sustainable 
and attractive German senior living facilities and to offer its in-
vestors to benefit from the megatrend demography and the sta-
ble and steadily growing senior living market.

During the first semester 2023, Valartis Group acquired 27.3 per 
cent of its own shares held by one of its large shareholders. As a 
consideration for the Valartis shares, the Group has delivered a 
significant portion of its holdings in Athris AG. The share buyback 
transaction was approved by the Annual General Meeting of 16 
May 2023. The acquired shares were subsequently cancelled. 

During the second semester 2023, Valartis Group further dis-
posed of an additional stake of its holdings in Athris AG. Togeth-
er, by partially disposing its stake in Athris AG, Valartis Group re-
alised a gain of CHF 9.6 million. In accordance with IFRS, the gain 
on the sales have been recognised over the entire period of own-
ership rather than being recorded as a one-time gain at the dates 
of disposal. This fact is reflected within the Consolidated state-
ment of change in equity where the realised gains are trans-
ferred to retained earnings. 

The 2023 Annual General Meeting of 16 May 2023 authorised 
the repurchase of up to a maximum of 120,000 shares of Valartis 
Group’s own shares prior to the 2026 Annual General Meeting by 
way of a public share buyback programme for cancellation pur-
poses. By 31 December 2023, a total volume of 103,000 shares 
had been purchased in a share buyback at a fixed price for CHF 
1.4 million at a purchase price of CHF 13.75 per share. The amend-
ment of the Articles of Association (reduction of share capital) in 
respect of the actual number of shares repurchased will be sub-
mitted to the Annual General Meeting 2024 for approval. 

 
THE FINANCIAL SITUATION OF VALARTIS GROUP

The consolidated equity amounted to CHF 92.3 million at end 
2023 (31 December 2022: CHF 127.1 million). The change is main-
ly due to the acquisition of own shares for purpose of share cap-
ital reduction. The number of outstanding shares of Valartis 
Group was reduced to 3,126,295 from 4,299,295 in June 2023. In 
addition, the annual result i.e. a loss (CHF 6.5 million), the foreign 
exchange translation differences (CHF 4.7 million) besides smaller 
decreases also impacted the Group equity. For an overview, please 
refer to the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 
42. Overall, this corresponds to an equity ratio (i.e. total equity in 
per cent of balance sheet total) of 67.0 per cent (previous year: 61.9 
per cent).

EMPLOYEES OF VALARTIS GROUP

Over the years, Valartis Group employees have made a decisive 
contribution to the success of Valartis Group through their loyal-
ty and alignment with the Group’s strategies and their commit-
ment to execute these strategies in practice. They are of great 
importance for the success of Valartis Group and its future com-
petitiveness. See also chapter Corporate Sustainability, page 12. 
The financial recognition of individual performance through up 

to date remuneration models is an important factor, and it is a 
specific focus of the Board of Directors to recognise the perfor-
mance of the employees accordingly. For further information, 
see the section entitled Compensation Report, page 26.

The Board of Directors and the Executive Management of Valartis 
Group would like to take this opportunity to thank the employ-
ees for their commitment over the past year and the continued 
high level of loyalty and trust they have shown to Valartis Group.

As of 31 December 2023, Valartis Group employed a total of 38.8 
full-time adjusted employees in its businesses (previous year for 
the Group: 67 full-time adjusted employees). 

The organisational structure of Valartis Group, see organisation-
al chart, page 10, consists of a Board of Directors at Group level 
and a Delegate of the Board of Directors.

CARRYING OUT A RISK ASSESSMENT

The Board of Directors monitors the risk management system 
and deals with all risks on a quarterly basis with corresponding 
reports. Current risk topics are discussed and evaluated. See also 
Risk Management in the separate chapter and in Valartis Group’s 
consolidated financial statements, pages 15 and 61.

Each year, the Board of Directors conducts a structured analysis 
of the main risks to which the Group is exposed related to its busi-
ness model. These include credit, market, liquidity, operational, 
strategic, business and reputational risks. The Board of Directors 
considers risk-minimising measures, internal controls and chang-
es in political, economic, sociocultural and/or information tech-
nological environment. The Board of Directors then sets overall 
targets and risk limits, compliance with which is continuously 
monitored.

Strategic and organisational decisions are made on this basis 
with the aim of optimising Valartis Group’s risk positions. A key 
component of this is the design and further development of the 
internal control system which is intended to address identified 
risks through appropriate, stringent control measures and mini-
mise their probability of occurrence. The appropriate establish-
ment of risk management and controlling processes which en-
sure the identification, assessment, management, monitoring 
and reporting of material risks and the associated risk concentra-
tions, ensures that all risks are taken into account. A key objective 
here is to create transparency about risks at an early stage and to 
limit potential losses. The Board of Directors considers the struc-
tures and measures which are in place for controlling and moni-
toring material risks to be appropriate.

Description of the accounting-related internal control system
Valartis Group’s internal control system comprises all principles, 
procedures and measures designed to ensure the effectiveness, 
efficiency and regularity of accounting and compliance with the 
relevant legal provisions. It is based on the international Commit-
tee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission 
(“COSO”) model and comprises the components control environ-
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ment, risk assessment process, accounting-related information 
systems, control activities and monitoring of the internal control 
system (ICS). COSO is a voluntary private sector organisation in 
the United States that aims to help improve the quality of finan-
cial reporting through ethical conduct, effective internal controls 
and good corporate governance. There have been no significant 
changes since the balance sheet date that would require an ad-
justment of the internal control system.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Income statement
The Group posted a net loss of CHF 6.5 million for the 2023  
financial year (2022: net gain of CHF 7.2 million) primarily attrib-
utable to the strengthening of the Swiss franc against all invest-
ment in foreign currencies, which adversely affected the net fi-
nance result by CHF 10.4 million. Operating income decreased 
overall by 48 per cent compared to the previous year due mainly to 
lower contribution of associated companies as well as the restruc-
turation of Group’s third party advisory business. Administrative 
expenses shrank by 17 per cent following this transformation. As 
a result, the earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”) were a 
gain of CHF 2.0 million (previous year: gain of CHF 7.4 million).

Management services fees amounted to CHF 3.3 million com-
pared to CHF 5.2 million in the previous year, i.e. decreasing by 
CHF 1.9 million following the restructuration of local subsidiaries 
of Valartis providing advisory to the former Russian real estate 
portfolio of EPH.

Income from investment property in 2023 increased by 4 per 
cent in base currency compared to 2022 however it has been im-
pacted by the unfavourable foreign exchange movement. As a re-
sult, it decreased to CHF 3.7 million compared to CHF 4.8 million 
during the previous year. 

The result of associated companies contributed a gain of  
CHF 3.6 million (previous year: CHF 10.3 million).

Operating expenses decreased by 17 per cent to CHF 8.1 million 
(2022: CHF 9.7 million) where on one hand, general expenses 
reduced by 3 per cent compared to previous year and on the 
other hand, personnel expense reduced by 25 per cent in rela-
tion with restructuration of Russian local subsidiaries of Valartis 
having ceased all third party advisory business outside the 
mandate from ENR with most employees having been reas-
signed.

Valuation adjustments, provisions and losses for 2023 amount 
to CHF 0.2 million compared to CHF 2.8 million in previous year 
and caused by the change in valuation of real estate holdings of 
ENR Group (CHF -0.5 million on Petrovsky Fort and CHF +0.3 
million on a Moscow based parking garage).

The net finance result, i.e. a loss of CHF 8.5 million compared to 
a loss of CHF 0.9 million in previous year, was impacted the net 
foreign exchange loss (CHF -10.4 million), the positive fair value 
adjustment of marketable securities held by the Group (CHF 1.8 

million), the interest margin and dividend income (CHF 0.3 mil-
lion) and the net loss from financial instruments measured at 
fair value through profit or loss (CHF -0.2 million).

BALANCE SHEET

In 2023, total assets shrank to CHF 137.8 million (31 December 
2022: CHF 205.4 million). This decrease compared to the previous 
year is mainly due to the reimbursement of CHF 29.5 million 
promissory notes from EPH European Property Holdings, the 
partial disposal of the holdings in Athris AG by CHF 21.7 million, 
the change in valuation on the Investment property by CHF 9.1 
million essentially due to a stronger Swiss Franc against Ruble 
the at year-end. These effects have been partially compensated 
by the decrease of cash and cash equivalents by CHF 5.7 million 
and the increase of Trading portfolio assets by CHF 3.2 million as 
the result of investments and fair value adjustment beside other 
smaller effects.

Current financial liabilities remained stable to CHF 20.4 million. 
Non-current financial liabilities have decreased by CHF 32.4 mil-
lion mainly as a consequence of the reimbursement of an invest-
ment facility of CHF 30.2 million as well as a foreign exchange 
effect.

Total equity was CHF 92.3 million at end 2023 (31 December 
2022: CHF 127.1 million) and equity attributable to shareholders 
of Valartis Group at CHF 81.6 million (31 December 2022: CHF 
111.8 million).

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Significant events after the balance sheet date
There were no significant events after the balance sheet date. 
Events after the balance sheet date are also reported in Valartis 
Groupʼs consolidated financial statements, Note 44.

Segment reporting
Valartis Group has only one single segment and, in accordance 
with IFRS 8, reporting is only for one business component of the 
Group. See also the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments in Note 36.

OUTLOOK

Expected development of Valartis Group
In the view of the challenging operating environment in Russia, 
the Group will focus on protecting the value of its investments. 
In addition, the focus will be on Private Equity, Real Estate Pro-
ject Management and Financial Services for 2024 where we will 
continue the development of existing and new profitable and 
cash generative activities and to advance the further develop-
ment of projects underway. Valartis Group continues to focus its 
market development and adapts its range of services and prod-
uct taking account of market demand and other relevant dynam-
ics. Where required, the Group structure will be adapted to react 
to, inter alia, key external market developments and project  



8

requirements or implementations, or expanded services which 
may require further adjustments to the Group’s organisation 
and infrastructure. From a strategic and tactical point of view, 
the activities will continue to focus on development and manag-
ing of new participations and new projects in line with Valartis 
Group’s strategic guidelines. An important aspect of these new 
projects is their ability to increase the Group’s operating cash 
flow. For further information see also chapter Strategy and Ob-
jectives, page 9.
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Valartis Group is an internationally active financial group with 
offices in Switzerland (Fribourg, Geneva and Zurich), Luxem-
bourg, Russia (Moscow and St. Petersburg), Germany (Frankfurt 
am Main and Stuttgart) and Austria (Vienna). Valartis Group AG, 
headquartered in Fribourg, canton of Fribourg, Switzerland, is 
the holding company of the Group. The registered shares of 
 Valartis Group AG are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (ISIN 
CH0367427686). Valartis Group AG holds direct or indirect partic-
ipations in fully consolidated companies and in associated com-
panies (see Note 37 of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Valartis Group – Operational Structure 

29.2%
Norinvest

Holding SA
Geneva

100%
VLR Germany

Frankfurt
am Main

63.2%
ENR Russia
Invest SA

Geneva

100%

Valartis AG 

Fribourg

Valartis Group AG 
Fribourg

100%
Valartis Advisory

Services SA
Geneva/Zurich

100%
VLR Austria

Vienna

100%
Valartis

International Ltd
BVI

 
THE STRATEGIC DIRECTION

Today, Valartis Group’s business activities comprise financial ser-
vices, real estate projects and participations. Therefore, consider-
ing the basic principle of risk-bearing capacity, the return-orient-
ed assumption of risks is the focus of operational management.

Financial services
Valartis Group concentrates on focused management of niche 
funds (investment satellites). The focus of investment activity is 
in the countries of Russia, Germany and Austria. Valartis Group 
also provides certain advisory services through its corporate fi-
nance team (see below). Furthermore, Valartis Group holds a  
29.2 per cent stake in Banque Cramer & Cie SA through an invest-
ment in Norinvest Holding SA.

Valartis German Residential Health Care Fund
For Valartis German Residential Health Care Fund, the Group acts 
as investment advisor to the fund which was launched for quali-
fied investors. The fund focuses on investing in nursing homes in 
Germany. Valartis Group performs various advisory and adminis-
trative tasks for the fund. For these services, it is compensated on 
the basis of usual market fees.

Corporate Finance
Valartis Corporate Finance services focus primarily on advisory 
activities for listed and non-listed medium-sized companies in 
Germany, Austria and Switzerland, as well as in Central and East-
ern Europe.

Real estate projects
On the real estate side, Valartis Group combines the manage-
ment of profitable commercial and residential properties with 
investments in promising development projects. With their 
know-how and broad network of contacts, the real estate  
investment specialists of Valartis Group also support the search 
for specific investment opportunities in the real estate sector.

ENR Russia Invest SA
ENR is an investment company listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange 
and a member of the Swiss Association of Investment Companies. 
Since 1996. It has been investing in private equity, listed shares, 
real estate and non-current income instruments of Russian com-
panies and companies from other states of the Commonwealth of 
Independent States and the Baltic States. ENR has an investment 
property in St. Petersburg, Russia, being the business centre Petro-
vsky Fort. This is a class B+ office and retail property, completed in 
2003, located in the centre of St. Petersburg near the Neva River. It 
has nine office and two retail levels with a large central atrium as 
well as two floors for technical equipment, an underground park-
ing facility and an above-ground car park. Of the total net rental 
area, approximately 15,000 square metres are earmarked for of-
fice purposes and approximately 6,000 square metres for retail 
space. ENR also owns 50 per cent of a parking garage located very 
centrally on Moscow’s Turgenevskaya Square. The underground 
car park offers spaces for approximately 290 cars on 6 under-
ground floors. Via a wholly owned subsidiary, ENR acquired in 
2019 a 50 per cent interest in a 27.4-hectare greenhouse and engi-
neering facility for flower growing in the Kaluga Oblast in Russia.

EPH European Property Holdings PLC
EPH European Property Holdings PLC is a stock corporation listed 
on the SIX Swiss Exchange. As a real estate investment company, 
EPH concentrates primarily on the European prime commercial 
and residential property markets. Valartis Group holds a 4.9 per 
cent stake in EPH. Valartis International Ltd, a company of Valartis 
Group, continues to be responsible for certain investment adviso-
ry, property management and administrative functions at EPH 
under a management contract.

Participations
The focus is on equity participations as an active shareholder. 
Valartis Group pursues a bottom-up approach and is constantly 
looking for investments for its own and its clients investment 
and property portfolios.

Elements of the traditional portfolio management process such 
as portfolio realisation and portfolio control are used to select 
investment opportunities. The disciplined implementation of 
these steps contributes to achieving the objective of a stringent 
profitability orientation with an appropriate risk/return ratio. 
One of the central challenges in putting together an investment 
portfolio is to resolve the conflict between optimising the ex-
pected return (value growth including interest and dividends 
less costs) within a certain period on the one hand and limiting 
the risk of loss on the other hand. Typically, the structure of an 
investment portfolio will show a certain consistency over time 
which implies an anti-cyclical behaviour which involves both op-
portunities and risks.

STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES 
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Norinvest Holding SA
Norinvest Holding SA, headquartered in Geneva, Switzerland, is 
a Swiss investment company founded in 1984. It is listed on the 
OTC platform of the Cantonal Bank of Bern and is the 100 per cent 
owner of Banque Cramer & Cie SA which specialises in private 
banking and asset management. Following the completed sale of 
its two Swiss subsidiaries Valartis Bank AG and Valartis Wealth 
Management SA to Banque Cramer & Cie SA in 2014, Valartis Group 
AG acquired a 25 per cent stake in Norinvest Holding SA through 
the merger of Valartis Bank AG and Banque Cramer & Cie SA. This 
stake has been raised to 29.2 per cent in 2022 following Norinvest 
capital reduction.

Whitebox Services AG
Whitebox Services AG, through its wholly owned subsidiary 
Whitebox GmbH, founded in July 2014, has been one of the first 
online asset management companies on the German market, as 
of January 2016. Whitebox aims at a return on investment that is 
significantly better than that of conventional offers at the same 
risk level. Whitebox GmbH, Weil am Rhein, is a wholly owned sub-
sidiary of Whitebox Services AG which is based in Switzerland. 
The owners of Whitebox Services AG are the founders, former 
management members of leading banks and industry experts. 
Valartis has acquired a small stake in Whitebox Services AG.

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS
In 2019, Valartis Group invested in two limited partnerships 
called Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co KG MS “Folmhusen” and 
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co KG MS “Nesseborg”, who each 
owned a mid-size multipurpose vessel. Between 2021 and 2023, 
the Group has further invested in a new joint venture called Briese 
Schiffahrts GmbH & Co KG MS “Marz”, which built a new mid-
size container cargo vessel and started its operations in 2023.

Athris Holding AG
Athris AG (until August 2008 Jelmoli Beteiligungen AG), head-
quartered in St. Moritz, canton of Graubunden, Switzerland, is a 
Swiss investment company whose shares are traded on BX Swiss 
which is a Swiss regulated stock exchange under the supervision 
of FINMA. Valartis Group holds this investment in the category 
Financial assets at fair value through OCI.

The organisational structure
Board of Directors and Executive Management
With confirmation of the Annual General Meeting of 16 May 
2023, the Board of Directors of Valartis Group is composed as 
follows: Gustav Stenbolt, Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
Philipp LeibundGut, Vice Chairman, and Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member. See also press release of 16 May 2023: Results of the 
Annual General Meeting of Valartis Group AG; at http://www.
valartisgroup.ch/en/#medienmitteilungen. 

Organisational chart

Executive Management
Gustav Stenbolt, Delegate of the Board 
of Directors 

Board of Directors
Gustav Stenbolt, Chairman 
Philipp LeibundGut, Vice-Chairman 

Olivier Brunisholz, Member 

Diana Stenbolt, Member 

Front Organisation
Real Estate Project & Asset 
Management
Real Estates Funds & Property
Private Equity
Corporate Finance

Service Organisation
Accounting & Controlling
IT & Logistics
Corporate Communications

Compensation Committee
Philipp LeibundGut, Chairman 

Gustav Stenbolt, Member
Olivier Brunisholz, Member
Diana Stenbolt, Member 

Business Development
Gustav Stenbolt
Philipp LeibundGut

Valartis Group employs a total of 38.8 people (full-time equiva-
lent).

The employees provide services in the areas of real estate pro-
jects, investment projects, corporate finance and, as part of the 
Group’s service organisation, in the areas of Group accounting and 
controlling, IT & logistics and corporate communications. Other 
services required by the Group (personnel administration and tax 
and legal advice) are obtained from external providers.

Measures to increase earnings and control costs
All business units of the Group have already initiated or newly 
launched programmes with the aim of increasing earnings or re-
ducing costs in order to achieve the targeted increase in efficiency 
and profitability in a timely manner. In particular, management is 
working to increase short-term flexibility despite increasing chal-
lenges and complexity in setting up additional investments in 
order to make the business model more scalable and to keep 
costs under control. Stringent risk management and compliance 
with the criteria for risk-bearing capacity remain key principles of 
the Group. The internal control system of Valartis Group (ICS) is 
continuously adapted and helps to manage operational risks ef-
ficiently. Details can be found in the chapter Risk Management 
of Valartis Group, page 15, and in the chapter Notes on risk man-
agement, pages 61.
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Commission income
In addition to building up and managing investments, Valartis 
Group also aims to increase income from services. The aim is to 
increase in commission income and generate positive contribu-
tions to earnings in the medium term beyond the sustainable 
coverage of operating costs. Cooperation opens up a way not 
only to counter rising costs, but also to jointly develop and imple-
ment investment projects. Valartis Group is therefore in con-
stant exchange with partners in order to jointly use existing re-
sources and optimise their use.

OUTLOOK

The 2024 financial year will continue to present us with challenges 
and opportunities. A key success factor in our businesses continues 
to be the rapid and successful development of new profitable and 
cash generative activities and the further development of existing 
projects and the launch of innovative investment products and ser-
vices. The operating environment in Russia continues to represent a 
source of a challenges as there has not been a solution for the con-
flict with Ukraine. The Group monitors permanently the geopoliti-
cal developments and the economic environment to evaluate how 
the situation is evolving, and will assess what actions to take.
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CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY 

SUSTAINABLE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

We are an interactive, internationally focused company and are 
aware of the diversity and the great importance of our international 
and local stakeholders and dialog groups. In a phase of realignment 
of the business model, it is essential to know the interests and 
needs of our stakeholders and to take them into account appro-
priately for the further development of the Group in order to en-
sure the sustained success of the Group’s development.

We not only integrate economic criteria into our thinking and ac-
tions, but also include social and ecological aspects and thus 
strive for a holistic perception of our corporate responsibility. 
Our ethical and professional core values such as integrity, re-
spect, trust, customer and dialogue orientation, partnership and 
transparent communication as well as a sustainable sense of re-
sponsibility are laid down in the Code of Conduct. The Code of 
Conduct is published under Investor Relations at http://www.
valartisgroup.ch/en/#codeofconduct.

 
Sustainable business practices and thus sustainable 
profitability are central to our long-term success. We 
integrate environmental and social aspects into our 
business decisions and into the management of our 
resources and infrastructure. We want to achieve 
continuous sustainability for our internal and exter-
nal stakeholders1).

1) Code of Conduct of Valartis Group, section Sustainability

An essential function of the Code of Conduct is to make all peo-
ple in the company aware of applicable laws and company guide-
lines and to make them aware of legal risks in everyday working 
life. The Code of Conduct summarises laws and other rules that 
are of relevance to Valartis Group and provides guidance. As a 
binding guideline for legally compliant and ethically responsible 
conduct in our company, the Code of Conduct also defines the 
standards for responsible conduct towards business partners 
and the public, but also in dealing with one another within the 
company. All employees and the Board of Directors of Valartis 
Group are obliged to comply with the principles laid down in the 
Code of Conduct (see chart in the right column).  Valartis Group 
maintains an open, transparent dialogue and strives for a rela-
tionship based on trust and responsibility with clients, partners, 
investors and employees. Effective Corporate Governance is 
 essential for sustainable business success which is why Valartis 
Group consistently complies with corporate governance rules 
and follows the principles and recommendations of economie- 
suisseʼs Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance.

Corporate responsibility

 

+ Integrity
+ Responsibility
+ Respect
+ Customer Orientation
+ Confidentiality
+ Clear Risk Principles
+ Compliance
+ Sustainability
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VALUES AND PARTNERSHIP

We adhere to our traditional core values such as trust, partner- 
ship, a sense of risk and responsibility, dialogue orientation and 
innovative strength, combined with competence, know-how 
and many years of experience. Our core competencies – Real  
Estate Project Management, Financial Services and our own  
participations – form the basis for our current corporate alignment.

Risk Management and Compliance
We attach great importance to both risk management and com-
pliance – in the sense of compliance with rules, i.e. compliance 
with laws and guidelines, but also with voluntary codes. Compli-
ance governs the exercise of legal responsibility and compliance 
with all relevant internal and external regulations as well as the 
timely implementation of new requirements. Our business  
activities are based on disciplined, prudent risk management. 
We only take those risks that we can assess and evaluate and 
want to bear within our risk appetite. In the interest and for the 
protection of our stakeholders, we as a Group attach great  
importance to internally independent control procedures and 
activities, descriptions and information on Risk management 
(see pages 15 and 61).

For an overview and assessment of the main risks associated 
with the current business model, please refer to Risk Manage-
ment on pages 15 and 61.
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FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS – TRANSPARENCY AND 
SUSTAINABLE CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

As a listed company, important stakeholder groups of Valartis 
Group AG are our shareholders with a free float of 16.7 per cent 
of the shares (excluding the treasury shares) and the majority 
shareholder is, as of 31 December 2023, MCG Holding SA, Baar 
ZG, controlled by Gustav Stenbolt (80.23 per cent) and Philipp 
LeibundGut (19.77 per cent), and which holds 68.8 per cent of 
the nominal capital and voting rights of the Company. Gustav 
Stenbolt and Philipp LeibundGut also directly own respectively 
2.3 and 0.8 per cent of nominal capital and voting rights of the 
Company (see Note 28 of the Consolidated Financial Statements). 
The remaining shares are held by the company itself.

We remain committed to generate sustained profits vis-à-vis our 
majority and minority shareholders. These profits form the basis 
for a development that not only allows targeted reinvestment in 
business activities, but also enables the funding of reserves for 
economically difficult times. The Group also aims to return the 
capital provided by the owners at an appropriate rate of interest 
in the form of dividends.

Sustainable corporate development – value-oriented 
management
The basis of overall corporate management is a systematic, mul-
tilevel financial planning and management process based on a 
dual management concept with a separation between decen-
tralised control of front activities and centralisation of the ser-
vice organisation, including the Groupʼs own financial assets and 
investment strategies. The corporate management in place re-
lies on the Board of Directors and the Executive Management.

Board of Directors and Executive Management
The Board of Directors is responsible for determining the medi-
um- and long-term strategic orientation of Valartis Group. Its 
members have many years of experience and expertise in the ar-
eas of finance & banking, international investments and invest-
ment projects, international taxation, finance and accounting, 
risk management and in dealing with internal control systems 
(see also Corporate Governance, page 16). The strategic guide-
lines of the Board of Directors are implemented by the Executive 
Management. It is also responsible for the operational manage-
ment of Valartis Group, operational liquidity planning and over-
all results, defines as a decision-making body the operational 
medium-term planning (roll-over) and the profit targets at gross 
profit level valid for the next three years, and defines the central 
tactical measures at Group level.

The people responsible for private equity, real estate project 
management and funds report to the Executive Management. 
Based on a detailed annual plan, they determine their income, 
risk and activity budget for the coming year and, within this 
framework, decide on the use of necessary funds. Non-operative 
taxable income and expenses such as trading or valuation gains, 
however, do not form part of medium-term planning. Timely 
monitoring and discussion of the monthly results allows coun-
termeasures to be implemented quickly during ongoing opera-
tions, especially in the event of significant budget deviations. At 

the same time, appropriately designed information and risk 
management systems always make it possible to keep opera-
tional risk under control (see also Risk Management on pages 15 
and 61). The three-year capital planning process concludes the  
financial management process.

SUSTAINABLE EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT 

We are proud to have employees who take on challenges, over-
come obstacles and are committed to the Group, even under dif-
ficult conditions.

The challenging conditions in the internationally competitive  
environment will make prudent, sustainable promotion and  
constant further training of Valartis Group employees even 
more important in the future. Our continued international activ-
ities demand a high degree of professionalism, expertise, knowl-
edge of people and culture from our employees, as well as the 
values we desire. Furthermore, Valartis Group can only operate 
sustainably and master future challenges due to the specific  
expertise, the highly solution-oriented service approach and the 
high personal commitment of each individual employee.

Wherever possible, we offer our employees a high degree of flex-
ibility so that they can balance their workload with their private 
lives. Our value-oriented management approach is character-
ised by a leadership style based on partnership and a climate of 
cooperation supported by comradery and provides for attractive 
salaries in line with the market, a performance-oriented remu-
neration system and progressive social benefits that create  
incentives for personal development.

The compatibility of career and family together with work-life 
balance is an important prerequisite for the long-term perfor-
mance of employees. Accordingly, within the Group we offer 
market-conform, regionally adapted holiday and vacation regu-
lations as well as the possibility of flexible working hours and are 
open to the home office concepts in accordance with operation-
al requirements.

Equal treatment also applies to the individual determination of 
remuneration. In this way, female specialists at the same loca-
tion receive the same salaries as their male colleagues with the 
same qualifications and experience. Dealing with issues of  
gender equality is regulated by the personnel regulations. At the 
same time, a culture of freedom of expression encourages a high 
degree of employee participation and co-determination.

Value-based remuneration system – target orientation  
and appreciation
We are committed to fair, balanced and performance-oriented 
remuneration and offer our employees in all Group companies 
not only attractive salaries in line with market conditions and 
progressive social benefits, but also a bonus system that appro-
priately rewards above-average performance. Our value-based 
remuneration system is geared to the medium-term economic 
success and sustainable competitiveness of the Group (for de-
tails see also Compensation Report of Valartis Group, page 26). 
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In 2023, the Group continued its Long Term Incentive  
Programme (“LTI”) covering members of the Board of Directors, 
Executive Management and certain employees. As a Group, we 
motivate employees to live a performance-, team- and risk- 
conscious culture and promote independent entrepreneurial 
thinking and acting in the interests of the Group. In addition to 
targeted employee development and advancement, a salary in 
line with market conditions and progressive social benefits, 
 Valartis Group offers its employees a range of fringe benefits.

SOCIAL COMMITMENT

As a company aware of its social responsibility, Valartis Group 
can only modestly support several international charitable  
organisations due to its small size.

FOR THE ENVIRONMENT – FUTURE-ORIENTED, 
LONG-TERM BALANCE

In our corporate management, we are guided by the basic princi-
ple of an adequate, long-term balance between our economic, 
social and ecological responsibility as a group.

In matters of sustainability, we will continue to focus on  
resource efficiency because we are convinced that this is an  
important factor for the long-term success of the Group and our 
investment portfolio. In the future, stakeholders will increasing-
ly demand concrete steps from companies with regard to  

sustainable use of non-renewable resources, a further increase 
in resource efficiency and a shift towards renewable energies.

Due to its very limited capacities and infrastructures, Valartis 
Group refrains from systematically collecting and evaluating 
ecologically relevant information.

We reduce our ecological footprint by, for example:
 – using public transport for business travel;
 – critically questioning the necessity of air travel;
 – using new technologies for meetings (online or video confe-

rencing);
 – striving for efficiency in the consumption of electricity for 

computer systems and other electrical equipment;
 – reducing paper consumption;
 – developing and offering user-friendly online communication 

tools and platforms, such as microsites and apps for annual 
reports and publications;

 – using chilled ceilings in the offices which contribute to a plea-
sant room climate in summer and winter;

 – collecting waste paper and recycle it.

 
OUR EMPLOYEES IN 2023

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Valartis Group (full-time equivalents) 38.8 67.0

Nationalities 10 11

Locations 7 9

OUR PROMISE TO OUR EMPLOYEES

Accept social 
responsibility

Sustainable employee 
development –  
future-driven

We wish all employees an adequate 
work-life balance, i.e. a good work-life 
balance and an adequate balance 
between work and appropriate leisure, 
exercise and nutrition. Accordingly,  
the Valartis companies offer market- 
conform, regionally adapted holiday 
and holiday regulations as well as the 
possibility of flexible working hours.

We offer market-based remuneration at 
all locations. The remuneration system 
provides incentives that promote perfor-
mance-, team- and risk-conscious culture 
as well as entrepreneurial thinking and 
acting and strengthening Valartis Group 
as a whole.

We promote and facilitate personal and 
professional development within the 
Group.

We follow the principle of equal treat-
ment, especially in determining salaries. 
Female specialists receive the same 
salaries within the same location with 
the same qualifications and experience 
as their male colleagues. 

We have institutionalised internal and 
external training and further education.

We offer and expect from our employees 
a cosmopolitan attitude and respect 
towards other nations, cultures, mentali-
ties, age groups and needs.

We have institutionalised internal and 
external training and further education.

Value-driven compensation 
system – target-oriented, 
appreciation

Values – trust, 
responsibility, 
cooperation, respect
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RISK MANAGEMENT OF VALARTIS GROUP 

RISK SITUATION OF VALARTIS GROUP

Overview
The balance sheet total assets amount to CHF 137.8 million as of 
31 December 2023 and shrank by 33 per cent compared to previ-
ous year (31 December 2022: CHF 205.4 million) mainly due to 
the reimbursement of CHF 29.5 million promissory notes from 
EPH European Property Holdings, the partial disposal of the hold-
ings in Athris AG by CHF 21.7 million, the change in valuation on 
the Investment property by CHF 9.1 million. These effects have 
been partially compensated by the decrease of cash and cash 
equivalent by CHF 5.7 million and the increase of Trading portfo-
lio assets by CHF 3.2 million as the result of investments and fair 
value adjustment beside other smaller effects. 

Current financial liabilities remained stable to CHF 20.4 million. 
Non-current financial liabilities have decreased by CHF 32.4 mil-
lion mainly as a consequence of the reimbursement of an invest-
ment facility of CHF 30.2 million as well as a foreign exchange 
effect. 

Total equity was CHF 92.3 million at end 2023 (31 December 
2022: CHF 127.1 million) and equity attributable to shareholders 
of Valartis Group at CHF 81.6 million (31 December 2022: CHF 
111.8 million). The total equity decreased compared to the previ-
ous year due to the purchase of treasury shares for purpose of 
share capital reduction (CHF 22.1 million), the annual result i.e. a 
loss (CHF 6.5 million), the foreign exchange translation differenc-
es (CHF 4.7 million) besides smaller decreases. For an overview, 
please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
on page 42.

The assets side of the balance sheet at year-end was as follows:

in CHF million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Current assets 40.2 45.2

Non-current assets 97.6 160.1
 
Risk management for the remaining risks on the asset side is 
based on the professional principles of value-oriented corporate 
management which include the targeted assumption of risks 
and their professional management. Considering the basic prin-
ciple of risk-bearing capacity, return-oriented risk assumption is 
the focus of risk management.

Valartis Group takes a bottom-up approach to its own invest-
ments and is constantly looking for new long-term investments 
for its participation portfolio. Elements of the traditional portfo-
lio management process such as portfolio realisation (asset  
allocation, monitoring, review) and portfolio control (perfor-
mance measurement, attribution) are used to select own invest-
ment opportunities. The disciplined implementation of these 
steps contributes to achieving the objective of a stringent profit-
ability orientation with an appropriate risk/return ratio. One of 
the central challenges in putting together your own investment 
portfolio is to resolve the conflict between optimising the  
expected return (value growth including interest and dividend 
less costs) within a certain period of time on the one hand and 

limiting the risk of loss on the other hand. Typically, the structure 
of an investment portfolio will have a certain consistency over 
time which implies an anti-cyclical behaviour and involves both  
opportunities and risks.

Organisation of risk management
Valartis Group has a central risk management organisation.

In its capacity as the highest operative supervisory body, the 
Board of Directors bears responsibility for all risks of the Group 
and defines the corresponding risk policy. It is responsible for  
determining the annual risk budget, the structure of  limits and 
the maximum risk tolerance (quantitative and qualitative) in  
relation to the risk-bearing capacity of the Group. Operational 
management is responsible for the implementation of risk man-
agement and control principles and ensures permanent compli-
ance with the specified limits. Risk monitoring and risk assess-
ment see chapter Management Report, page 5.

At present, the business activities of Valartis Group essentially 
comprise the following risks:

 – Market risk (price risk of equity instruments, interest rate risk 
and foreign currency risk)

 – Credit risk (bonds default risk)
 – Operational risk (real estate project risk)
 – Liquidity risk

The currency risk is currently the main risk to be assessed. See 
also further explanations in the consolidated financial state-
ments of Valartis Group, page 61.

The currency balance sheet at the end of the year was as follows:

in CHF million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Current assets 40.2 45.2

in CHF 6.8 8.8

in EUR 21.1 26.5

in USD 9.9 8.4

in RUB 2.4 1.5

Non-current assets 97.6 160.1

in CHF 39.8 58.3

in EUR 3.2 32.4

in USD 13.5 14.6

in RUB 41.1 54.8

Net position per foreign currency  
(total assets per currency less total liabilities per currency)

in EUR -3.9 -3.7

in USD 18.1 19.6

in RUB 40.9 53.0
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Valartis Group attaches great importance to a strong Corporate 
Governance and sees this as a central factor for corporate suc-
cess. The protection of shareholder interests, a transparent and 
comprehensive information policy and an appropriate remuner-
ation policy are key elements of Valartis Groupʼs Corporate Gov-
ernance. Corporate Governance also regulates the relationship 
between management and control of the Group. 

LEGAL GUIDELINES AND PRINCIPLES

Valartis Group follows the principles and recommendations of 
economiesuisseʼs Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Gov-
ernance and its appendix with recommendations on the remu-
neration of the Board of Directors and the Executive Manage-
ment (see Compensation Report, page 26). As a company listed 
on the SIX Swiss Exchange (“SIX”), Valartis Group is also subject 
to the guidelines of SIX Exchange Regulation. The following infor-
mation as of 31 December 2023, unless otherwise stated, meets 
the requirements of the SIX Directive on Information relating to 
Corporate Governance (“DCG”) of 29 June 2022 with entry into 
force as of 1 January 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK OF 
VALARTIS GROUP

Valartis Groupʼs corporate governance guidelines define and  
allocate the roles, competencies and areas of responsibility of 
the management and supervisory bodies in a clear and balanced 
manner and provide for appropriate controls. All principles and 
guidelines relating to Corporate Governance are binding for the 
organisation and management of Valartis Group. These docu-
ments form the corporate governance framework of Valartis 
Group and comprise the following elements:

 – The Articles of Association explain the corporate purpose and 
the comprehensive organisational framework of Valartis 
Group. The Articles of Association are posted under Investor  
Relations at http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#statuten.

 – Valartis Group’s Code of Conduct defines basic ethical and pro-
fessional values such as integrity, respect, client and dialogue 
orientation, fairness, transparent communication and a  
sustainable sense of responsibility. The Code of Conduct is  
published under Investor Relations at http://www.valartis-
group.ch/en/#codeofconduct.

 – The internal Organisation and Business Regulations (OBR)  
define the responsibilities and competencies within Valartis 
Group. The essential elements of these regulations are set out 
in this Corporate Governance Report in the section Board of  
Directors (see page 18), Compensation Committee (see page 
21) and Executive Management (see page 22).

 – The rules of the Compensation Committee set out the duties 
and responsibilities of this body and its members. The essential 
elements of these regulations are set out in Compensation  
Report 2023 (see page 26).

 – The remuneration policy: The Compensation Report – see also 
http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#investorrelations under An-
nual Report or http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#geschaefts-
berichte – defines the essential elements and principles of an  
appropriate compensation system for the members of the 
Board of Directors, the Executive Management and the employ-
ees (see Compensation Report 2023, pages 28 and 31).

 – The responsibilities and competencies defined in the internal  
Organisation and Business Regulations (“OBR”) are, where ap-
propriate, additionally described and defined in various regula-
tions. 

 

Corporate Governance
Organisation and Business Regulations (OBR)

Code of Conduct
Corporate Governance 
Guidelines Organisation 

and Business 
Regulations 
(OBR)

Internal Control System 
(ICS)

Regulations

Policies

Articles of 
Association

GROUP STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDERS

Groupʼs structure
Valartis Group AG is a stock corporation under Swiss law with its 
registered office in Fribourg, canton of Fribourg, Switzerland. 
The registered shares of Valartis Group AG (ISIN CH0367427686) 
are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. As of 31 December 2023, 
the market capitalisation of Valartis Group AG amounts to  
CHF 39.7 million for 3,126,295 shares issued. Valartis Group 
holds 11.49 per cent or 359,078 treasury shares as of 31 Decem-
ber 2023. The organisational chart in the chapter Strategy and 
Objectives on page 9 illustrates the operational structure and 
organisation of Valartis Group. Information on segment report-
ing and further explanations can be found in the Management 
Report on page 5 ff. and the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, Note 36. For an overview of treasury shares, please 
refer to Note 26 to the Consolidated financial statements.

Consolidation
The Group companies of Valartis Group AG (scope of consolida-
tion) are listed in the notes to the Group financial statements in 
Note 37, together with information on the company, registered 
office, purpose, share capital, shareholding and capital and voting 
rights. The associated companies are also listed and described in 
Notes 19 and 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The following material participation in the scope of consolida-
tion is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange: ENR Russia Invest SA, 
 Geneva (Switzerland), ISIN CH0034476959 which had a market 
capitalisation of CHF 11.9 million as of 31 December 2023.

Significant shareholders
MCG Holding SA, Baar ZG, Switzerland, directly holds 68.8 per 
cent of the nominal capital and voting rights of the Company. 
The beneficial owners of MCG Holding SA are Gustav Stenbolt 
(80.23 per cent) and Philipp LeibundGut (19.77 per cent) who 
also directly own respectively 2.3 and 0.8 per cent of nominal 
capital and voting rights of the Company. No other shareholders 
are known to hold more than 3.0 per cent of the voting registered 
shares. Detailed information on the shareholder structure can be 
found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
Note 28, and in the notes to the financial statements of Valartis 
Group AG, on page 119. There are no shareholdersʼ agreements.

For an overview of the disclosures made in the year under review, 
please refer to the website of SIX Exchange Regulation (https://
www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/publications/sig-
nificant-shareholders.html).

Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings in terms of capital or voting 
rights between Valartis Group AG and its subsidiaries and other 
companies.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

Share capital
The share capital of Valartis Group AG amounts to CHF 3,126,295, 
divided into 3,126,295 registered shares with a par value of  
CHF 1.00 each. All registered shares of Valartis Group AG are fully 
paid up and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. With the exception 
of the registered shares held as treasury shares (an overview of 
treasury shares can be found in the notes to the consolidated  
financial statements, Note 26), all registered shares of Valartis 
Group AG are entitled to dividend and there are no preferential 
rights. As of the balance sheet date of the financial year 2023, 
there are no financial instruments outstanding that could lead 
to a dilution of the Companyʼs equity.

The registered shares of Valartis Group AG are issued as uncertif-
icated securities and carried as intermediated securities. The 
Company may withdraw shares held as intermediated securities 
from the custody system. Dispositions of intermediated securi-
ties, including the provision of collateral, are subject to the Inter-
mediated Securities Act.

Shareholders may at any time request the Company to issue a 
certificate for their registered shares. However, shareholders are 
not entitled to the printing and delivery of certificates or the 
conversion of registered shares issued in a particular form into 
another form. In contrast, the Company may issue certificates 
(individual certificates or share certificates) or convert uncertifi-
cated securities and certificates into another form at any time 
and cancel issued certificates that are delivered to it.

Entry in the share register
Valartis Group AG keeps a share register for the registered shares 
in which the owners and usufructuaries, insofar as they are  
entitled to voting rights, are entered with their name, address 
and nationality (in the case of legal entities the registered office). 
The entry in the share register requires proof of the formal and 
statutory acquisition of the shares. In relation to the Company, a 
shareholder is only deemed to be a shareholder if registered in 
the share register as a shareholder.

After hearing the person concerned, the Board of Directors of 
 Valartis Group AG may delete entries in the share register with 
retroactive effect to the date of entry if these were made on the 
basis of incorrect information provided by the acquirer. The  
affected shareholder must be informed immediately of the dele-
tion.

The Board of Directors shall make the necessary arrangements 
for maintaining the share register and may issue corresponding 
regulations or guidelines. They may delegate their duties. In 2017, 
the Board of Directors appointed Computershare Switzerland AG 
in Olten, Switzerland, to manage the share register.

In the invitation to the General Meeting, the Board of Directors 
announces the date of entry in the share register which is deci-
sive for participation and voting rights. For the corporate calen-
dar of Valartis Group AG please refer to Agenda 2024, page 24.

Conditional capital
Valartis Group AG has no conditional capital.

Capital band
Valartis Group AG has no capital band.

Authorised capital
Valartis Group AG has no authorised capital.

Changes in capital
During the business year 2023, the share capital was reduced 
from 4,299,295 to 3,126,295 registered shares after the AGM 
2023. The changes in equity for the year 2023 are listed in Consol-
idated statement of changes in equity on page 42 and 43 (http://
www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#geschaeftsberichte).

Profit participation certificates
Valartis Group AG has no profit participation capital.

Limitations on transferability
The registered shares of Valartis Group AG can be transferred 
without restriction. The only condition for entry in the share reg-
ister is a declaration by the purchaser that the shares were ac-
quired in his own name and for his own account. There are no oth-
er restrictions on registration (see also Art. 5 of the current  Articles 
of Association at http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#statuten).

Convertible Bonds and Options
Valartis Group AG has not issued any convertible bonds or options.
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Gustav Stenbolt, born 1957
Lic. rer. pol. from the University of Fribourg, Switzerland. Dele-
gate of the Board of Directors as of 1 March 2017 and Chairman 
of the Board of Directors since 2015. From 2007 to 2015, he was 
Group CEO of Valartis Group. Gustav Stenbolt is also Chairman of 
the Board of Trustees of the Pension Fund Foundation of Valartis 
Group and since 2014 Chairman of the Board of Directors of  
Valartis Advisory Services SA and other Group companies of  
Valartis Group. From 2004 to 2007, he was Chief Executive  
Officer of Jelmoli Holding AG. Gustav Stenbolt founded the MCT 
Group in Geneva in 1996 and was its CEO until 2004. In 2005, the 
MCT Group merged with OZ Holding AG and has been operating 
under the Valartis Group brand since 2007. From 1983 to 1996, he 
was Chief Investment Officer of Unifund for Asia, Latin America, 
Eastern Europe and the CIS. Gustav Stenbolt is a member of the 
Board of Directors of ENR Russia Invest SA (as Chairman), EPH  
European Property Holdings PLC and Norinvest Holding SA.

Annual General Meeting 2023
Board of Directors after the ordinary Annual General Meeting of 
16 May 2023
At the Annual General Meeting of 16 May 2023, Gustav  
Stenbolt was re-elected as Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
and Philipp LeibundGut as a member of the Board of Directors 
and its Vice Chairman; Olivier Brunisholz was re-elected as a 
member of the Board of Directors and Diana Stenbolt was new-
ly elected as a member of the Board of Directors. All were elect-
ed for a term of office ending at the close of the Annual General 
Meeting 2024. See also press release, 16 May 2023: Outcome of 
Valartis Group AG General Meeting 2023; https://valartisgroup.
ch/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/MR_AGM-230516_e.pdf.

In accordance with the law and the Articles of Association of 
 Valartis Group AG (available at http://www.valartisgroup.ch/
en/#statuten), apart from non-transferable and irrevocable  
responsibilities, some responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
may be transferred to individual members (delegates), to a group 
of members (committees) or to third parties. Details on this are 
laid down in the Organisational Business Regulations (OBR). The 
Board of Directors as a body does not perform any management 
tasks within the Group. However, since 1 March 2017, the Chair-
man of the Board of Directors additionally assumed the function 
of Delegate of the Board of Directors following the then finalised 
restructuring and resizing of the Group. In addition, since 1 April 
2020, Philipp LeibundGut also holds an executive position with-
in Valartis Group AG.

The Board of Directors is considered adequately independent in 
accordance with the Corporate Governance Guidelines and the  
criteria laid down in the OBR and the Committee Regulations, 
and taking into account applicable law and listing requirements.

When filling an open position on the Board of Directors of Valartis 
Group as a small company – regardless of gender – the focus is 

primarily placed on the professional skills and international expe-
rience of the persons to be elected.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of Directors

Name Function Nationality Elected  
until

First  
election

 
 
Gustav Stenbolt 1)

Chairman &  
Delegate of the 
Board of Directors

 
 

Norwegian

 
 

2024

 
 

2015

 
 
Philipp  
LeibundGut 2)

Vice-Chairman/ 
executive member 
of the Board of 
Directors

 
 
 

Swiss

 
 
 

2024

 
 
 

2016

 
 
Olivier  
Brunisholz 3)

Member/non-exec-
utive member  
of the Board of  
Directors

 
 
 

Swiss

 
 
 

2024

 
 
 

2018
 

 

 

Diana Stenbolt 4)

Member/non-exec-
utive member  
of the Board of  
Directors

 
 
 

Swiss

 
 
 

2024

 
 
 

2023

1)  Gustav Stenbolt had served as Group CEO since 2007 until he was elected  
Chairman of the Board of Directors by the Annual General Meeting on  
2 June 2015. He has been a member of the Compensation Committee since 
2016. Gustav Stenbolt has also been Chairman of the Board of Directors of  
Valartis Advisory Services SA since 2014 and Chairman of the Board of  
Directors of ENR Russia Invest SA since 2015. Since March 2017,  
he is also the Delegate of the Board of Directors of Valartis Group.

2)  From 2011 to 2014, Philipp LeibundGut was a member of the Executive 
 Committee of Valartis Bank AG, Switzerland. In 2016, he became a member 
of the Board of Directors and the remuneration committee of Valartis Group 
upon his return to Valartis Group. Since 2018, he is the Chairman of the 
 Compensation Committee. As of 1 April 2020, Philipp LeibundGut holds an 
executive position within Valartis Group.

3)  In 2018, Olivier Brunisholz became a member of the Board of Directors and the 
remuneration committee of Valartis Group.

4)  In 2023, Diana Stenbolt became a member of the Board of Directors and the 
remuneration committee of Valartis Group.
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Olivier Brunisholz, born 1955
Lic. iur. of the University of Fribourg, Switzerland. Since 15 May 
2018, member of the Board of Directors. He is a founding partner of 
the law firm Briner & Brunisholz Lawyers in Geneva, Switzerland. 
Olivier Brunisholz specialises in Swiss and international taxation. 
As a board member in many Swiss and foreign companies and 
foundations, he has an international client basis. Furthermore, he is 
active in the field of immigration law, advises and assists clients on 
their establishment in Switzerland, as well as the formation or the 
transfer of their corporations to Swiss territory. He was admitted 
to the bar in 1983 in Geneva and in 1991 in Fribourg.   Before found-
ing his own law practice in 1991, he was with ABN Trust Company, 
Geneva (1983–1986) and with KPMG Peat Marwick, Geneva (1986–
1991).

Philipp LeibundGut, born 1973
Graduate of the Basel University of Applied Sciences (FHBB), mem-
ber of the Board of Directors of Valartis Group AG since 2016. From 
2011 to 2016 Philipp LeibundGut was responsible for the Institu-
tional Clients segment of Valartis Group and until its sale in 2014, a 
member of the Executive Committee of Valartis Bank AG, Switzer-
land, where he was responsible for the Bankʼs Corporate Finance, 
Structured Finance and Portfolio and Fund Management activities. 
From 2002 to 2006, he was a member of the Executive Committee 
of Valartis Asset Management SA and from 2005 to 2011 a member 
of the Board of Directors of Valartis Group AG, Valartis Bank (Liech-
tenstein) AG, Valartis Bonus Card AG and EPH European Property 
Holdings Ltd, Tortola (BVI), as well as a member of the Supervisory 
Board of Valartis Bank (Austria) AG. Prior to that, Philipp  LeibundGut 
worked from 1998 to 2001 as an investment advisor at Hansa AG, 
Baar, canton of Zug, Switzerland, where he was responsible for the 
development of an investment portfolio in Russia.

Diana Stenbolt, born 1991
MSc in Management from the London School of Economics and a BA 
(Hons) in Economics from the University of Kent. Diana Stenbolt is 
the Co-Founder and CEO of Skindays, a longevity platform launched 
in June 2022. She successfully secured pre-seed funding from angel 
investors and was selected to join the Techstars 2021 accelerator 
program. Diana leverages data and analytics to optimise perfor-
mance and drive user engagement, increase revenue, and maintain 
high standards of privacy, security, and transparency. Prior to Skin-
days, Diana served as a Senior Product Strategy & Investment Man-
ager at Farfetch where she led high-impact strategic initiatives to 
improve operational efficiency and identify growth opportunities. 
Diana has also held positions at Amazon, LVMH, and Ernst & Young.
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Articles of Association
The last amendment to the Articles of Association was  
approved by the Annual General Meeting on 16 May 2023 (see 
also press release, 16 May 2023: Outcome of Valartis Group AG 
General Meeting 2023; https://valartisgroup.ch/wp-content/up-
loads/2023/05/MR_AGM-230516_e.pdf.

Each member of the Board of Directors is elected individually. 
Re-election is permissible. If a member resigns before the end of 
his term of office, the next General Meeting shall elect a substi-
tute. If the number of members of the Board of Directors falls 
below three, an Extraordinary General Meeting shall be held 
within a reasonable period for supplementary elections. The 
substitute elected member enters the term of office of his  
predecessor. The first election is regulated in the section Mem-
bers of the Board of Directors of the Articles of Association; see 
also http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#statuten. The Board of 
Directors constitutes itself, appoints from among its members a 
Vice Chairman and may appoint a Secretary who needs not be a 
member of the Board of Directors.

Internal Organisation
The Board of Directors is the highest operative oversight body of 
Valartis Group AG. It is responsible to the shareholders for the 
ultimate direction of the company and decides on all matters 
that are not delegated to the General Meeting by law or the 
 Articles of Association (available at http://www.valartisgroup.
ch/en/#statuten).

Other activities and vested interests
The other activities and interests of the individual members of 
the Board of Directors are listed in short biographies in page 19. 
Article 23 of the current Articles of Association (available at 
http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#statuten) regulates the num-
ber of additional mandates that a Board of Directors member 
may exercise (15 additional mandates, of which no more than 5 
in listed companies).

Main tasks of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for controlling and super-
vising the management of the Group. It performs the tasks  
assigned to it by law, the Articles of Association or internal regu-
lations, insofar as these are not assigned to other bodies. In addi-
tion to the duties listed in the Articles of Association, the Board 
of Directors performs the following irrevocable and non-trans-
ferable duties and duties in particular:

 – the definition and periodic review of medium- and long-term 
corporate objectives (strategy) and the determination of the 
resources required to achieve the corporate objectives (medi-
um-term planning);

 – the harmonisation of strategy, risks and finance;
 – the definition of the organisation;
 – the determination of the compensation principles of person-

nel and remuneration policy (see also Compensation Report, 
page 26);

 – the design of the accounting system, financial control, finan-
cial planning and approval of annual planning;

 – the appointment of the members of the committees of the 
Board of Directors from among its members;

 – the appointment and dismissal of the persons entrusted with 
the management of the company;

 – the supervision of the persons entrusted with the manage-
ment, in particular with regard to compliance with the law, the 
Articles of Association, regulations and directives;

 – the responsibility for the content of the Annual Report, the 
preparation of the Annual General Meeting and the execution 
of its resolutions;

 – the adoption of resolutions on the proposals to be submitted 
to the Annual General Meeting regarding the remuneration of 
the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee and the 
preparation of the Compensation Report;

 – the handling and acceptance of the reports of the external  
auditors. 

Other exclusive duties of the Board of Directors 
 – the regular exchange of information on the course of business 

and special events, in particular on the earnings situation,  
balance sheet development, liquidity, equity and risk situation;

 – the definition of risk policy and risk control systems as well as 
the monitoring of consolidated risk management (see also risk 
management chapters on pages 15 and 61 and the Manage-
ment Report on page 5).

 – the issuance of guidelines or regulations for risk management 
as well as the regulation of responsibilities and the procedure 
for the approval of risk transactions;

 – the decision on the acquisition or sale of participations in other 
companies and on the formation or liquidation of subsidiaries;

 – the decision regarding the establishment and liquidation of 
companies, branches and representative offices;

 – setting group and overall position limits;
 – the decision on the admissibility of non-Group related part-

time activities by employees.

Subject to irrevocable and non-transferable duties, parts of the 
agendas of the Board of Directors may be transferred to individ-
ual members (delegates), to a circle of members (committees) or 
to third parties. The Compensation Committee was established 
in 2014 and the Business Development Committee in 2017.

The meeting of the Board of Directors is convened by the Chair-
man or, in his absence, by the Vice Chairman as often as business 
requires, at the request of one of its members or the external 
auditors. The Board of Directors passes its resolutions by an  
absolute majority of the votes of the members present. In the 
event of a tie, the Chairman has the casting vote. Minutes of the 
meetings of the Board of Directors are kept and signed by the 
Chairman and the acting Secretary.

Information and control instruments
The Board of Directors and its committees have various informa-
tion and control instruments at their disposal to exercise their 
management and supervisory duties vis-à-vis the Executive 
Committee. These instruments include the strategy process, 
medium-term planning, the annual planning process and inter-
nal and external reporting.

The members of the Board of Directors regularly receive the  
corresponding reports, in particular the monthly Management 
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Controlling Report (MIS), including a risk overview, the liquidity 
report as well as the reports on the quarterly, half-yearly and  
annual financial statements (consolidated financial statements 
and individual financial statements). These reports include 
quantitative and qualitative information such as budget devia-
tions, benchmark comparisons, period and multi-year compari-
sons, key management figures and risk analyses. The reports are 
prepared both for the operating Group companies and for the 
entire Group.

These reports allow the Board of Directors to keep abreast of key 
developments and the risk situation. Those reports that fall 
within the remit of the committees are discussed in the relevant 
committee and, if necessary, forwarded to the Board of Directors 
with appropriate proposals for decision. The current reports are 
discussed in detail at the meetings of the Board of Directors. The 
meetings of the Board of Directors are also attended by the CFO/
CRO of the Group and, if necessary, other persons. The descrip-
tion of the performance of a risk assessment by the Board of 
 Directors and the description of the Groupʼs accounting-related 
internal control system can be found in the Management Report 
of the Executive Management on page 5. For current risks, see 
also the chapters on risk management on pages 15 and 61.

In 2023, six ordinary and three extraordinary Board of Directors 
meetings were held. The usual frequency of meetings for the full 
Board of Directors is generally quarterly, whereby the meetings 
usually last from 10.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m. Committee meetings 
are held following a Board of Directors meeting, usually three in 
a financial year, each lasting one hour.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Compensation Committee was created in 2014 and consists 
of at least three members of the Board of Directors, each of 
whom is elected individually by the General Meeting for a term 
of one year, i.e. up to and including the first Annual General 
Meeting after their election. Re-election is permissible. If one or 
more members resign or if the Compensation Committee is not 
fully composed, the Board of Directors elects the missing mem-
bers from among its members until the end of the next General 
Meeting. Philipp LeibundGut, Gustav Stenbolt and Olivier  
Brunisholz were confirmed as members of the Compensation 
Committee whereas Diana Stenbolt has been elected as mem-
ber of the Compensation Committee at the Annual General 
Meeting on 16 May 2023.

The Compensation Committee constitutes itself and appoints 
one of its members as Chairman. The Compensation Committee 
meets as often as business requires. In 2023, it met three times.

Duties
The Compensation Committee performs its duties and compe-
tencies as an overall and collective body. The members have no 
personal powers and therefore cannot issue any orders. In all 
compensation-related matters, the Compensation Committee 
can in principle only submit proposals to the Board of Directors; 
due to the current constellation, both bodies – Board of Direc-

tors and Compensation Committee – consist of the same mem-
bers which means that the decisions of the Compensation Com-
mittee are binding for Valartis Group.

The Compensation Committee supports the Board of Directors 
in its tasks and responsibilities in the area of human resources 
policy. These include, among other things:

 – the preparation, development and periodic review of the  
remuneration policy and performance targets of the Executive 
Committee;

 – the periodic review of the implementation of remuneration 
policy;

 – the annual review of the remuneration of the individual mem-
bers of the Executive Management;

 – the annual assessment of the members of the Executive  
Management;

 – succession planning and nomination for executive management 
positions;

 – the selection of candidates for election or re-election to the 
Board of Directors. 

Compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management
The members of the Board of Directors are entitled to (a) a fixed 
remuneration which (i) is determined in accordance with the  
duties and functional responsibilities of the members of the 
Board of Directors and (ii) is independent of the business result 
and, for executive members of the Board of Directors, a (b) varia-
ble compensation (bonus). See also Article 27 of the Articles of 
Association at http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#statuten; for 
details see Compensation Report, page 28 ff. Furthermore, due 
to the small size of Valartis, members of the Board of Directors 
may take on activities and projects with a sustainable benefit to 
Valartis Group and may thus merit a performance-related com-
pensation.

The members of the Executive Management are entitled to (a) a 
fixed compensation which is (i) calculated in accordance with 
the duties and functional responsibilities of the person con-
cerned and (ii) independent of the business performance, and (b) 
a variable compensation (bonus). The variable remuneration 
component is determined taking due account of the individual 
performance of the employee of the business operation con-
cerned and the success of the company. The variable remunera-
tion can be paid in cash or in the form of the company shares. 
The performance targets and the type of compensation (i.e. cash 
and/or company shares) are determined by the Board of Direc-
tors at the request of the Compensation Committee. Regarding 
the remuneration in the form of company shares, the Board of 
Directors determines the conditions for allocation, which are to 
take place at market price and in particular provide for holding or 
vesting periods (see also Article 28 of the Articles of Association; 
for details, see Compensation Report, page 32).

The Compensation Committee decides on the total remunera-
tion of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
which the Board of Directors is required to submit annually to 
the Annual General Meeting for approval.
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Compensation Report
The Compensation Committee prepares the Compensation  
Report and submits it to the Board of Directors for approval; see 
Compensation Report, page 26.

Insurance and employee benefits
The Compensation Committee periodically evaluates appropri-
ate insurance policies for the members of the Board of Directors 
and the Executive Management with the involvement of experts 
and, if necessary, proposes adjustments to the Board of Direc-
tors. The Compensation Committee is informed by the Executive 
Management at least every three years about the pension plans 
of all employees.

The tasks of the Compensation Committee are explained in  
detail in a separate set of regulations.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Executive Management 2023
Besides being Chairman of the Board of Directors, Gustav Sten-
bolt assumes the additional function as Delegate of the Board of 
Directors since 1 March 2017 and is the sole member of the Exec-
utive committee since the 1 April 2020.

Organisation of operational management
The Executive Management conducts the business of the Com-
pany to the extent that the law, the Articles of Association (avail-
able at http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#statuten) or the Or-
ganisational Regulations do not reserve such business for the 
Board of Directors. The Delegate of the Board of Directors heads 
the Group and the Executive Management which decides on 
business development. The Executive Management is responsi-
ble in particular for the implementation of the Group strategy 
defined by the Board of Directors and for its results. The Dele-
gate of the Board of Directors is thus responsible for overall man-
agement and overall group coordination as well as for corporate 
development.

Other activities and vested interests
The other activities and interests of the individual members of 
the Executive Management are listed in the above short biogra-
phies. According to the current Articles of Association, Article 25, 
no member of the Executive Management may hold more than 5 
additional offices, of which no more than 1 is held in listed 
companies; see also the Articles of Association at http://www. 
valartisgroup.ch/en/#statuten.

Management contracts
Valartis Group AG has not delegated any management tasks to 
third parties. A consulting agreement was concluded in 2017  
between a Group company of Valartis Group and a Swiss stock 
corporation privately held by the Board of Directors’ Chairman at 
armʼs length terms. This agreement provides for the provision of 
advisory and consulting services in the areas of the Groupʼs 
short-term investment policy and strategy, in particular in the 

areas of short-term cash management, business development 
and project development. The remuneration for this agreement 
is disclosed in the Compensation Report on page 30 and under 
Note 34 Related parties and companies, page 96.

REMUNERATION, SHAREHOLDINGS AND LOANS

Information on the remuneration system of Valartis Group and 
on the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors, 
including the Delegate of the Board of Directors, and the Execu-
tive Management in the 2023 business year can be found in the 
separate Compensation Report (see page 26). Loans to members 
of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management may 
only be granted if their amount corresponds to market practice 
and the applicable internal guidelines of the company. The total 
amount of outstanding loans per member of the Board of Direc-
tors or Executive Management may not exceed CHF 5 million  
(according to the current Articles of Association, Article 30; see 
Articles of Association at http://www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#stat-
uten). Details of the shareholdings and loans of the members of 
the Board of Directors and the Executive Management are dis-
closed in the Compensation Report on page 32 ff. and in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, Note 35.

SHAREHOLDERS PARTICIPATION RIGHTS

Restriction and representation of voting rights
Shareholders participation rights comply with the legal provi-
sions of the Swiss Code of Obligations. There are no voting  
restrictions. Each share entitles the holder to one vote at the An-
nual General Meeting of Valartis Group. Shareholders may exer-
cise their voting rights at the General Meeting themselves or be 
represented by a proxy, another shareholder with voting rights 
or the independent proxy. Powers of attorney are only valid for 
one General Meeting at a time.

Statutory quorums
There are no regulations deviating from Article 704 of the Swiss 
Code of Obligations. Accordingly, no special statutory quorums 
were determined.

Convocation of the General Meeting of Shareholders
There are no provisions in the Articles of Association that deviate 
from the law regarding the convening of the Annual General 
Meeting. The General Meeting is convened by the Board of  
Directors at least 20 days before the date of the meeting, stating 
the agenda and proposals. In the invitation to the Annual General 
Meeting, the Board of Directors announces the date of entry in 
the share register which is decisive for participation and voting 
rights. The invitation is issued by means of a single announcement 
in the Companyʼs official publication channel. This is currently the 
Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce (SOGC). An Extraordinary 
General Meeting may also be convened in writing by one or more 
shareholders who together represent at least 10 per cent of the 
share capital, stating the agenda items and proposals.
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Addition to the agenda
The Articles of Association provide that shareholders who  
together represent at least 3 per cent of the share capital may 
request in writing that an item be included on the agenda for the 
General Meeting, stating the item and the proposal to be includ-
ed on the agenda, whereby this proposal must be received by the 
Company at least 45 days before the General Meeting.

CHANGE OF CONTROL AND DEFENSIVE MEASURES

Duty to make an offer (opting-out)
An acquirer of shares in the Company is not obliged to make a 
public purchase offer pursuant to Articles 135 and 163 of the 
Swiss Federal Act on Financial Market Infrastructures and Mar-
ket Behaviour in Securities and Derivatives Trading.

Clauses on changes of control
The rules explicitly exclude severance payments for members of 
the Board of Directors and employees. There are also no other 
clauses on changes of control.

AUDITORS

Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor
BDO AG was first elected in 2017, with Nigel Le Masurier as audi-
tor in charge, who has held this function since the election in 
2017. The rotation frequency for this office is seven years (maxi- 
mum duration) in accordance with the applicable legal require-
ments.

Audit fee
BDO AG charges Valartis Group CHF 0.19 million in the business 
year 2023 for services in connection with the audit of the annual 
financial statements and the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of Valartis Group and its Group companies. In the 
business year 2022, BDO AG charged Valartis Group CHF 0.18 
million for the same scope of services.

Additional fees
Furthermore, Valartis Group did not use any other services from 
BDO such as services in the areas of legal advice, taxes, projects 
and IT. New audit items and any special audits must be approved 
by the Board of Directors. There is no set catalogue of criteria to 
be used in the approval of such additional mandates. The Board 
of Directors decides in each individual case whether the granting 
of the additional mandate calls the independence of the audit 
firm into question.

Supervisory and control instruments vis-à-vis the auditors
The external auditors and the group auditor are supervised by 
the Board of Directors. It is responsible for dealing with the re-
ports of the external auditors.

As a rule, the external auditors report in person and in writing at 
the December meeting of the Board of Directors on the planning, 
dates and budget of the audit activities of the following year and 
present the head of the mandate and his deputy with brief biog-
raphies. At the following March meeting of the Board of Direc-
tors, at which the Board of Directors approves the Annual Report 
for the past business year, the external auditors present the 
comprehensive report of the statutory auditors to the Board of 
Directors, both in person and in writing, for the respective annu-
al financial statements as of 31 December, of the previous year 
for Valartis Group (the Group) and for the individual company 
Valartis Group AG and report on the audit activities performed. 
Further meetings of the external auditors at board of directors’ 
meetings are instructed by the Chairman of the Board.

When selecting the audit firm and assessing the performance of 
the audit firm, the legal requirements must be met. Further  
decisive selection and assessment criteria for the Board of Direc-
tors are the proven expertise in complex financial and valuation 
issues in accordance with IFRS accounting standards as well as in 
Valartis-specific special topics. Great attention is also paid to 
continuity. At medium-term intervals – usually every three to 
five years – an in-depth assessment takes place. The results are 
discussed with the auditing company in each case.

Gustav Stenbolt, born 1957
Lic. rer. pol. from the University of Fribourg. Delegate of the Board 
of Directors as of 1 March 2017 and Chairman of the Board of 
 Directors since 2015. From 2007 to 2015, he was Group CEO of 
Valartis Group. Gustav Stenbolt is also Chairman of the Board of 
Trustees of the Pension Fund Foundation of Valartis Group and 
since 2014 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Valartis Advisory 
Services SA and other Group companies of Valartis Group. From 
2004 to 2007, he was Chief Executive Officer of Jelmoli Holding 
Ltd. Gustav Stenbolt founded the MCT Group in Geneva in 1996 
and was its CEO until 2004. In 2005, MCT Group merged with OZ 
Holding AG and has been operating under the Valartis Group 
brand since 2007. From 1983 to 1996, he was Chief Investment 
Officer of Unifund for Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe and the 
CIS. Gustav Stenbolt is a member of the Board of Directors of ENR 
Russia Invest SA (as Chairman), EPH European Property Holdings 
PLC and Norinvest Holding SA.
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INFORMATION POLICY

The legally prescribed announcements of Valartis Group are legal-
ly effective in the official publication channel (Swiss Official 
 Gazette of Commerce, SOGC). Valartis Group AG informs share-
holders and capital market participants in a timely, open and com-
prehensive manner. Its information policy is based on the princi-
ple of equal treatment. As a company listed on the SIX Swiss 
Exchange, Valartis Group AG is subject to the obligation to  disclose 
price-sensitive events without delay (Directive Ad hoc Publicity, 
DAH). In 2023, the company published 9 adhoc announcements 
(see also https://valartisgroup.ch/en/#adhoc).

Market participants who wish to be directly informed about 
 Valartis Group regarding potentially price-sensitive facts can reg-
ister with the pertinent e-mail service: http://www.valartisgroup.
ch/en/#kontakt.

In addition to adhoc announcements and the publication of annu-
al and half-yearly reports prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), reporting also includes 
media information on current developments, and the Annual 
General Meeting in May. In addition to the electronic distribution 
of media information, the Annual Reports are available online to 
all interested parties. The Annual Report is available online as a 
document in pdf format, see Investor Relations at https://valartis-
group.ch/en/#geschaeftsberichte.

The corporate governance rules (see page 16) are briefly described 
and the Articles of Association and Code of Conduct are published 
on the Valartis website under the title Investor Relations: http://
www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#investorrelations.

 

Agenda 2024
Annual Report 2023   2 April 2024 
Closing date for the share register  25 April 2024
Annual General Meeting 2024   14 May 2024
Half-year results 2024   23 August 2024

Investor Relations
Valartis Group AG
rue de Romont 29/31
CH-1700 Fribourg FR
Tel. +41 44 503 54 10
corporate.communications@valartis.ch

Valartis Market Information
Listing:    SIX Swiss Exchange
Security symbol:   VLRT
Reuters:    VLRT.S
Bloomberg:   VLRT SW
ISIN:    CH0367427686
www.valartisgroup.ch

 
QUIET PERIODS

There are no defined blackout periods. The Board of Directors and 
Executive Management members are responsible to abstain from 
using price sensitive information in case they trade any share of 
the Group.
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COMPENSATION REPORT 

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS 

 
Placing the long-term interest of Valartis Group and its stake-
holders at the centre of all our actions is the key factor of our 
compensation system. We believe that a consistent and predict-
able compensation system over time supports employees who 
take responsibility and demonstrate entrepreneurship. Thus, it is 
very valuable and in the interest of all. This report informs you on 
the one hand about Valartis Group’s compensation policy and 
compensation system and on the other hand, it shows how per-
formance components are linked to overall compensation. The  
report comprises the following chapters:

 –  Compensation Committee: organisation, tasks and responsi-
bilities

 – Compensation principles for the Board of Directors, the Execu-
tive Management and employees

 – Determination of compensation
 – Compensation of the Board of Directors
 – Compensation of the Executive Management
 – Compensation of Employees
 – Long Term Incentive Programme description
 – Overview of the loans and shareholdings of the members of 

the Board of Directors and the Executive Management as of 
year-end 2023

 
The Compensation Report 2023 complies with current corporate 
governance requirements and is based on the requirements of 
economiesuisseʼs Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Gov-
ernance and the SIX Directive on Information relating to Corpo-
rate Governance (“DCG”).

In accordance with the provisions of the Swiss Code of Best 
 Practice for Corporate Governance and the Swiss law, the Board  
of Directors proposed to the 2023 Annual General Meeting of  
16 May 2023 the overall framework for the compensation of the 
Board of Directors and the  Executive Management. The share-
holders approved the proposed total amounts with a large ma-
jority.

Value-based compensation system
Valartis Group’s remuneration system serves as an instrument 
for harmonising the interests of shareholders and employees. As 
a Group, we thus create incentives for our employees to achieve 
our corporate objectives and offer competitive remuneration in 
line with the market while safeguarding the interests of our 
shareholders. We are committed to a fair, balanced and perfor-
mance-oriented remuneration. In addition to progressive social 
benefits, the employees of the Group companies also receive  
attractive base salaries in line with market conditions and have 
the opportunity to participate in a bonus system of Valartis 
Group that is dependent on individual performance and the  
success of the Group.

Valartis Group’s performance-related remuneration system is 
geared to the Group’s medium-term economic success and sus-
tainable competitiveness. It coordinates the interests of share- 
holders and employees in a way that promotes a performance-, 
team- and risk-conscious culture as well as entrepreneurial think-
ing and acting and thus strengthens the Group as a whole.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

 

Philipp LeibundGut

Philipp LeibundGut, 
Chairman of the Compensation Committee
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE: ORGANISATION, 
TASKS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The organisation, tasks and responsibilities of the Compensation 
Committee are defined as follows for the Board of Directors of 
Valartis Group AG in accordance with Art. 24 of the Articles of As-
sociation of 16 May 2023 (see Articles of Association at http://
www.valartisgroup.ch/en/#statuten) and Art. 3.10 (a) of the Or-
ganisational Regulations of 3 April 2017:

Organisation
The Compensation Committee consists of at least three mem-
bers of the Board of Directors who are elected individually by the 
General Meeting for a term of one year, i.e. up to and including 
the first Annual General Meeting after their election. Re-elec-
tion is permissible. If one or more members resign or if the Com-
pensation Committee is not fully composed, the Board of Direc-
tors shall appoint the missing members from among its 
members by the end of the next General Meeting.

On 16 May 2023, the General Meeting elected Philipp  LeibundGut, 
Gustav Stenbolt, Olivier Brunisholz and Diana Stenbolt as mem-
bers of the Compensation Committee for a term of office until 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (2024) on  
14 May 2024. Therefore, the Compensation Committee is currently 
made up of the same four members as the Board of Directors of 
Valartis Group currently consists of.

The Compensation Committee is self-constituting and appoints 
one of its members as Chairman, whereby the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors may not chair the Compensation Committee. 
Philipp LeibundGut is the Chairman of the Compensation Com-
mittee. The Compensation Committee meets as often as busi-
ness requires, generally three times a year. The Compensation 
Committee performs its duties and competencies as a collective 
body. The Compensation Committee is generally quorate if a 
majority of its members are present. Resolutions are passed by a 
majority of the votes cast. In the event of a tie, the Chairman has 
the casting vote. Minutes of the meetings are made available to 
the Board of Directors.

Tasks and responsibilities
In all compensation-related matters, the Compensation Com-
mittee can in principle only submit proposals to the Board of Di- 
rectors; due to the current constellation, both bodies – Board of 
Directors and Compensation Committee – consist of the same 
members which means that the decisions of the Compensation 
Committee are binding for Valartis Group. The associated tasks 
with the Compensation Committee include, among others:

 – the establishment of principles for the compensation of the 
Board of Directors, the Executive Management and employees;

 – the preparation, development and periodic review of the remu-
neration policy and performance targets of the Executive Man-
agement;

 – the periodic review of the implementation of remuneration 
policy;

 – the annual performance assessment of the members of the  
Executive Management;

 – succession planning and nomination for executive manage-
ment positions;

 – the annual review of the remuneration of each member of the 
Executive Management;

 – the selection of candidates for election or re-election to the 
Board of Directors and the preparation of corresponding pro-
posals for the attention of the Board of Directors;

 – the preparation and presentation of the Compensation Report 
for approval by the Board of Directors;

 – the periodic evaluation of appropriate insurance policies for 
the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Man-
agement with the involvement of external experts and the 
preparation of appropriate recommendations for the Board of 
Directors.

COMPENSATION PRINCIPLES FOR THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS, THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT AND 
EMPLOYEES

Valartis Group’s performance-related remuneration system 
aims to attract, promote and retain suitable employees in order 
to ensure the Group’s long-term economic success and sustaina-
ble competitiveness. It is based on the following principles:

 – The remuneration system provides incentives that promote a 
performance-, team- and risk-conscious culture as well as  
entrepreneurial thinking and acting and thus strengthens  
Valartis Group as a whole.

 – The total compensation generally includes a fixed and a varia-
ble component.

 – The variable remuneration component depends to an appro-
priate extent on individual performance, the result of the busi-
ness unit and the success of the Group as a whole.

 – Both directly measurable and non-measurable criteria serve as the 
basis of assessment for the variable remuneration component.

 – The variable component may to a large extent be remunerated 
in Valartis Group AG shares.

 – The payment of a significant portion of the variable remuner-
ation is dependent on the future success of Valartis Group. In 
doing so, the risks entered into must be adequately taken into 
account.

 – Severance payments for members of the Board of Directors 
and the Executive Management are excluded.

 
Valartis Group employs a total of 38.8 people full-time equiva-
lent at various locations (e.g. Geneva, Zurich, Frankfurt am Main, 
Stuttgart, Vienna, Luxembourg, St. Petersburg and Moscow) in 
the areas of financial services, real estate projects and participa-
tions. Due to the small size of the individual business activities, 
the Board of Directors and the Executive Management consider 
it unproductive and disproportionate to make benchmark com-
parisons when determining the remuneration of both the Execu-
tive Management and employees. Rather, the relevant bodies 
base their decisions on their own experience and discretion.
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Compensation of the Board of Directors
The compensation of the members of the Board of Directors con-
sists of a fixed compensation and, if applicable, a performance- 
related compensation (for details see here below). Due to the 
small size of Valartis, members of the Board of Directors may 
take on activities and projects with a sustainable benefit to 
 Valartis Group and may thus merit a performance-related com-
pensation.

Compensation of the Executive Management
The compensation of the members of the Executive Manage-
ment consists of a fixed compensation and, if applicable, a per-
formance-related compensation (for details see page 31):

 – The fixed compensation is determined by the task and func-
tional responsibility of the member of the Executive Manage-
ment.

 – The performance-related compensation is determined, if the 
Board of Directors decides to grant it, by the Group’s operating 
profit, the operating profit of the business unit and the individ-
ual contribution.

 – The agreement of performance-related remuneration compo-
nents forms an element of the annual target agreement pro-
cess, within the framework of which both individual and finan-
cial performance targets are defined. At the end of the period, 
the degree of target achievement is measured.

 – The interests of shareholders (return on equity, contribution to 
earnings from market movements, etc.) must be adequately 
considered when determining the quantitative objectives of 
the members of the Executive Management.

 – In addition to measurable parameters such as earnings  
improvement, project completion, etc., individual contributions 
also include non-financial target parameters (compliance, 
compliance with risk policy requirements, employee manage-
ment, and commitment to the Group as a whole).

 
Long Term Incentive Programme
Valartis Groupʼs Long Term Incentive Programme (“LTI”) is an in-
tegral component of the remuneration system which considers 
the Group’s success and individual performance as well as the 
objective of long-term employee loyalty and safeguarding share-
holder interests (see details on page 31 ff.).

DETERMINATION OF COMPENSATION

The Compensation Committee decides on the total remuneration 
of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management which 
the Board of Directors must submit annually to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting for approval. This task comprises the following two 
steps:

 – The Compensation Committee decides on the compensation 
of the members of the Board of Directors within the maxi-
mum total amount approved or to be approved by the General 
Meeting and submits corresponding proposals to the Board of 
Directors (see also table Competences and responsibilities, 
see page 29).

 – The Compensation Committee decides on the compensation of 
the Delegate of the Board of Directors and, after consulting the 
Delegate of the Board of Directors, the other members of the 
Executive Management within the maximum overall amount 
approved or to be approved by the General Meeting and sub-
mits corresponding proposals to the Board of Directors.

 – Since the Board of Directors has only three members and the 
Chairman simultaneously performs the duties of the Delegate 
of the Board of Directors, he is also a member of the Compen-
sation Committee. Decisions on the proposals and recommen-
dations of the Compensation Committee are taken jointly by 
the Board of Directors. The members of the Board of Directors 
or the Delegate of the Board of Directors concerned in each 
individual case shall abstain from voting on their case.

Board of Directors and Executive Management
Subject to approval by the General Meeting and in accordance 
with the company’s organisational regulations, the Board of  
Directors of Valartis Group determines the remuneration of the 
members of the Board of Directors and, after consultation with 
the Delegate of the Board of Directors, of the members of the 
Executive Management on the proposal of the Compensation 
Committee.

Employees
The Delegate of the Board of Directors proposes the amount of 
bonus per operating business unit, based on the total bonus 
amount decided by the Board of Directors, to the Compensation 
Committee which reviews the corresponding proposal. In con-
sultation with the Delegate of the Board of Directors, the man- 
ager responsible for the business unit determines the bonus pay-
ments to the employees of such a unit.

Approval of the remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors and the Executive Management
In accordance with the provisions of the Swiss Code of Best Prac-
tice for Corporate Governance and the Swiss law, the Board of Di-
rectors proposed to the 2023 Annual General Meeting of  
16 May 2023 the overall framework for the compensation of the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Management. The share-
holders approved the proposed total amounts with a large major-
ity. Valartis Group seeks dialogue with shareholders and share-
holder representatives in order to receive valuable feedback on 
its remuneration policy. This is regularly evaluated and appropri-
ately taken into account.

COMPENSATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed remunera-
tion for their work, the amount of which depends on their func-
tion within the Group. In 2023, a variable remuneration compo-
nent for members of the Board of Directors took place through 
the LTI Programme. The Compensation Committee decides on 
the remuneration of the members and the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors within the maximum total amount approved or to be 
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approved by the General Meeting and submits the corresponding 
proposals to the Board of Directors (see also table Competencies 
and responsibilities hereafter). The fees of the members of the 
Board of Directors are fixed for the period between two Annual 
General Meetings.

The fixed remuneration is to be paid out in cash whereas the var-
iable remuneration is paid either in cash or in Group shares (LTI 
Programme). Information on loans, shares and options held is dis-
closed on pages 32-33 of this Compensation Report.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors receives a board of direc-
tors’ fee plus, in his function as Delegate of the Board of Directors, 
an additional fee in the form of a salary. This salary is based on 
the performance of the operational management of the Group. 
The total remuneration corresponds to the status of the Chair- 
man of the Board of Directors and his active role as a delegate in 
implementing the strategy, managing and monitoring Group  
activities and exchanging information with shareholders. As 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, he coordinates the activities 
of the Board of Directors, works with the committees to coordi-
nate the tasks of the committees and ensures a sufficient flow of 
information between the individual members of the Board of Di-
rectors so that they can properly discharge their responsibilities. 
As Delegate, he is in charge of the implementation of the strate-
gy, the implementation of the structural and organisational 
guidelines set by the Board of Directors and bears a significant 
responsibility for the fulfilment of the Group’s objectives. In addi-
tion, the Chairman of the Board of Directors exerts influence on 
compensation issues, including performance evaluation. He 
chairs the Board of Directors, the General Meetings and plays an 
active role in representing the Group to key shareholders, inves-
tors, regulators, industry associations and other stakeholders.

The other members of the Board of Directors assume the areas of 
responsibility assigned to them in accordance with the organisa-
tional responsibility of the Board of Directors and serve on the 
committees of the Board of Directors in accordance with the  
organisational regulations.

Remuneration of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and 
Delegate of the Board of Directors
The Executive Management which had consisted of two mem-
bers since 2017 after the successful reorganisation of the previ-
ous years was further reduced as of the 1 April 2020. Besides be-
ing Chairman of the Board of Directors, Gustav Stenbolt assumes 
the additional function as Delegate of the Board of Directors 
since 1 March 2017 and is the sole member of the Executive 
Management since the 1 April 2020.

After the additional time burden for a Board of Directors Chair- 
man and Delegate of the Board of Directors increased signifi-
cantly due to the very large reduction in the number of employ-
ees in the group service organisation and included tasks which 
traditionally are not performed directly by these two functions, 
a consulting agreement was concluded between a Group com-
pany of Valartis Group and a Swiss stock corporation privately 
held by the Board of Directors’ Chairman at arm’s length terms. 
This agreement provides for the provision of national and inter-
national advisory and consulting services in the areas of the 
Group’s investment policy and strategy and asset management, 
in particular in the areas of short-term cash management, busi-
ness development and project development. This agreement is 
also disclosed under Note 34 of the consolidated financial state-
ments “Related parties and companies”. The contract was con-
cluded with Valartis International Ltd. because this company 
uses most of these advisory and consulting services.

 
Competencies and responsibilities

Decision Delegate of  
the BoD 1)

Compensation  
Committee

Board of  
Directors

AGM

Compensation of the members of the BoD1), the Chairman  
and the Delegate of the BoD 1) proposal approval

Fixed compensation of members of the Executive Committee proposal
review 

proposal approval

Long Term Incentive Programme for the Delegate of the Board of 
Directors proposal approval

Long Term Incentive Programme for Executive Committee mem-
bers (excluding Delegate of the BoD 1)) proposal

review 
proposal approval

Long Term Incentive Programme for the employees proposal
review 

proposal approval

Total remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Committee proposal approval

1)  Board of Directors
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Compensation of the Board of Directors 2023 and 2022 (audited)

2023 
in CHF

Gustav Stenbolt, 
Chairman & Delegate 

of the BoD 2)

Philipp 
LeibundGut, 

Vice Chairman

Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member

Diana Stenbolt, 
Member 3) 

Total

Compensation of the Board of Directors

Fees from Group companies (fixed)  130,000  80,000  60,000  37,500  307,500 

Long Term Incentive Programme  61,649  30,825  -  92,474 

Compensation of the Delegate of the Board of 
Directors  248,335  -  -  248,335 

Compensation of executive Board member  -  100,000  -  100,000 

Cash bonus  -  -  -  - 

Pension contributions 1)  65,733  38,735  4,847  109,315 

Other employer’s social security contributions 1)  16,212  7,869  1,505  906  26,492 

Fees for additional services (to related parties) 2)  161,550  -  -  161,550 

Other benefits  34,665  -  -  34,665 

Total  718,144  257,429  66,352  38,406  1,080,331 

1)  In addition to employer contributions, Valartis Group also pays the employee 
contributions on the fees of the Board of Directors. Pension contributions only 
include AHV contributions. For the remuneration of the Delegate of the Board 
of Directors, only the employer’s contributions are included (the employee’s 
contributions are deducted from the employee’s gross salary); the pension 
contributions include not only the AHV contributions but also the BVG 
contributions.

2)  The remuneration of the Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors for 
the financial year 2023 is composed as follows: CHF 130,000 as fee as 

Chairman of the Board of Directors (net) + CHF 248,335 as salary as Delegate of 
the Board of Directors (gross)+ lump-sum expenses CHF 34,665 + CHF 61,649 as 
variable remuneration (LTI) + CHF 150,000 as compensation for a consulting 
agreement (net) with a Swiss public limited company privately held by the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors = Total CHF 624,649 as total remuneration, 
plus social security contributions and VAT. 
 
3)  Diana Stenbolt was elected by the General Shareholder’s Meeting on 16 May 

2023 as member of the Board of Directors.

2022 
in CHF

Gustav Stenbolt, 
Chairman & Delegate 

of the BoD 2)

Philipp 
LeibundGut, 

Vice Chairman

Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member

Total

Compensation of the Board of Directors

Fees from Group companies (fixed)  130,000  80,000  60,000  270,000 

Long Term Incentive Programme  164,145  82,072  -  246,217 

Compensation of the Delegate of the Board of Directors  185,335  -  -  185,335 

Compensation of executive Board member  -  100,000  -  100,000 

Cash bonus  25,125  15,419  -  40,544 

Pension contributions 1)  64,520  42,428  4,847  111,795 

Other employer’s social security contributions 1)  24,687  11,092  1,521  37,300 

Fees for additional services (to related parties) 2)  242,325  -  -  242,325 

Other benefits  40,205  -  -  40,205 

Total  876,342  331,011  66,368  1,273,721 

1)  In addition to employer contributions, Valartis Group also pays the employee 
contributions on the fees of the Board of Directors. Pension contributions only 
include AHV contributions. For the remuneration of the Delegate of the Board 
of Directors, only the employer’s contributions are included (the employee’s 
contributions are deducted from the employee’s gross salary); the pension 
contributions include not only the AHV contributions but also the BVG 
contributions.

2)  The remuneration of the Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors for 
the financial year 2022 is composed as follows: CHF 130,000 as fee as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors (net) + CHF 185,335 as salary as Delegate 
of the Board of Directors (gross)+ lump-sum expenses CHF 40,205 + CHF 
189,270 as variable remuneration (Cash and LTI) + CHF 225,000 as compensa-
tion for a consulting agreement (net) with a Swiss public limited company 
privately held by the Chairman of the Board of Directors = Total CHF 769,810 
as total remuneration, plus social security contributions and VAT.
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COMPENSATION OF THE EXECUTIVE 
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration policy for the Executive Management is issued 
by the Board of Directors based on Art. 3.9 (b) of the Organisa-
tional Regulations of Valartis Group AG dated 3 April 2017. The 
requirements contained therein follow the guidelines of the SIX 
Swiss Exchange regarding information on Corporate Governance 
(DCG). The Board of Directors of Valartis Group AG approves the 
remuneration of the Delegate of the Board of Directors and, af-
ter consulting the Delegate of the Board of Directors, the remu-
neration of the other members of the Executive Management 
within the framework of the maximum total amount approved 
or to be approved by the General Meeting.

Structure of the remuneration system for the Executive 
Management
The structure of the remuneration system for the Executive 
Management is based on the combining business success with  
individual performance components which are also listed in the 
chapter Determination of compensation on page 28.

The remuneration is determined according to the following criteria:
 – The compensation of the members of the Executive Manage-

ment consists of a fixed compensation and, if applicable, a per-
formance-related compensation. 

 – The fixed compensation is determined by the task and func-
tional responsibility of the individual member. 

 – The performance-related compensation is determined on the 
basis of the following quantitative and qualitative components: 

  – operating net income;  
– operating profit of the business unit; 
– individual contribution.

Weighting
When determining the individual components, the interests of 
the shareholders (return on equity, contribution to earnings 
from market movements, etc.) are taken into account in an  
appropriate manner. In addition to measurable parameters such 
as changes in earnings or the degree to which project objectives 
are achieved, individual contributions also include qualitative 
factors such as compliance, compliance with risk policy require-
ments, employee management and commitment to the Group 
as a whole (non-exhaustive list).

Due to the dependency on the course of business and the indi-
vidual performance contributions, the total remuneration of a 
member of the Executive Management may vary from year to 
year. The ratio between the fixed and variable compensation 
components changes accordingly.

Information on loans, shares and option holdings can be found in 
the Note 35 of the Consolidated financial statements and on 
page 32-33 of this Compensation Report.

COMPENSATION OF EMPLOYEES

The remuneration model described for the Executive Manage-
ment also applies to all employees in Switzerland. Based on the 
total bonus amount decided by the Board of Directors, the Dele-
gate of the Board of Directors determines the total bonus pay-
ment for each operating business unit and submits a correspond-
ing proposal to the Compensation Committee (see also page 28). 
In consultation with the Delegate of the Board of Directors, the 
manager responsible for the respective unit determines the bo-
nus payments to the employees working in such a unit.

Further information on salaries, bonuses, social benefits, employ-
ee benefits and equity compensation can be found in the Notes 5, 
24 and 33 to the Consolidated financial statements.

LONG TERM INCENTIVE  
PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION

In 2023, the Group continued to deploy its Long Term Incentive 
Program (“LTI”) that initially started in 2010 and covers members 
of the Board of Directors, Executive Management and certain em-
ployees based on criteria presented on page 28 ff. 

For each participant, the LTI package consists of grant shares 
(“Award Shares”) in combination with a sale of shares at prefer-
ential conditions (“Purchase Shares”) financed by way of a loan 
granted by the Valartis Group. In some instances, participants 
have the possibility to only acquire shares at preferential condi-
tions. In that case, Valartis Group financing is provided only for 
half of the Purchase Shares. Preferential conditions mean a  
discount of 16 per cent compared to the relevant market closing 
price on the previous day of shares allocation. The shares are  
restricted for a period of 3 years.

In addition, LTI participants are remitted with put options in or-
der to cover the loan value in case they would need to sell their 
shares to reimburse the financing provided by the Group. The 
strike price has been set at 42 per cent of the relevant market 
closing price on the previous day of shares allocation.

Ownership of shares will only vest to the eligible participant if 
their employment or mandate contract with Valartis Group, or a 
subsidiary controlled by Valartis Group has not been terminated. 
In case they have left the Group: 

 – as a good leaver, both Award and Purchase Shares remain vest-
ed to the eligible participant

 – as a medium leaver, Award Shares remain vested to the eligible 
participant. The Group has the right, but not the obligation to 
acquire any Purchase Shares at the lower of original purchase 
price and the fair market value.

 – as a bad leaver, the Group has the right, but not the obligation 
to acquire any Award and Purchase Shares at the lower of orig-
inal purchase price and the fair market value.

 
The Long Term Incentive Agreement governs conditions and the 
definition of good, medium and bad leaver.
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OVERVIEW: LOANS, SHARES AND OPTIONS HELD BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT (AUDITED)

The table below shows the total loans held by the Board of Direc-
tors and the Executive Management, as well as all shares and op-

tions listed as of 31 December 2023 with comparative figures for 
the previous year:

Loans, shares and options held by the members of the Board of Directors 2023 and 2022

2023 
in CHF

Gustav Stenbolt, 
Chairman & 

Delegate of the 
BoD 

Philipp LeibundGut, 
Vice Chairman

Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member 

Diana Stenbolt, 
Member 7) 

Total

Shareholdings held by and Loans/Credits to Directors

Number of shares held 1)  1,901,395  344,472  15,115  2,750  2,263,732 

Number of shares (entitlements) 2)  11,000  5,500  700  700  17,900 

Value of shares (entitlements) in CHF 2)  123,298  61,649  7,846  7,846  200,639 

Loans and credits in CHF 3)  384,033  150,056  32,118  21,251  587,458 

Loans and credits to related parties in CHF 4)  3,625,963  -  -  -  3,625,963 

Number of put options (entitlements) 5) 6)  11,000  5,500  700  700  17,900 

Value of put options (entitlements) in CHF  7,260  3,630  462  462  11,814 

Number of put options (balance)  71,000  24,000  6,300  2,750  104,050 

1)  Includes entitled Valartis Group shares during 2023
2)  Entitled shares refer to all shares of Valartis Group all shares granted to partici-

pants of the Long Term Incentive Programme in 2023.
3)  Refer to loan granted to finance (“Purchase Shares”) within the Long Term 

Incentive Programme in from 2020 to 2023
4)  Tidesea Ltd, a Swiss stock corporation privately held by the Chairman of the 

Board of Directors, owns shares in MCG Holding AG (majority shareholder of  
Valartis Group AG) partially financed by a loan from Valartis Group. This loan 
was granted in line with market conditions.

5)  Put options have been granted to each LTI participant for all Award and 
Purchase Shares in order to cover the loan value at maturity in case the market 
value of the shares would not be sufficient to reimburse the financing loan.

6)  1:1 ratio with Group’s shares
7)  Diana Stenbolt was elected by the General Shareholder’s Meeting on 16 May 

2023 as member of the Board of Directors.

In case, the Group would repurchase any restricted shares, it will 
reallocate them as well as the loan portion to one or more partic-

ipants or buy them for its account to be reissued in a future pro-
gramme.
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2022 
in CHF

Gustav Stenbolt, 
Chairman & Delegate 

of the BoD 

Philipp LeibundGut, 
Vice Chairman

Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member 

Total

Shareholdings held by and Loans/Credits to Directors

Number of shares held 1)  1,899,760  352,112  14,415  2,266,287 

Number of shares (entitlements) 2)  23,000  11,500  1,500  36,000 

Value of shares (entitlements) in CHF 2)  328,292  164,146  21,410  513,848 

Loans and credits in CHF 3)  317,569  158,785  27,776  504,130 

Loans and credits to related parties in CHF 4)  2,065,680  -  -  2,065,680 

Number of put options (entitlements) 5) 6)  23,000  11,500  1,500  36,000 

Value of put options (entitlements) in CHF  8,970  4,485  585  14,040 

Number of put options (balance)  60,000  30,000  5,600  95,600 

1)  Includes entitled Valartis Group shares during 2022
2)  Entitled shares refer to all shares of Valartis Group all shares granted to 

participants of the Long Term Incentive Programme in 2022.
3)  Refer to loan granted to finance (“Purchase Shares”) within the Long Term 

Incentive Programme in 2020, 2021 and 2022.
4)  Tidesea Ltd, a Swiss stock corporation privately held by the Chairman of the 

Board of Directors, owns shares in MCG Holding AG (majority shareholder of 
Valartis Group AG) partially financed by a loan from Valartis Group. This loan 
was granted in line with market conditions.

5)  Put options have been granted to each LTI participant for all Award and 
Purchase Shares in order to cover the loan value at maturity in case the market 
value of the shares would not be sufficient to reimburse the financing loan.

6)  1:1 ratio with Group’s shares

Loans, shares and options held by the members  
of the Executive Management 2023 and 2022
Loans, shares and options held by Gustav Stenbolt as Delegate of 
the Board of Directors are shown above under Loans, shares and  
options held by the members of the Board of Directors 2023 and 
2022.
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AUDITORʼS REPORT ON THE COMPENSATION REPORT

  

 
 

 

 
BDO Ltd, a limited company under Swiss law, incorporated in Zurich, forms part of the international BDO Network of independent member firms. 

 
 

  

 

 

Phone +41 22 322 24 24 
www.bdo.ch 
geneve@bdo.ch 

BDO Ltd 
Rte de Meyrin 123 
P.O. Box 150 
1215 Geneva 15 

 

STATUTORY AUDITOR'S REPORT  

To the general meeting of Valartis Group AG, Fribourg 

Report on the Audit of the compensation Report according to Art. 734a-734f CO 

Opinion 

We have audited the compensation report of Valartis Group AG (the Company) for the year ended 
31 December 2023. The audit was limited to the information pursuant to Art. 734a–734f of the Swiss 
Code of Obligations (CO) in the tables marked "audited" on page 30 and pages 32-33 of the 
compensation report. 

In our opinion, the information pursuant to Art. 734a–734f CO in the accompanying compensation 
report complies with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our 
responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibility for the Audit of the Compensation Report” section of our report. We are independent 
of the Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss 
audit profession, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the tables marked “audited” in the 
compensation report, the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements and 
our auditor's reports theron.  

Our opinion on the compensation report does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the compensation report, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the audited financial information in the compensation report or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact.we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Compensation Report 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of a compensation report in accordance with 
the provisions of Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control 
as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of a compensation report 
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. It is also responsible for 
designing the remuneration system and defining individual remuneration packages. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Compensation Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the information pursuant to 
Art. 734a–734f CO is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this compensation report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the compensation report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors and its relevant committee regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors and its relevant committee with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

Geneva, 28 March 2024  

BDO Ltd 

Nigel Le Masurier 

Auditor in Charge 
Licensed audit expert 

Olivier Griot 

 
Licensed audit expert 
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in CHF 1,000 Note 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Income from management services 1  3,268 5,169

Income from investment property 2  3,661 4,771

Share of results of associated companies 3  3,556 10,273

Other income 4  267 380

Total operating income  10,752 20,593

Personnel expenses 5  -4,643 -6,176

General expenses 6  -3,440 -3,562

Administrative expenses  -8,083 -9,738

Earnings before depreciation, valuation adjustments, provisions,  
interest and taxes  2,669 10,855

Depreciation/amortisation of property, plant  
and equipment and intangible assets 7  -436 -641

Valuation adjustments, provisions and losses 8  -198 -2,802

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  2,035 7,412

Financial income 9  3,471 4,150

Financial expenses 9  -11,999 -5,046

Net result from continued operations before taxes  -6,493 6,516

Income taxes 10  2 298

Net result from continued operations  -6,491 6,814

Net result from discontinued operations, after taxes 40  - 435

Net result  -6,491 7,249

Net (loss)/gain attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG  -3,568 7,185

Net (loss)/gain attributable to non-controlling interests  -2,923 64

in CHF

Earnings per share

Undiluted earnings attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG -1.08 1.82

Diluted earnings attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG -1.08 1.82

Earnings per share – continued operations

Undiluted earnings attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG -1.08 1.71

Diluted earnings attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG -1.08 1.71

Earnings per share – discontinued operations

Undiluted earnings attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG 0.00 0.11

Diluted earnings attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG 0.00 0.11

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022 
Restated

Net result in the income statement  -6,491  7,249 

Other comprehensive income which will be reclassified to the income statement

Foreign exchange translation differences  -4,706  -154 

Cost of hedging 1)  -446  452 

Other comprehensive income which will be reclassified to the income statement  -5,152  298 

Other comprehensive income which will not be reclassified to the income statement

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through OCI 2)  -1,005  -335 

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans 3)  -513  860 

Associated companies – attributable comprehensive income  -  - 

Other comprehensive income which will not be reclassified to the income statement  -1,518  525 

Total other comprehensive income, after tax  -6,670  823 

Total comprehensive income  -13,161  8,072 

Allocation of total comprehensive income

attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG  -8,476  7,747 

attributable to non-controlling interests  -4,685  325 

1)  The tax effect on the cost of hedging is CHF 0 (previous year: tax effect CHF 0).
2)  The tax effect on change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through 

OCI is CHF 0 (previous year: tax effect CHF 0).
3)  The tax effect on the remeasurement for defined benefit pension plans is CHF 

0 (previous year: tax effect CHF 0).

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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Assets

in CHF 1,000 Note 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 
Restated

01.01.2022 
Restated

Cash and cash equivalents  2,600  8,275  7,493 

Trading portfolio assets 11  11,787  8,614  14,267 

Derivative financial instruments 12  5,278  4,243  6,217 

Other financial assets at fair value 13  18,499  22,417  19,903 

Due from third parties 14  1,396  1,039  2,518 

Accrued and deferred assets  634  624  652 

Total current assets  40,194  45,212  51,050 

Financial assets  
at fair value through OCI 15  7,090  29,766  30,102 

Property, plant, equipment and leases 16  1,274  1,262  1,301 

Investment property 17  27,629  36,719  36,195 

Goodwill 18  1,281  1,731  1,667 

Associated companies 19  39,785  38,379  33,186 

Non-current receivables 20  20,559  52,289  20,498 

Total non-current assets  97,618  160,146  122,949 

Total current and non-current assets  137,812  205,358  173,999 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 40  -  -  - 

Total assets  137,812  205,358  173,999 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity

in CHF 1,000 Note 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 
Restated

01.01.2022 
Restated

Liabilities

Accounts payable  913 482 619

Current financial liabilities 21  15,606 15,956 10,489

Derivative financial instruments 12  106  27  13 

Current tax liabilities  155 147 622

Other current liabilities 22  3,525 4,021 4,277

Current provisions 25  - - 51

Total current liabilities  20,305 20,633 16,071

Non-current financial liabilities 23  24,469 57,118 38,220

Liabilities from defined benefit pension plans 24  530 144 1,108

Deferred tax liabilities 10  235 356 658

Non-current provisions 25  - 3 31

Total non-current liabilities  25,234 57,621 40,017

Total liabilities  45,539 78,254 56,088

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 26  3,126 4,299 4,299

Treasury shares 26  -5,455 -4,542 -5,584

Reserves  89,425 103,448 95,732

Cumulated income from financial assets at fair value through OCI  2,272 12,852 13,187

Foreign exchange translation differences  -9,127 -6,183 -5,768

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans 24  1,397 1,910 1,050

Shareholders’ equity of the shareholders of Valartis Group AG  81,638 111,784 102,916

Non-controlling interests  10,635 15,320 14,995

Total shareholders’ equity (including non-controlling interests)  92,273 127,104 117,911

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  137,812 205,358 173,999
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2022 
in CHF 1,000 
 

Share capital 
 
 

Treasury shares 
 
 

Capital reserves 
 
 

Retained earnings 
 
 

Net unrealised  
gains/losses on financial  

assets at fair value  
through OCI

Foreign  
exchange  

translation 
difference

Remeasurement  
defined benefit 

pension plans

Total equity 
shareholders  

of Valartis 
Group AG

Non-controlling 
interests 

Foreign exchange 
effect on non-con-

trolling interests

Total  
non-controlling  

interests 

Total 
 shareholders’  

equity 

Opening balance at 1 January 2022 as previously reported  4,299  -5,584  -5,804  100,905  13,187  -5,768  1,050  102,285  18,279  -3,284  14,995  117,280 

Restatement opening balance  631  631  -  631 

Restated opening balance at 1 January 2022  4,299  -5,584  -5,804  101,536  13,187  -5,768  1,050  102,916  18,279  -3,284  14,995  117,911 

Gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value  
through OCI  -  -  -  -  -335  -  -  -335  -  -  -335 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -  -  -  -  -  -415  -  -415  -  261  261  -154 

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans  -  -  -  -  -  -  860  860  -  -  -  860 

Cost of hedging  -  -  -  452  -  -  -  452  -  -  -  452 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  452  -335  -415  860  562  -  261  261  823 

Net result  -  -  -  7,185  -  -  -  7,185  64  -  64  7,249 

Comprehensive income  -  -  -  7,637  -335  -415  860  7,747  64  261  325  8,072 

Purchase of treasury shares  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposal of treasury shares 1)  -  1,042  207  -128  -  -  1,121  -  -  1,121 

Share capital reduction  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other movements  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Ownership-related changes  -  1,042  207  -128  -  -  -  1,121  -  -  -  1,121 

Total shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2022  4,299  -4,542  -5,597  109,045  12,852  -6,183  1,910  111,784  18,343  -3,023  15,320  127,104 

2023  
in CHF 1,000

Opening balance at 1 January 2023  4,299  -4,542  -5,597  109,045  12,852  -6,183  1,910  111,784  18,343  -3,023  15,320  127,104 

Gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value  
through OCI  -  -  -  9,567  -10,572  -  -  -1,005  -  -  -1,005 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -  -  -  -  -  -2,944  -  -2,944  -  -1,762  -1,762  -4,706 

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans  -  -  -  -  -  -  -513  -513  -  -  -  -513 

Cost of hedging  -  -  -  -446  -  -  -  -446  -  -  -  -446 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  9,121  -10,572  -2,944  -513  -4,908  -  -1,762  -1,762  -6,670 

Net result  -  -  -  -3,568  -  -  -  -3,568  -2,923  -  -2,923  -6,491 

Comprehensive income  -  -  -  5,553  -10,572  -2,944  -513  -8,476  -2,923  -1,762  -4,685  -13,161 

Purchase of treasury shares  -  -22,096  -  -  -  -  -22,096  -  -  -  -22,096 

Disposal of treasury shares 1)  -  503  -  -77  -  -  426  -  -  -  426 

Share capital reduction  -1,173  20,680  -  -19,507  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other movements  -  -  -  8  -8  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Ownership-related changes  -1,173  -913  -  -19,576  -8  -  -  -21,670  -  -  -  -21,670 

Total shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2023  3,126  -5,455  -5,597  95,022  2,272  -9,127  1,397  81,638  15,420  -4,785  10,635  92,273 

1)  Relates to the Long Term Incentive Programme, see details in Note 33.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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2022 
in CHF 1,000 
 

Share capital 
 
 

Treasury shares 
 
 

Capital reserves 
 
 

Retained earnings 
 
 

Net unrealised  
gains/losses on financial  

assets at fair value  
through OCI

Foreign  
exchange  

translation 
difference

Remeasurement  
defined benefit 

pension plans

Total equity 
shareholders  

of Valartis 
Group AG

Non-controlling 
interests 

Foreign exchange 
effect on non-con-

trolling interests

Total  
non-controlling  

interests 

Total 
 shareholders’  

equity 

Opening balance at 1 January 2022 as previously reported  4,299  -5,584  -5,804  100,905  13,187  -5,768  1,050  102,285  18,279  -3,284  14,995  117,280 

Restatement opening balance  631  631  -  631 

Restated opening balance at 1 January 2022  4,299  -5,584  -5,804  101,536  13,187  -5,768  1,050  102,916  18,279  -3,284  14,995  117,911 

Gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value  
through OCI  -  -  -  -  -335  -  -  -335  -  -  -335 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -  -  -  -  -  -415  -  -415  -  261  261  -154 

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans  -  -  -  -  -  -  860  860  -  -  -  860 

Cost of hedging  -  -  -  452  -  -  -  452  -  -  -  452 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  452  -335  -415  860  562  -  261  261  823 

Net result  -  -  -  7,185  -  -  -  7,185  64  -  64  7,249 

Comprehensive income  -  -  -  7,637  -335  -415  860  7,747  64  261  325  8,072 

Purchase of treasury shares  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposal of treasury shares 1)  -  1,042  207  -128  -  -  1,121  -  -  1,121 

Share capital reduction  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other movements  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Ownership-related changes  -  1,042  207  -128  -  -  -  1,121  -  -  -  1,121 

Total shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2022  4,299  -4,542  -5,597  109,045  12,852  -6,183  1,910  111,784  18,343  -3,023  15,320  127,104 

2023  
in CHF 1,000

Opening balance at 1 January 2023  4,299  -4,542  -5,597  109,045  12,852  -6,183  1,910  111,784  18,343  -3,023  15,320  127,104 

Gains/(losses) from financial assets at fair value  
through OCI  -  -  -  9,567  -10,572  -  -  -1,005  -  -  -1,005 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -  -  -  -  -  -2,944  -  -2,944  -  -1,762  -1,762  -4,706 

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans  -  -  -  -  -  -  -513  -513  -  -  -  -513 

Cost of hedging  -  -  -  -446  -  -  -  -446  -  -  -  -446 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  9,121  -10,572  -2,944  -513  -4,908  -  -1,762  -1,762  -6,670 

Net result  -  -  -  -3,568  -  -  -  -3,568  -2,923  -  -2,923  -6,491 

Comprehensive income  -  -  -  5,553  -10,572  -2,944  -513  -8,476  -2,923  -1,762  -4,685  -13,161 

Purchase of treasury shares  -  -22,096  -  -  -  -  -22,096  -  -  -  -22,096 

Disposal of treasury shares 1)  -  503  -  -77  -  -  426  -  -  -  426 

Share capital reduction  -1,173  20,680  -  -19,507  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other movements  -  -  -  8  -8  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Ownership-related changes  -1,173  -913  -  -19,576  -8  -  -  -21,670  -  -  -  -21,670 

Total shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2023  3,126  -5,455  -5,597  95,022  2,272  -9,127  1,397  81,638  15,420  -4,785  10,635  92,273 

1)  Relates to the Long Term Incentive Programme, see details in Note 33.
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in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 
Restated

Net result after taxes from continued operations  -6,491  6,814 

Net result after taxes from discontinued operations  -  435 

Net result  -6,491  7,249 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  436  641 

Value adjustment on investment property  507  1,882 

Share of results of associated companies  -3,556  -10,273 

Change in valuation adjustments and provisions  -309  920 

Finance result, net  8,528  896 

Change in taxes  -4  -296 

Other non-cash income and expenses  2,337  -885 

Operating cash flow before changes in the working capital and taxes  1,448  134 

Due from third parties  521  1,812 

Accrued and deferred assets  -23  27 

Accounts payables  9  -122 

Other current liabilities  -174  -3,883 

Taxes paid  -17  -67 

Cash flow from/(used in) operating activities from continued operations  1,764  -2,099 

Cash flow from/(used in) operating activities from discontinued operations  -  - 

Cash flow from/(used in) operating activities  1,764  -2,099 

Change in trading portfolio assets  153  354 

(Increase)/decrease other financial assets at fair value  226  168 

Realised and unrealised result on forward contracts  -2,438  2,188 

Other financial assets at fair value through OCI  989  - 

Non-current receivables  27,942  -32,307 

Interest and dividends received  679  1,229 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets  -1,315  -922 

Sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets  285  - 

Acquisition of associated companies  -2,138  -1,430 

Dividend income from associated companies  3,494  6,192 

Cash flow from/(used in) investment activities  27,877  -24,528 

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 
Restated

Proceeds from/(repayments of) current financial liabilities  652  -2,682 

Proceeds from/(repayments of) non-current financial liabilities  -31,143  30,964 

Interest paid  -1,004  -1,780 

Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company  -  - 

Change in treasury shares  -1,194  574 

Change in non-controlling interests  -2,428  333 

Cash flow used in financing activities  -35,117  27,409 

Effect of foreign exchange translation differences on cash  
and cash equivalents (including non-controlling interests)  -199  - 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  -5,675  782 

Position at 1 January  8,275  7,493 

Position at 31 December  2,600  8,275 

Cash  -  - 

Due from banks on demand  2,600  8,275 

Total cash and cash equivalents  2,600  8,275 





VALARTIS GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023   |   NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   |   47

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED   
  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49 Description of Business
49 Accounting Principles
49 Changes to Accounting Policies
52 Approval of the consolidated financial statements
52 Major Accounting Principles
58 Estimates, assumptions and exercise of discretion by  
 Management

61  NOTES ON RISK MANAGEMENT

61 Structure of Risk Management
61 Market risk
62 Liquidity risk
62 Credit risk
64 Operational risks

65  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
  INCOME STATEMENT

65 1. Income from management services
65 2. Income from investment property
65 3. Share of results of associated companies
66 4. Other income
66 5. Personnel expenses
66 6. General expenses
66 7. Depreciation
67 8. Value adjustments, provisions and losses
67 9. Financial result
68 10. Taxes

70  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
  BALANCE SHEET

70 11. Trading portfolio assets
70 12. Derivative financial instruments
70 13. Other financial assets at fair value
71 14. Due from third parties and associated companies
71 15. Financial assets at fair value through OCI
72 16. Property, plant, equipment and leases
73 17. Investment property
74 18. Goodwill
76 19. Associated companies and joint arrangements
79 20. Non-current receivables
79 21. Current financial liabilities
79 22. Other current liabilities
80 23. Non-current financial liabilities
81 24. Defined benefit obligations
84 25. Provisions
84 26. Share capital and treasury shares

86  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

86 27. Earnings per share
86 28. Shareholder structure
87 29.  Consolidated Statement of Financial Positions by  

Currency
89 30.  Maturity structure of assets, liabilities and  

off-balance-sheet items
91 31. Fair value of financial instruments
94 32. Information on hedging instruments
95 33. Long Term Incentive Programme
96 34. Related parties and companies
97 35.  Loans and shareholdings by Members of the  

Board of Directors and Executive Management
98 36. Business Segments
99 37. Group companies
100 38. Acquisition of subsidiaries
101 39.  Acquisition of associated companies and joint 

arrangements
102 40. Sale transactions and discontinued operations
103 41.  Subsidiaries with Material Non-Controlling  

Interests
105 42. Structured entities
105 43.  Assets pledged or assigned to secure own liabilities  

and assets under reservation of ownership
105 44.  Events after the balance sheet date
107 Auditor’s report on the consolidated Financial  
 Statements





VALARTIS GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023   |   NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   |   49

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Valartis Group’s activities include financial services, real estate 
project management and equity investments. In financial services, 
Valartis Group concentrates on the comprehensive management 
of niche funds (investment satellites). In addition, Valartis Group 
provides corporate finance advisory services for listed and unlisted 
medium-sized companies. On the real estate side, Valartis Group 
combines the management of profitable commercial and resi-
dential properties with investments in promising development 
projects. In the case of participations, the focus is on equity par-
ticipations as a shareholder. Valartis Group currently has offices in 
Switzerland (Fribourg, Geneva and Zurich), Luxembourg, Frankfurt 
am Main, Stuttgart, Vienna, St. Petersburg and Moscow with 38.8 
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 December 2023). Valar-
tis Group AG, headquartered in Fribourg, Canton  Fribourg, Swit-
zerland, is the parent company of the Group and its registered 
shares are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. Geographically, the 
Group operates in Switzerland, Europe and Russia.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements of Valartis Group have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) and comply with the provisions of the listing 
regulations of the Swiss Stock Exchange SIX Swiss  Exchange.

Consolidation is based on the individual financial statements of 
the Group companies prepared in accordance with uniform  
accounting principles. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Swiss francs (CHF).

CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Implemented International Financial Reporting Standards and 
interpretations
 
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 – Disclosure 
of Accounting Policies
The adoption of the amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice State-
ment 2 have resulted in a streamlining of the narrative disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements of Valartis Group.

Other new standards and interpretations
The following new and revised standards and interpretations had 
no material impact on the financial statements of Valartis Group 
at the time of their first application or were of no significance to it:

 – Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to IAS 8
 – Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a 

Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12
 – International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amend-

ments to IAS 12
 – IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and Amendments to IFRS 17

Standards and interpretations not yet implemented
Various new and revised IFRS and interpretations should be ap-
plied for financial years beginning after 1 January 2024. Valartis 
Group has not availed itself of the possibility of early application of 
these revised standards and interpretations (see following) and 
based on analyses to date, it does not expect any material overall 
effects of these provisions.

Lack of Exchangeability
Lack of Exchangeability amends IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in 
Foreign Exchange Rates to require an entity to apply a consistent 
approach to assessing whether a currency is exchangeable into 
another currency and, when it is not, to determining the exchange 
rate to use and the disclosures to provide.

Other not yet implemented standards and interpretations
 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Amend-

ment to IAS 1
 – Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback Amendment to IFRS 16
 – Non-current Liabilities with Covenants Amendments to IAS 1

Restatements – Correction of errors

A subsequent review of the Annual Financial Statements 2022 
has highlighted two areas of material deviation compared to the 
previously published financial statements for year ended 31 De-
cember 2022. Consequently, Valartis Group is required to restate 
the comparative figures presented in these financial statements. 

The identified areas of material deviation relate to hedge ac-
counting and presentation of the consolidated cash flow state-
ment. The correction of errors was performed in accordance with 
IAS 8 and had no impact on the Earnings per share.

Hedge accounting
For hedging purposes, since December 2020, Valartis Group has 
entered into a derivative contract, which is a combination of two 
American type options agreements linked together. In the pub-
lished financial statement 2022, the Group assumed a zero vola-
tility in respect to this contract and valued the fair derivative as 
being its sole intrinsic value.

The reassessment of this contract established that it should be 
treated as a synthetic forward with recognition on balance sheet 
of both Spot element and Forward element. The latter do not 
qualify as hedging instruments and related changes in fair value, 
which had been recognised in other comprehensive income will 
be subsequently reclassified to the income statement when the 
hedge relation expires. In the Fair value hierarchy, the Derivative 
Contract qualifies as level 2 instrument due to the fact that most 
significant inputs are market observable and 2022 figures have 
been restated accordingly in the Note 31 – Fair Value of Financial 
Instruments. In addition, comparative figures of all notes provid-
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ing a breakdown of Derivative financial instruments have been 
restated accordingly. 

The amount related to the Forward element of the synthetic for-
ward back to periods before 1 January 2022 has been corrected in 
the opening balance sheet of the 2022 Annual financial state-
ments.

Consolidated Cash flow Statement
The cash flow from financing activities section in the Consolidat-
ed Cash Flow Statement of the previously published financial 
statements for year ended 31 December 2022 included a move-
ments of CHF 11.47 million from the caption “proceeds from/ 
(repayment of) non-current financial liabilities” to the caption 
“proceeds from/(repayment of) current financial liabilities” in re-
lation to the classification of non-current financial liability to a 
current financial liability without use of cash.

As a correction, this transaction has been reversed in the Consol-
idated Cash Flow Statement of the prior period comparative fig-
ures, i.e. for Financial year 2022, without impact on the total cash 
flow used in financing activities.

The following table shows the Impact of the corrections on the 
main components of the financial statements. In addition, the 
comparative figures have also been restated in the correspond-
ing notes.
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in CHF 1,000 Amounts reported 
before correction

 correction Amounts reported  
after correction

Opening balance sheet 01.01.2022

Derivative financial instruments  5,586  631  6,217 

Total current assets  50,419  631  51,050 

Total assets  173,368  631  173,999 

Reserves  95,101  631  95,732 

Shareholders’ equity of the shareholders of Valartis Group AG  102,285  631  102,916 

Total shareholders’ equity (including non-controlling interests)  117,280  631  117,911 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  173,368  631  173,999 

Closing balance sheet 31.12.2022

Derivative financial instruments  3,180  1,063  4,243 

Total current assets  44,149  1,063  45,212 

Total assets  204,295  1,063  205,358 

Reserves  102,365  1,083  103,448 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -6,163  -20  -6,183 

Shareholders’ equity of the shareholders of Valartis Group AG  110,721  1,063  111,784 

Total shareholders’ equity (including non-controlling interests)  126,041  1,063  127,104 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  204,295  1,063  205,358 

Other comprehensive income 1.1–31.12.2022

Foreign exchange translation differences  -134  -20  -154 

Cost of hedging  -  452  452 

Other comprehensive income which will be reclassified to the income 
statement  -134  432  298 

Total other comprehensive income, after tax  391  432  823 

Total comprehensive income  7,640  432  8,072 

of which, attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG  7,315  432  7,747 

Cash flow 1.1–31.12.2022

Proceeds from/(repayments of) current financial liabilities  8,783  -11,465  -2,682 

Proceeds from/(repayments of) non-current financial liabilities  19,499  11,465  30,964 

Cash flow used in financing activities  27,409  -  27,409 
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APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The 2023 consolidated financial statements were approved by 
the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024. The consolidated finan-
cial statements are subject to the approval of the Shareholders 
Meeting on 14 May 2024.

 
MAJOR ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Consolidation principles
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts of 
Valartis Group AG, Fribourg, canton of Fribourg, Switzerland, and 
its subsidiaries as of 31 December 2023. A controlling relation-
ship is deemed to exist if the following conditions are met cumu-
latively: Valartis Group has power over the other company; it is 
exposed to variable returns from its involvement with the other 
company; and it has the ability to affect the amount of those  
returns through its control over the other company.

If the Group does not hold a majority of the voting rights of an 
investee, it takes into account all the relevant facts and circum-
stances in determining whether control exists. These include, 
among others, contractual arrangements with other parties 
holding voting rights or rights arising from other contractual  
arrangements. If the facts and circumstances indicate a change 
in one or more of the three control elements, the Group will reas-
sess whether it has control over an investee.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins at the date the Group  
obtains control over that subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
losses control over a subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income, and 
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the  
reporting period are included on the balance sheet and in the 
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group 
obtains control of the subsidiary until the date the Group ceases 
to control the subsidiary. If Valartis Group loses control over a 
company, any retained interest is recognised as an investment in 
an associate or as a financial instrument under IFRS 9.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Group companies over which Valartis Group can exercise a signif-
icant influence are accounted for using the equity method and 
are recorded under Associated companies. As a rule, influence is 
considered significant if the Group holds between 20 per cent 
and 50 per cent of the voting rights.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that 
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net as-
sets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed 
sharing of control of an arrangement which exists only when  
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous con-
sent of the parties sharing control. The Group’s investments in 

joint ventures are accounted for under Associated companies in 
accordance with the equity method.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or 
joint control are comparable with those necessary to determine 
control over subsidiaries.

The acquisition of an investment in an associated company or a 
joint venture must be recognised and measured analogously to 
majority ownership in accordance with IFRS 3. Accordingly, the 
purchase price must be compared with the value of the investor’s 
share (after revaluation) of the associated company or joint ven-
ture in order to identify any necessary adjustments and any pos-
itive or negative goodwill (bargain purchase). In contrast to  
IFRS 3, however, under the equity method all adjustments and 
goodwill positions are reported as a separate balance sheet item  
under Associated companies or under Joint ventures. Any nega-
tive goodwill positions are recognised as income under Income 
from business combinations (negative goodwill). Subsequently, 
the carrying amount of the associated company is increased or 
decreased depending on the Group’s share in the profit or loss for 
the period of the associated company or joint venture, minus  
dividends received and foreign exchange translation differences.

Structured entities
The collective investment instruments of Valartis Group are 
structured entities as defined under IFRS 12. If Valartis Group  
operates such an investment instrument acting as an agent  
primarily in the interests of investors, this structured entity is not 
consolidated. Investments in such investment instruments held 
by Valartis Group are recognised as financial instruments. If  
Valartis Group acts as a principal primarily in its own interests, 
the investment instrument is consolidated.

Method of consolidation
All intercompany receivables and liabilities, earnings and ex- 
penses, as well as off balance sheet transactions, are completely 
eliminated in the Group financial statements. The equity of con-
solidated companies is recorded at the carrying amount of the 
participations at the parent company at the time of purchase or 
the time of establishment.

After the initial consolidation, changes resulting from business 
operations that are included in the result for the reporting period 
are allocated to retained earnings. Non-controlling interests in 
equity and net profit are stated separately in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and income statement.

Changes in the scope of consolidation
Since the 27th June 2023, the inactive Group entity Valartis M LLC 
has been liquidated and removed from the scope of Group consol-
idation accordingly.

Changes in the scope of consolidation in the previous year:
Since the 10th February 2022, the Group entity Vaba1 Holding 
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GmbH in liquidation has been dissolved and removed from the 
scope of Group consolidation accordingly.

Consolidation period
The consolidation period for all Group companies is the calendar 
year. The closing date for the consolidated financial statements is 
31 December 2023.

General principles
Revenue recognition
The Group applies IFRS 15. Revenue is measured based on the 
consideration specified in a contract with a customer and  
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group 
recognises revenue for each contract with a client if the follow-
ing criteria are met:

 – the parties to the contract have approved the contract and are 
committed to perform their respective obligations;

 – the Group can identify each party’s rights regarding the goods 
or services to be transferred;

 – the Group can identify the payment terms for the goods or  
services to be transferred;

 – the contract has commercial substance (i.e. the risk, timing or 
amount of the Group’s future cash flows is expected to change 
as a result of the contract); and

 – it is probable that the Group will collect the consideration to 
which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods or services 
that will be transferred to the customer.

In evaluating whether collectability of an amount of considera-
tion is probable, the Group considers only the customer’s ability 
and intention to pay that amount of consideration when it is due. 
In the eventuality of a price concession, the amount of consider-
ation to which the Group will be entitled is considered to be less 
than the price stated in the contract.

Currency translation
The Group’s functional currency is the Swiss franc (CHF), the cur-
rency of the country in which Valartis Group AG is domiciled. The 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies of foreign 
Group companies are translated into Swiss francs at the respec-
tive exchange rates on the balance sheet date. For the income 
statement and the cash flow statement, annual average exchange 
rates are used. Any exchange rate differences resulting from  
consolidation are reported as translation differences in equity. In 
the individual financial statements of the Group companies, 
transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the corre-
sponding daily exchange rates. Monetary assets are translated 
and booked at the exchange rates valid on the balance sheet date 
with the exception of exchange differences arising on monetary 
items that form part of the reporting entity’s net investment in a 
foreign operation; these are recognised, in the consolidated  
financial statements that include the foreign operation in other 
comprehensive income; they will be recognised in profit or loss 
on disposal of the net investment. 

Valartis Group assesses regularly its internal group loans and 
identifies any loans to be qualified as net investment in a foreign 
operation. The following tables provide an overview of the  
effects on the balance sheet and income statement for the  
reporting and comparative period:

Balance sheet:
 
in CHF 1,000 Reporting 

period
31.12 

before re-
assessment 

according to 
IAS 21

Impact of re-
assessment 

according to 
IAS 21

31.12 
after reas-
sessment 

according to 
IAS 21

Currency 
translation 
adjustments in 
equity 2023 4,766 -9,472 -4,706

Currency 
translation 
adjustments in 
equity 2022 -1,539 1,385 -154

Income statement:

in CHF 1,000 Reporting 
period

31.12 
before re-

assessment 
according to 

IAS 21

Impact of re-
assessment 

according to 
IAS 21

31.12 
after reas-
sessment 

according to 
IAS 21

Financial result, 
net 2023 -18,000 9,472 -8,528

Result for the 
year 2023 -15,963 9,472 -6,491

Financial result, 
net 2022 489 -1,385 -896

Result for the 
year 2022 8,634 -1,385 7,249

Non-monetary items recorded at historical cost in a foreign cur-
rency are translated at the historical exchange rate.

The date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the  
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, 
expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity  
initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary  
liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance considera-
tion.
Unrealised foreign exchange differences of an equity investment 
at fair value through other comprehensive income are part of the 
change of its entire fair value and are recognised in other com-
prehensive income.
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The following exchange rates are used for the major currencies:

2023 
Balance 

sheet 
date rate

2023 
Annual 

average rate

2022 
Balance 

sheet 
date rate

2022 
Annual 

average rate

EUR/CHF 0.9281 0.9715 0.9839 1.0022

USD/CHF 0.8401 0.8973 0.9233 0.9537

CHF/RUB 106.84 94.42 79.05 69.89

Segments
Determination of the operating segments is based on the manage-
ment approach. The management approach reflects the way in 
which management organises the entity for making operating  
decisions and for assessing performance, based on specific finan-
cial information. Therefore, the adoption of the management  
approach results in the disclosure of information for segments in 
substantially the same manner as they are reported internally and 
used by the entityʼs chief operating decision maker for purposes of 
evaluating performance and making resource allocation decisions.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement consist of 
liquid assets (petty cash, postal cheque balances) and at sight/ 
immediately callable amounts due from banks.

Domestic and non-domestic positions
Domestic includes positions in Liechtenstein.

Determination of fair value
Valartis Group measures some of its financial instruments and 
financial liabilities as well as individual non-financial assets at 
fair value on each balance sheet date. Fair value is defined as the 
value that would be generated in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the time of valuation upon sale of an asset 
or upon transfer of an obligation. Fair values are determined  
either to determine the balance sheet value or for disclosure pur-
poses in the notes.

All assets and liabilities carried at fair value or for which disclo-
sure of fair value is made in the notes are classified in the follow-
ing fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 instruments
Level 1 instruments are those financial instruments whose fair 
value is based on quoted prices in active markets. This category 
comprises almost all equity and debt instruments held by the 
Group. Investment funds for which a binding net asset value is 
published at least daily, exchange-traded derivatives and  
precious metals are also categorised as level 1 instruments.  
Closing prices are used for the valuation of debt instruments in 
the trading book. In the case of equity instruments, listed invest-
ment funds and exchange-traded derivatives, the closing or set-
tlement prices of the relevant exchanges are used. In the case of 

unlisted investment funds, the published net asset values are 
used. In the case of currencies and precious metals, generally  
accepted prices are applied. No valuation adjustments were 
made in the case of level 1 instruments.

Level 2 instruments
Level 2 instruments are financial instruments whose fair value is 
based on quoted prices in markets that are not active. The same 
categorisation is used where the fair value is determined using a 
valuation method where significant inputs are observable, either 
directly or indirectly. This category essentially comprises forex 
and interest-rate derivatives, illiquid equity and debt instruments 
as well as investment funds for which a binding net asset value is 
not published on a daily basis. If OTC transactions can be ob-
served, the inputs derived from the latest transactions are used 
as a basis for the value assessment. In case, no active market ex-
ists, the fair value is determined based on generally accepted val-
uation methods. If all the significant inputs are directly observa-
ble in the market, the instrument is deemed to be a level 2 
instrument.

The valuation models consider the relevant input such as the con-
tract specifications, market price of the underlying asset, the  
foreign exchange rate, the corresponding yield curve, default risks, 
and volatility. The valuation of interest rate instruments for which 
no quoted prices exist is carried out using generally recognised 
methods. For the valuation of OTC derivatives, generally recog-
nised option pricing models and quoted prices in markets that are 
not active are used. In the case of investment funds, the published 
net asset values are used. The credit risk is only considered when 
market participants would take it into account when determining 
prices.

Level 3 instruments
If at least one significant input cannot be observed directly or 
indirectly in the market, the instrument is classified as a level 3 
instrument. These essentially comprise equity instruments and/ 
or investment funds for which a binding net asset value is not 
published at least quarterly. The fair value of these positions is 
based on the estimates of external experts or on audited finan-
cial statements. Where possible, the underlying assumptions are 
supported by observed market quotes.

The Group determines whether transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation at the end of 
each reporting period.

The categorisation of the financial instruments and financial lia-
bilities in the described fair value hierarchy is shown in Note 31. 
In the case of non-financial assets that are recorded at fair value 
or for which a fair value must be disclosed, the information on 
the determination of the fair value and the categorisation level 
can be found in the corresponding notes.
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Financial instruments
Basic principle
The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its 
statement of financial position according to IFRS 9 when, and only 
when, the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets 
is recognised using the settlement date that is the date that an 
asset is delivered to or by the Group.

Classification of financial assets
Under IFRS 9, on initial recognition, a financial asset is classified 
as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI-debt investment,  
FVOCI-equity investment (FVOCI – fair value through other com-
prehensive income) or FVTPL (fair value through profit & loss). 
The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally 
based on the business model in which a financial asset is man-
aged and its contractual cash flow characteristics. Derivatives 
embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the 
scope of the standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid 
financial instrument is assessed for classification.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of 
the following conditions and is not designated as of FVTPL:

 – it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

 – its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the prin-
cipal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the 
following conditions and is not designated as of FVTPL:

 – it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved 
by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 
assets; and

 – its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the prin-
cipal amount outstanding.

Initial measurement
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for 
trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is 
made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost 
or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This  
includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the 
Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise 
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at 
FVOCI as of FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 
an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. A financial 
asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financ-
ing component that is initially measured at the transaction price) 
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent meas-
urement of financial assets:

Financial assets at FVTPL
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains 
and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recog-
nised in the consolidated income statement. 

Financial assets at amortised cost
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by 
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is recognised in the consolidated  
income statement.

Debt investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest 
income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in 
profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. 
On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are  
reclassified into the consolidated income statement.

Equity investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends 
are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend 
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the invest-
ment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are 
never reclassified into the consolidated income statement.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s derivatives are subsequently remeasured at fair val-
ue with all their gains and losses, realised and unrealised, recog-
nised in the consolidated income statement unless they qualify-
ing as a hedging relationship.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
After initial recognition, the Group measures a financial liability 
at amortised cost except for financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss including derivatives that are liabilities and 
are measured at fair value.

Impairment of financial assets (impairment model)
IFRS 9 uses an expected credit loss (ECL) model. The impairment 
model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, 
contract assets and debt investments at FVOCI, but not to  
investments in equity instruments.

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the fol-
lowing bases:

 – 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default 
events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and 
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 – lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible  
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to life-
time ECLs for all categories. When determining whether the cred-
it risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers rea-
sonable and supportable information that is relevant and avail-
able without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantita-
tive and qualitative information and analysis, based on the 
Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment 
and including forward-looking information. 

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has 
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due. The 
Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

 – the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation to the 
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as 
realising security (if any is held); or 

 – the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the 
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to 
credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit 
losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. 
the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in  
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group 
expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest 
rate of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial  
assets carried at amortised cost and debt securities at FVOCI are 
credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or 
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Presentation of impairment
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost 
are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. For 
debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCI, 
instead of reducing the carrying amount of the asset. Impair-
ment losses related to due from third parties and other receiva-
bles and on other financial assets are presented under finance 
costs and not presented separately in the statement of profit or 
loss and OCI due to materiality considerations.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when, and only when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire or it transfers the financial asset.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial  
liability) from its statement of financial position when, and only 
when, it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.
 
Hedge accounting
The Group designates and documents the use of some derivative 
financial instruments (forwards) as hedging instruments against 
changes in fair values of some financial assets (fair value hedges). 
The effectiveness of such hedges is assessed at inception and 
verified on a regular basis to ensure that an economic relation-
ship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument. 

The Group excludes from the designation of the hedging rela-
tionship the hedging cost element. Subsequently, this cost ele-
ment impacts the income statement at the same time as the 
underlying hedged item.
 
Fair value hedges
The Group uses fair value hedges to mitigate the market risk of 
its some of its financial assets at fair value. Changes in fair values 
of hedging instruments designated as fair value hedges and the 
adjustments for the risks being hedged in the carrying amounts 
of the underlying financial assets are recognised in the income 
statement. When using forwards, only the spot element of the 
forward qualifies as a hedge and is accounted accordingly. The 
forward element do not qualify as hedging instrument and relat-
ed changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. They will be subsequently reclassified to the income 
statement when the hedge relation expires.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment include properties, undeveloped 
land and fixtures in third-party properties, IT and telecommuni-
cations equipment, software (including software in develop-
ment), and other fixed assets. Acquisition and production costs 
are carried as an asset if future economic income is likely to flow 
from them to the Group and the costs can be identified and reli-
ably determined. Property, plant and equipment is depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life as follows:

Property max. 100 years

Fixtures in third-party properties max. 10 years

IT and telecommunication equipment max. 5 years

Software max. 5 years

Other fixed assets max. 5 years

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant, and equip-
ment if events or circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount may have been impaired. If the carrying amount exceeds 
the achievable income, the carrying amount is written down.
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Leases
As a lessee, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset represent-
ing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability 
representing its obligation to make lease payments for all leases 
with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset 
is of low value. As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as oper-
ating leases or finance leases and accounts for those two types 
of leases in different ways.

Definition of a lease
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease 
based on the definition of a lease. A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. To  
assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of 
an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

 – the contract involves the use of an identified asset, which may 
be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be physically 
distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a phys-
ically distinct asset;

 – the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the eco-
nomic benefits from use of the asset throughout the period of 
use; 

 – and the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The 
Group has this right when it has the decision-making rights 
that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose 
the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how 
and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the 
Group has the right to direct the use of the asset if either:

 –  the Group has the right to operate the asset; or
 –  the Group designed the asset in a way that predetermines 

how and for what purpose it will be used.
 
As a lessee
The Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
most leases, i.e. these leases are on the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

When measuring lease liabilities, the Group discounts lease pay-
ments using the lease incremental borrowing rate or if this rate 
could not be readily determined, its incremental borrowing rate 
at the time of the new lease agreement is concluded.

As a lessor
The Group accounts for its leases from the date of entering into 
a new agreement. The corresponding income is recognised in the 
income statement position “Income from investment property”. 
The Group applies IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Custom-
ers to allocate consideration in the contract to each lease and 
non-lease component.

Investment properties
Investment properties are real estate (land, premises or both) 
which is held by the Group in order to generate rental income, 
and/or income from added value. For initial reporting, invest-

ment properties are recorded at purchase or building cost. For 
later evaluation, investment properties are recorded at fair value 
and changes to fair value affect net income. Fair value is evaluat-
ed based on an annual independent assessment which is based 
on the highest level and best possible usage of the property. This 
takes into consideration the use of the asset which is physically 
possible, legally permissible, and financially meaningful. In case 
of investment properties being constructed, the investment 
properties also include part of the direct attributable costs nec-
essary to obtain the authorisation of construction.

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as the difference between the sum of the 
fair value of consideration transferred plus the recognised 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the 
recognised amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabil-
ities assumed.

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is carried as an asset and  
allocated to the corresponding cash-generating unit (CGU). It is 
subject to an impairment test at least annually or more often if 
there are indications of a potential decrease in value.

For this purpose, the carrying amount of the CGU to which good-
will was allocated is compared with its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value of the CGU less 
costs to sell and its value in use.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount that could be realised by 
the sale of a CGU in a transaction at market conditions between 
knowledgeable, willing parties after deduction of the sales costs.

The value in use is the present value of future cash flows a CGU 
is expected to generate. Should the carrying amount of the CGU 
exceed the recoverable amount, a goodwill adjustment charge is 
recognised in the income statement.

Provisions
A provision is recognised if as a result of past events the Group 
has a current liability on the balance sheet date that is likely to 
result in the outflow of resources, and the amount of which can 
be reliably estimated. If the liability cannot be sufficiently relia-
bly estimated, it is shown as a contingent liability.

Taxes and deferred taxes
Income taxes are based on the tax laws of each tax authority 
where a Group company has its domicile and are expensed in the 
period in which the related profits are made. Capital taxes are 
included in office and business expense. The effective tax rate is 
applied to net profit.

Deferred income/expense taxes arising from temporary differ-
ences between the stated values of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated balance sheet and their corresponding tax values 
are recognised as deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities.  
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Deferred tax assets are capitalised if there is likely to be enough 
taxable profit to offset these differences. In order to calculate de-
ferred income taxes, the Group applies the tax rates expected to 
be applicable in the period in which the assets will be realised or 
the liabilities settled. Deferred taxes are recognised only to the 
extent it is likely they will arise in the future. Tax claims and tax 
liabilities are offset against each other if they apply to the same 
tax subject and the same tax authority, and if there is an enforce-
able right to their offsetting. Changes in deferred taxes are re-
ported in the income statement under taxes. Deferred taxes relat-
ed to changes that are recognised directly in shareholders’ equity 
are directly charged or credited to shareholders’ equity.

Treasury shares
Shares in Valartis Group AG held by the Group (treasury shares) 
are deducted from equity at weighted average acquisition cost. 
Changes in fair value are not recorded. The difference between 
the sales proceeds from treasury shares and the corresponding 
acquisition cost is recognised under Reserves.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured and re-
corded on an undiscounted basis as soon as the employees  render 
the related service and the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Pension plans
Valartis Group makes contributions for its employees to a pen-
sion plan that provides benefits in the event of death, disability, 
retirement, or termination of employment. There is only one 
plan for Swiss employees. In the case of defined benefit plans, 
the period costs are determined by an independent recognised 
actuary. The benefits provided by these plans are generally 
based on the years of insurance, age, and pensionable salary. The 
net liability or net asset for each defined benefit plan is meas-
ured on the basis of the present value of the pension obligations 
determined using the projected unit credit method and the pres-
ent value of the plan asset and reported in the balance sheet. 
These calculations are carried out annually by the actuary based 
on the estimated future benefits based on the years of service. If 
the calculation shows an over-funding, the net asset to be  
recorded is limited to the present value of the economic benefit.

Remeasurement resulting from actuarial gains and losses, the 
effect of the asset ceiling, or the return on plan assets (excluding 
net interest), are recorded in other comprehensive income with a 
corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings. All expenses 
related to defined benefit plans are recorded through the consol-
idated income statement as employee benefits.

Valartis Group does not exercise the option to recognise contri-
butions from employees or third parties as a reduction in the ser-
vice cost in the period in which the related service is rendered.

Long Term Incentive Programme (LTI)
The LTI package consists of grant shares (“Award Shares”) in com-
bination of a sale of shares at preferential conditions (“Purchase 
Shares”) financed by way of a loan granted by the Valartis Group.
In addition, put options are granted to each LTI participant in  
order to cover the loan value.

On the balance sheet date, the fair value of LTI shares for Award 
Shares estimated for the entire vesting period, the difference  
between the fair value and the preferential price for Purchase 
Shares as well as the fair value of the put options are charged to 
personnel expenses on a pro rata temporis basis. The loan grant-
ed to LTI participants is recognised under Non-current receiva-
bles and the put option under Derivative Financial Instruments 
(liabilities). 

The Group measures the service rendered by the LTI participants 
at the fair value of the shares granted i.e. relevant market price 
on the day of share allocation.

ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS, AND EXERCISE  
OF DISCRETION BY MANAGEMENT

Basic principle
In applying the accounting principles, management is required to 
make numerous estimates and assumptions which can influence 
the disclosures made in the consolidated income statement, con-
solidated balance sheet and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. The actual results can deviate from these estimates. 

Valartis Group is confident that the consolidated financial state-
ments present a true and fair view of the assets, financial position, 
and income situation. Management reviews the estimates and  
assumptions on a continuous basis and adapts them to new 
knowledge and circumstances. This can influence aspects of the 
consolidated financial statements including the following:

Fair value of financial instruments
If the determination of the fair value of financial assets and liabili-
ties is not based on quoted market prices or price quotes by bro-
kers, the fair value is calculated by means of valuation methods, 
e.g. discounted cash flow models. As far as possible, input param-
eters for modelling are based on observable market data. If there 
are no observable market data available, discretionary decisions 
and estimates are used considering parameters such as liquidity  
risk, default risk, and volatility risk. Changes in these  estimates 
may influence the fair value of such financial instruments.

In case of combination of a purchased and a written American 
type options, similar to a synthetic forward, a discretionary as-
sumption is made regarding the timing of expected exercise date. 
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Fair value of options
The Group determines the fair value of options, using the Black-
Sholes model with the assumption of past underlying’s volatility 
for the time to maturity. 

Measurement of ECL (Expected Credit Losses)  
impairment allowance
Allowance for financial assets measured at amortised costs are 
based on key assumptions in determining the weighted-average 
loss rate.

Value adjustments on credit positions
Various factors can influence the value adjustment estimates for 
credit positions. These factors include changes in borrowers’ cred-
it ratings, loan collateral valuations and the expected scale of loss. 
Management determines how high the value adjustment needs 
to be based on the present value of the expected future cash 
flows. In order to estimate the expected cash flows, management 
must make assumptions regarding the financial situation of the 
counterparty and the estimated recoverable amount of collateral.

Investment properties
The fair value of investment properties was calculated by an inde-
pendent, accredited surveyor. Evaluation was carried out in  
accordance with the standards of the Royal Institution of Char-
tered Surveyors (RICS). The discounted cash flow model used in the 
evaluation takes into consideration the present value of net cash 
flows from a property, i.e. anticipated trends in rental income,  
vacancy rate, rent-free periods, other costs not borne by tenants, 
maintenance costs and investment plans. The anticipated net cash 
flows are discounted using risk-adjusted discount rates. Location 
and property-specific criteria are factored into the discount rate.

Evaluation of the investment property held by Valartis Group in 
St. Petersburg in Russia is influenced by the economic and politi-
cal risks inherent in the Russian national economy. For Valartis 
Group management, investments in property presuppose a long 
investment horizon. By means of this approach, risks from short-
term value fluctuations can be minimised.

For the purpose of obtaining all necessary authorisations to con-
struct a new asset, some related service costs have been capital-
ised. In doing so, Management assesses the feasibility of the pro-
ject and is of the opinion that it will be realised.

Goodwill
Among other factors, the value of goodwill is largely determined 
by the cash flow forecasts and the discount factor (weighted av-
erage cost of capital, WACC). All material assumptions are dis-
closed in the notes to the financial statements. The principal as-
sumptions are listed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. A change in assumptions can lead to disclosure of 
impairment in the subsequent year.

Provisions
Valartis Group recognises provisions for imminent threats if in the 
opinion of the responsible experts the probability that losses will 
occur is greater than the probability that they will not occur and if 
their amount can be reliably estimated. In judging whether the 
creation of a provision and its amount are reasonable, the best 
possible estimates and assumptions as of the balance sheet date 
are applied. If necessary, these will be adjusted to reflect new 
knowledge and circumstances later. New knowledge may have a 
significant effect on the income statement.

Actuarial assumptions
For the defined benefit plans, statistical assumptions have been 
made to estimate future trends. These include assumptions and 
estimates regarding discount rates and expected rates of salary 
increases. The actuaries also use statistical information such as 
mortality tables and turnover probabilities in their actuarial cal-
culations to determine the pension liabilities.

If these parameters change due to demographic developments, 
changes in the economic situation, or new market conditions,  
future results may deviate significantly from the actuarial reports 
and calculations. In the medium term, such deviations can have 
an influence on the expenses and revenue arising from the  
employee pension plans.

Associated companies
Associated companies are accounted for using the equity meth-
od. Norinvest Holding SA publishes its financial figures after  
Valartis Group. Valartis Group estimates the share in the result of 
Norinvest Holding SA for the accounting of the associated partic-
ipation considering publicly available information. Differences 
between the actual results and these estimates are corrected if 
necessary in the Valartis Group’s consolidated financial state-
ments for the following year. For the valuation of the associated 
companies in the 2023 financial year, see the additional explana-
tions in Note 19 Associated companies.

Joint-ventures
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Langeoog”, “Folmhusen”, 
“Nesseborg”, “Marz”, Florentika Management Company LLC and 
Kaluga Flower Holding LLC are joint ventures and accounted for 
using the equity method based on the financial reporting provid-
ed by those companies as of 31 December 2023.

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Folmhusen”, “Nesseborg”, 
and “Marz” each hold a vessel carried according the cost model, 
i.e. after recognition as an asset, the vessel is carried at its cost 
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impair-
ment losses based on a Management value assumption on ex-
pected vesselʼs future income. 

Vestive Ltd
The Group owns 50 per cent stake in Vestive Limited, which in 
turn owns and operates a parking in Moscow through a Russian 
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company. 50 per cent of Vestive is held by two other investors. 
According to the provision of the shareholder’s agreement, at 
least one of the two shareholders must vote together with the 
Group for decision to be endorsed. Due to this setting, Valartis 
Group does not have control over Vestive, which is therefore 
classified as associated company, whose liabilities consist almost 
exclusively of loans from shareholders and clearly exceed Ves-
tive’s assets, resulting in negative equity. As there is no obliga-
tion for shareholders to make additional contributions, the neg-
ative equity and its change are not included in the consolidated 
financial statements. The impairment test is therefore based on 
the development in value of the parking garage building, which 
materialise in adjustment of the receivable toward Vestive car-
ried on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Income taxes
The current tax obligations reported as of the balance sheet date 
and the current tax expenses resulting for the reporting period  

are based in part on estimates and assumptions and can there-
fore deviate from the amounts determined in the future by the 
tax authorities. Deferred taxes are calculated at the tax rates, 
which are expected to be applicable in the accounting period in  
which the assets will be realised or the liabilities settled. Changes 
in the expected tax rates and any unexpected reductions in the 
value of goodwill can have a significant effect on the income 
statement.

Uncertainty over income tax treatment
When there is uncertainty over income tax treatment, the Group 
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority 
will accept each tax treatment. If the entity concludes that it is 
not probable that a particular tax treatment will be accepted, the 
entity has to use the most likely amount or the expected value of 
the tax treatment when determining taxable profit (or tax losses), 
tax bases, unused loss carry forwards and tax rates.
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NOTES ON RISK MANAGEMENT

STRUCTURE OF RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview
Risk management for the risks on assets is based on the principles 
of value-oriented corporate management which includes the tar-
geted assumption of risks and their professional management.  
Taking into account the basic principle of risk-bearing capacity,  
return-oriented risk assumption is thus the focus of risk manage-
ment.

Organisation of risk management
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk manage-
ment of Valartis Group and determines the risk policy. It is  
responsible for setting the annual risk budget, setting limits and 
the maximum risk tolerance (quantitative and qualitative) in  
relation to the Groupʼs overall risk capacity. Operational manage-
ment is responsible for implementing risk management and con-
trol principles and assures that set limits are always adhered to.

Valartis Groupʼs activities currently comprise the following types 
of risks:

 – Market risks (changes in market prices and exchange rates on 
investment assets, interest rate changes and foreign currency 
risks);

 – Liquidity risks;
 – Credit risks (risk of default on bonds); and
 – Operational risk (e.g. real estate project risk)

The foreign currency risk is currently assessed as the main risk.

MARKET RISK

Market risk refers to the risk of a loss of value due to detrimental 
changes in the market prices of interest rate products, equities, 
currencies, and other equity instruments, as well as derivative 
positions. The tables on this page, assess the potential impact of 
market risk on shareholdersʼ equity.

Market price fluctuations on equity holdings
The method for measuring market price fluctuations is based on 
a sensitivity analysis using historical volatility. Equity invest-
ments are usually characterised by a high level of liquidity. That 
means that the market risks can be managed in a timely manner 
and, when necessary, quickly and efficiently reduced. The risk cal-
culation method which is applied takes this factor into conside-
ration and the choice of parameters are regularly reviewed based 
on market conditions and adjusted as required. Less liquid pro-
ducts may have longer term holding periods, amongst other 
things, because market liquidity does not permit rapid expansion 
or reduction of positions. For this reason, risk assessments are 
made based on a sensitivity analysis which takes into considera-
tion significant markdowns, with simultaneous changes in other 
market parameters such as volatility or a sudden drop in product 
trading volumes. Valartis Group is subjected to these types of risk 

via its investments. In 2023, these risks mainly arose in connec-
tion with the financial investments at fair value through OCI, 
other financial assets at fair value and the trading portfolio com-
prising investments in Russian equities.

Table 1: Sensitivity analysis for market price fluctuations on  
equity holdings

in CHF 1,000  2023  2022

Volume of FVOCI 7,090 29,766

Sensitivity 15% based on SIX volatility p.a. +/-1,064 +/-4,465

Volume of other financial assets at fair value 18,499 22,585

Sensitivity 30% based on RTX volatility p.a. +/-5,550 +/-6,776

Volume trading position equities 2,025 1,482

Sensitivity 30% based on RTX volatility p.a. +/-608 +/-445

 
Interest rate risks
Valartis Group is subject to a limited level of interest rate risks. 
There is a certain interest rate risk by building up a bond portfolio 
in order to generate additional financial income from interest in-
come.

Table 2: Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risks
in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Volume trading positions debt instruments 7,804 5,160

Sensitivity 1% +/-78 +/-52

Currency risks
Currency risks relating to trading book positions and financial  
investments are pooled for control and management purposes. 
Valartis Group tries to maintain low currency risks. The Groupʼs 
business activities expose it to the Euro (EUR), US dollar (USD) 
and Ruble (RUB) which are restricted by means of defined limits.
The sensitivity to movements in exchange rates is shown for all 
currency risks in table 3. Sensitivities are based on current year 
monthly volatility against the Swiss franc (CHF).

Table 3: Sensitivity analysis of currency risks
in CHF 1,000  2023  2022

Restated

Net currency position in EUR -3,890 -3,680

Sensitivity 4% EUR (2022: 6%) +/-156 +/-221

Net currency position in USD 18,082 19,558

Sensitivity 8% USD (2022: 9%) +/-1,447 +/-1,760

Net currency position in RUB 40,887 53,041

Sensitivity 17% RUB (2022: 54%) +/-6,951 +/-28,642

Net currency positions are disclosed in Note 29, Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Positions by Currency.
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LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk of the Group not having sufficient liquid 
funds available to meet its short-term payment obligations.

The table Maturity structure of assets and liabilities (Note 30) 
shows future cash flows based on the earliest contractual matu-
rity, disregarding assumptions about the probability of individual 
cash flows.

Changes in liquidity are shown in the cash flow statement on 
pages 44 and 45.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk reflects the risk of loss arising from the failure of  
a counterparty to fulfil its contractual obligations. It includes  
default risks from any direct lending business, the invested bond 
portfolio, concluded transactions (such as money market trans-
actions, derivative transactions, etc.), and settlement risks.

Management of credit risk
Credit exposure comprises receivables from banks, receivables 
from services provided, loans to minority holdings, financial  
instruments, and other assets.

Table 4: Credit risk – total credit risk/geographical credit risk 

in CHF 1,000 Switzerland  Europe Other Total

Geographical credit risk 2023

Cash and cash equivalents  2,021  339  240  2,600 

Trading portfolio assets  6,159  4,459  1,169  11,787 

Derivative financial instruments  5  5,273  -  5,278 

Other financial assets at fair value  1,234  17,265  -  18,499 

Due from third parties  321  209  866  1,396 

Accrued and deferred assets  352  14  268  634 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  7,090  -  -  7,090 

Non-current receivables  4,685  2,862  13,012  20,559 

Deferred tax assets  -  -  -  - 

Total at 31 December 2023  21,867  30,421  15,555  67,843 

Geographical credit risk 2022 (Restated)

Cash and cash equivalents  7,073  284  918  8,275 

Trading portfolio assets  4,053  2,465  2,096  8,614 

Derivative financial instruments  -  4,243  -  4,243 

Other financial assets at fair value  1,461  20,956  -  22,417 

Due from third parties  141  515  383  1,039 

Accrued and deferred assets  298  24  302  624 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  29,766  -  -  29,766 

Non-current receivables  2,991  32,357  16,941  52,289 

Deferred tax assets  -  -  -  - 

Total at 31 December 2022  45,783  60,844  20,640  127,267 

The classification of due from third parties is based on the un-
derlying country risk and, therefore, may differ compared with 
an allocation based purely on the domicile of the borrower. 
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Table 5: Credit risk – total credit risk/breakdown by counterparty

in CHF 1,000 Banks Public sector entities Other 
 

Total 
 

Breakdown by counterparty 2023

Cash and cash equivalents  2,517  -  83  2,600 

Trading portfolio assets  4,414  -  7,373  11,787 

Derivative financial instruments  5  -  5,273  5,278 

Other financial assets at fair value  -  -  18,499  18,499 

Due from third parties  -  175  1,221  1,396 

Accrued and deferred assets  35  93  506  634 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  -  7,090  7,090 

Non-current receivables  -  -  20,559  20,559 

Deferred tax assets  -  -  -  - 

Total at 31 December 2023  6,971  268  60,604  67,843 

Breakdown by counterparty 2022 (Restated)

Cash and cash equivalents  7,788  -  487  8,275 

Trading portfolio assets  1,121  -  7,493  8,614 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  4,243  4,243 

Other financial assets at fair value  -  -  22,417  22,417 

Due from third parties  -  175  864  1,039 

Accrued and deferred assets  14  87  523  624 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  -  29,766  29,766 

Non-current receivables  -  1  52,288  52,289 

Deferred tax assets  -  -  -  - 

Total at 31 December 2022  8,923  263  118,081  127,267 
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Table 6: Credit risk – quality of assets 

in CHF 1,000 AAA to AA- 
 

A+ to BBB- 
 

BB+ or lower 
 

No 
external 

rating

Total 
 

Quality of assets 2023

Cash and cash equivalents  -  1,099  -  1,501  2,600 

Trading portfolio assets  1,348  4,865  1,212  4,362  11,787 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  5,278  5,278 

Other financial assets at fair value  -  -  -  18,499  18,499 

Due from third parties  88  -  -  1,308  1,396 

Accrued and deferred assets  39  3  -  592  634 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  -  -  7,090  7,090 

Non-current receivables  -  -  -  20,559  20,559 

Total at 31 December 2023  1,475  5,967  1,212  59,189  67,843 

Quality of assets 2022 (Restated)

Cash and cash equivalents  -  1,366  -  6,909  8,275 

Trading portfolio assets  -  2,364  2,153  4,097  8,614 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  4,243  4,243 

Other financial assets at fair value  -  -  -  22,417  22,417 

Due from third parties  123  -  -  916  1,039 

Accrued and deferred assets  71  10  13  530  624 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  -  -  29,766  29,766 

Non-current receivables  1  -  -  52,288  52,289 

Total at 31 December 2022  195  3,740  2,166  121,166  127,267 

As in the previous year, there are no overdue receivables without 
value adjustments for the 2023 financial year.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of losses due to faulty internal pro-
cesses, procedures and systems, inappropriate behaviour by 
 employees or by external influences. The definition includes all 
legal risks as well as reputational risks. However, it excludes stra-
tegic risks.

Management of operational risk
Identification of operational risks is one of the permanent  
responsibilities of management and is carried out when introdu-
cing new operational activities, processes and products and peri-
odically for those which have already been established. In the 
case of critical operational processes, key risk monitoring pro-
cesses and indicators are used.
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Treatment of risks which have been identified is always pro-
cessed by the operational unit within the framework conditions 
which have been stipulated. A decision as to whether risk avo-
idance, risk reduction or risk transfer is most appropriate, or 
whether the risk should be accepted, is based mainly on a cost-
benefit analysis.

Regular monitoring of operational risks is embedded in operatio-
nal processes, as far as possible. Separation of functions and a 
four-eye principle are central elements of monitoring. The Board 
of Directors has the overall control of management of operatio-
nal risks based on standardised reporting and regular adhoc  
information.
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1. INCOME FROM MANAGEMENT SERVICES

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Revenue from management services 3,268 5,169

Revenue from management services 3,268 5,169

Income from management services comprises fees for the devel-
opment and management of real estate projects, management  
 

fees for administration and accounting services as well as invest-
ment fees for investment funds.

2. INCOME FROM INVESTMENT PROPERTY

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Rental income 3,661 4,771

Total income from investment property  3,661  4,771 

Income from investment property comprises the gross rental  
income from Petrovsky Fort, an office and retail building located 
in St. Petersburg. Expenses in relation to the Investment Property 

are disclosed under General Expenses (see Note 6). Fair value  
adjustments on the Investment Property are presented under 
Value Adjustments, provisions and losses (see Note 8).

3. SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Share in net profit  4,359  10,273 

Share of loss  -803  - 

Total  3,556  10,273 

As of 31 December 2023, the Share in net profit relates to Norin-
vest Holding SA in the amount of CHF 2.4 million, Briese Schif-
fahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Folmhusen” in the amount of CHF 0.7 
million, Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Nesseborg” in the 
amount of CHF 1.2 million. At the same date, the share of loss re-
lated to Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz” in the 
amount of CHF 0.8 million.

In respect to Norinvest Holding SA, the latter publishes its finan-
cial figures after Valartis Group. Valartis Group estimates the 
share in the result of Norinvest Holding SA for the accounting of 

the associated participation considering publicly available infor-
mation. Differences between the actual results and these esti-
mate are corrected in the Valartis Groupʼs consolidated financial 
statements of the following period.

As of 31 December 2022, the Share in net profit relates to Norin-
vest Holding SA in the amount of CHF 2.1 million, Briese Schif-
fahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Folmhusen” in the amount of CHF 2.3 
million, Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Nesseborg” in the 
amount of CHF 2.5 million, Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS 
“Langeoog” in the amount of CHF 3.3 million.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
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4. OTHER INCOME

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Other income  267  388 

Other expenses  -  -8 

Total other income  267  380 

The other income and expenses include various consulting fees 
as well as trade payables adjustments after final payable amount 
has been agreed. 

5. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Salaries and bonuses  -3,332  -4,333 

Social security benefits  -515  -732 

Contributions to occupational pension plans  -93  -108 

Long Term Incentive Programme (LTI) 1)  -260  -666 

Other personnel expenses  -443  -337 

Total  -4,643  -6,176 

1)  Details in Note 33.

6. GENERAL EXPENSES

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Occupancy expense 1)  -152  -251 

IT and information expense  -213  -290 

Consultancy, audit, corporate communication and representation expense  -1,272  -1,254 

Operating expenses of investment property  -892  -1,011 

Investment property tax and non-recoverable VAT  -357  -486 

Other general expenses  -554  -270 

Total  -3,440  -3,562 

1)  Lease contracts with a term of less than 12 months or with low value underlying asset.

7. DEPRECIATION

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Depreciation office leases 1)  -396  -597 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  -40  -44 

Total  -436  -641 

1)  Related to right-of-use of office leases.
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8. VALUE ADJUSTMENTS, PROVISIONS AND LOSSES

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Impairments  -4  -954 

Impairment reversals  311  2 

Value adjustment on investment property  -507  -1,882 

Change in provisions  2  32 

Total  -198  -2,802 

In 2023, impairment reversal included an amount of CHF 0.2 mil-
lion in regard to loans provided to Vestive Ltd., an associated com-
pany (2022: impairment of CHF 0.2 million) as well as an impair-
ment reversal of CHF 0.1 million in relation to a receivable.

 
Details on Value adjustment on investment property are provided 
under Note 17.

9. FINANCIAL RESULT

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Interest and dividend income from trading portfolios  573  383 

Other interest income  1,144  2,169 

Total interest and dividend income  1,717  2,552 

Net gain on trading portfolio assets  1,754  - 

Net income from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss  -  - 

Net foreign exchange gain  -  1,598 

Total financial income  3,471  4,150 

Interest expenses for loans  -276  -950 

Interest expenses on leasing liabilities  -207  -205 

Interest expenses for financial liabilities due to banks  -884  -625 

Total interest expenses  -1,367  -1,780 

Net loss on trading portfolio assets  -  -3,098 

Net foreign exchange loss  -10,406  - 

Net loss from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss  -226  -168 

Total financial expenses  -11,999  -5,046 

Total financial result, net  -8,528  -896 

The Net foreign exchange gain related mainly to translation into 
Swiss francs of loans, investments (including investment property) 
and trading assets held in RUB and USD.
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10. TAXES

Taxes expense

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Current income taxes  -29  -75 

Change in deferred taxes  31  373 

Total income taxes  2  298 

Analysis of income tax charges

Net (loss) / profit from continued operations before tax  -6,493  6,516 

Net (loss) / profit from discontinued operations before tax -  435 

Net (loss) / profit before tax  -6,493  6,951 

Expected income tax rate 1) 13.9% 13.9%

Expected income taxes  900  -964 

Reconciliation from expected to effective income taxes

Difference between expected and actual tax rate  -37  891 

Prior-year adjustments  -  118 

Tax-exempted income (including income from investments)  257  519 

Not recognised tax loss carry-forwards  -381  -315 

Use of not recognised tax loss carry-forwards  -  266 

Non-tax-deductible expenses  -609  -247 

Other effects  -129  30 

Effective income taxes  2  298 

Income tax as disclosed in the consolidated income statement  2  298 

Income tax attributable to discontinued operations  -  - 

Effective income taxes  2  298 

 1)   The expected income tax rate is based on the ordinary income tax rate at the 
domicile of the parent company – Valartis Group AG – in Fribourg, Switzerland.  
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Deferred taxes

in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Development of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities, net

Position at 1 January  356  658 

Changes affecting the income statement  -30  -372 

Changes not affecting the income statement  -2  2 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -89  68 

Position at 31 December tax liabilities/(assets), net  235  356 

Expiry of non-capitalised tax allowances for losses

Within 1 year 2,135  7,523 

From 1 to 5 years 18,746  19,423 

After 5 years 1,889  2,351 

Total  22,770  29,297 

Expiry of non-capitalised tax allowances for losses from continued operations  -8,481  -11,489 

Disposal of non-capitalised tax allowances for losses from discontinued operations  -  - 

Reconciliation deferred taxes

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties  235  356 

Total deferred tax liabilities  235  356 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

11. TRADING PORTFOLIO ASSETS

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Debt instruments 7,804 5,161

Equity instruments 2,025 1,481

Investment fund units 1,958 1,972

Total trading portfolio assets 11,787 8,614

12. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

in CHF 1,000 Positive replacement 
values

Negative replacement 
values

On currencies

Forward contracts 5 -

Total at 31 December 2023 5  -

Forward contracts - -

Total at 31 December 2022 (restated) - -

On equity instruments/indices

Forward contracts  5,273  - 

Options (OTC)  -  106 

Total at 31 December 2023  5,273  106 

Forward contracts  4,243 

Options (OTC)  -  27 

Total at 31 December 2022 (restated)  4,243  27 

Total open derivative financial instruments  
at 31 December 2023  5,278  106 

Total open derivative financial instruments  
at 31 December 2022 (Restated)  4,243  27 

13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Debt instruments  -  - 

Listed equity instruments  17,265  20,956 

Non listed Equity instruments  1,234  1,461 

Total other financial assets at fair value  18,499  22,417 

Listed equity instruments relate to an investment amounting to 
4.93 per cent of the share capital of EPH European Property Holdings 
PLC (EPH). EPH is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange.

The Non-listed equity instruments relate to an investment 
amounting to 3.92 per cent of the share capital of Whitebox Ser-
vices AG, a second stage start-up company in the field of online 
asset management.
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14. DUE FROM THIRD PARTIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Due from third parties and associated companies  5,890 5,533

Total due from third parties and associated companies gross 5,890 5,533

Valuation adjustments for default risk -4,494 -4,494

Total due from third parties and associated companies net 1,396 1,039

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OCI
 
in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Equity instruments 7,090 29,766

Total financial assets at fair value through OCI 7,090 29,766

The investment in Athris AG, classified as financial assets at fair 
value through OCI, is listed on the BX Swiss, a regulated trading 
market, since 15 June 2018. The company publishes its NAV on 
a quarterly basis shortly after the end of each quarter. As the 
prices of these equity instruments are directly observable on 

the market but still have a low trading volume, the financial as-
sets at fair value through OCI is classified as a level 2 instru-
ment. According to the company, the aim of the listing is to im-
prove the liquidity of Athris AG shares. In 2023, the Group 
reduced its exposure toward Athris.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND LEASES

in CHF 1,000 
 

Fixtures in 
third-party 
properties

IT and  
telecom- 

munications

Leases 
 

Other property, 
plant and  

equipment

Software 
 

Total 
 

Acquisition costs

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021  407  75  2,923  465  14  3,884 

Investments  -  16  576  12  -  604 

Divestments  -  -  -  -8  -  -8 

Foreign exchange translation differences  8  -  -  7  -  15 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022  415  91  3,499  476  14  4,495 

Investments  -  -  734  1  -  735 

Divestments  -  -2  -275  -50  -  -327 

Foreign exchange translation  
differences  -54  -  -  -69  -  -123 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023  361  89  3,958  358  14  4,780 

Cumulative depreciation

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021  -264  -74  -1,827  -412  -6  -2,583 

Depreciation  -22  -  -597  -16  -6  -641 

Divestments  -  -  -  8  -  8 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -8  -  -  -9  -  -17 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022  -294  -74  -2,424  -429  -12  -3,233 

Depreciation  -22  -5  -396  -9  -4  -436 

Divestments  -  2  -  39  -  41 

Foreign exchange translation differences  54  -  -  66  2  122 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023  -262  -77  -2,820  -333  -14  -3,506 

Net carrying amount at  
31 December 2023  99  12  1,138  25  -  1,274 

Net carrying amount at  
31 December 2022  121  17  1,075  47  2  1,262 
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

in CHF 1,000 Investment property 
building

Investment property 
financial leasing

Total 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021  34,853  1,342  36,195 

Investments  894  -  894 

Transfer from property, plant and equipment  -  -  - 

Disposals  -  -  - 

Fair value adjustments  -1,867  -15  -1,882 

Foreign exchange translation differences  1,458  54  1,512 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022  35,338  1,381  36,719 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022  35,338  1,381  36,719 

Investments  1,027  -  1,027 

Transfer from property, plant and equipment  -  -  - 

Disposals  -  -  - 

Fair value adjustments  -564  57  -507 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -9,244  -366  -9,610 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023  26,557  1,072  27,629 

Valuation
Valartis Group, through one of its subsidiaries, holds the business 
centre Petrovsky Fort in St. Petersburg, Russia. The fair value of 
real estate investment property is determined by independent 
real estate valuation experts using recognised valuation tech-
niques on an annual basis. Based on the input parameters of the 
valuation method used, the measurement of fair value is catego-
rised under level 3 instruments (see Note 31).

 
As of 31 December 2023, the fair value based on the external 
valuation report has decreased by CHF 0.6 million on a Ruble ba-
sis (31 December 2022: decreased by CHF 1.9 million). This effect 
has been amplified in 2023 due to the positive development of 
the Ruble currency rate against the CHF with an effect of CHF 9.2 
million.

 
Future receivables from operating leases
The table below presents the future rent receivable in relation to 
the investment property

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Future receivables from operating leases

Remaining term up to 1 year  1,290  1,414 

Remaining term from 1 to 5 years  235  380 

Remaining term over 5 years  11  37 

Total  1,536  1,831 
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18. GOODWILL

in CHF 1,000 Goodwill Total

Acquisition costs

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021  1,667  1,667 

Investments  -  - 

Foreign exchange translation differences  64  64 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022  1,731  1,731 

Investments  -  - 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -450  -450 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023  1,281  1,281 

Cumulative amortisation/impairment

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020  -  - 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022  -  - 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023  -  - 

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2023  1,281  1,281 

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2022  1,731  1,731 

Allocation and carrying amounts of goodwill
As of 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of goodwill for con-
tinued operations are allocated to the corresponding cash-gener-
ating units (CGU) as follows:

2023 
in CHF 1,000

Goodwill Total Approach for determining 
the recoverable amount

CGU Petrovsky Fort  
(Investment property)

 
1,281

 
1,281

Fair Value less cost
 of disposal 

Total 1,281 1,281
 
 
 

2022
in CHF 1,000

Goodwill Total Approach for determining 
the recoverable amount

CGU Petrovsky Fort 
(Investment property)

 
1,731

 
1,731

Fair Value less cost 
of disposal 

Total 1,731 1,731
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Goodwill impairment testing
The cash-generating units are measured at least twice a year (i.e. as 
of 30 June and as of 31 December) and are subjected to an  
impairment test. The carrying amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the goodwill were allocated is compared with the recov-
erable amount. If the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit 
exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

Measurement at fair value was determined as fair value based on 
the input factors of the valuation technique used for level 3  
instruments.

The goodwill was tested for impairment as of 31 December 2023 
and is explained as per following:

CGU Petrovsky Fort 
The acquisition of Romsay Properties Ltd and Stainfield Ltd. by 
ENR Group in 2014 resulted in a goodwill position (goodwill  
Petrovsky Fort). The goodwill as of 31 December 2023 amounts 
to CHF 1.3 million (31 December 2022: CHF 1.7 million).

Recognised goodwill is based on the structure of the three enti-
ties acquired which hold the investment property Petrovsky Fort. 
Goodwill can primarily be attributed to recognised deferred 
 taxes which are linked with the investment property and its com-
pany holding structure. Impairment testing of goodwill is based 
on a comparison between the market value of deferred taxes and 
their book value. In 2023 as well as for prior years, there was no 
need for impairment.
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19. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Position at 1 January  38,379  33,186 

Additions  2,138  1,430 

Dividends  -3,494  -6,192 

Share in result  3,556  10,273 

Currency translation effects  -794  -318 

Position at 31 December  39,785  38,379 

Norinvest Group
Following the completed sale of the two Swiss subsidiaries Valartis 
Bank AG and Valartis Wealth Management SA to Banque Cramer 
& Cie SA in August 2014, Valartis Group AG acquired a 25 per cent 
stake in Norinvest Holding SA, the parent company of Banque 
Cramer & Cie SA, in September 2014. This stake increased to 29.2 
per cent following a share capital reduction of Norinvest Holding SA 
in 2022 and fluctuates further upon variation of treasury shares 
held by Norinvest Group.

Société des Carrières SA
Valartis Group holds a 33.3 per cent stake in Société des Carrières  SA, 
Luxembourg. This company has acquired various  interests which 
extract volcanic rock (Pozzolanic earth) in France and use it to 
produce products for the construction industry.

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Langeoog”
In 2018, Valartis Group invested in Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & 
Co. KG MS “Langeoog”, a limited partnership, by way of a contri-
bution as a limited partner for 49.8 per cent of the capital contri-
butions of the company. This percentage of participation in the 
capital contribution was increased to 50.0 per cent following an
additional contribution in 2019. During the first semester 2022, 
the company disposed of its main asset i.e. a multi-purpose vessel 
and the company was liquidated in September 2023.

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Folmhusen”
In 2019, Valartis Group invested in Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & 
Co. KG MS “Folmhusen”, a limited partnership, by way of a contri-
bution as a limited partner for 50.0 per cent of the capital contri-
butions of the company. 

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Nesseborg”
In 2019, Valartis Group invested in Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. 
KG MS “Nesseborg”, a limited partnership, by way of a contribu- 

tion for 50.0 per cent of the capital contributions of the company.
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Folmhusen” and “Nesse-
borg” operate each a mid-size freight cargo and are in Leer, Germany.

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”
Between November 2021 and September 2023, Valartis Group 
invested in Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”, a limit-
ed partnership, by way of a contribution for 50.0 per cent of the 
capital contributions of the company, which built and now oper-
ates a mid-size container cargo and is in Leer, Germany. See also 
Note 39.

Vestive Ltd
In 2017, Valartis Group, through ENR Group, acquired 50 per cent 
stake in Vestive Ltd (Vestive) which owns and operates a parking 
garage in Moscow via the Russian company Inkonika LLC (Inkoni-
ka). Since then, Vestive and Inkonika have been accounted for as 
associated companies.

Kaluga Flower Holding LLC
In 2019, the Group acquired a 50 per cent interest in a 27.4 hec-
tare greenhouse and engineering facility for flower growing in 
Kaluga Oblast in Russia. As of 31 December 2023, the Group has 
invested RUB 764 million, which represent CHF 7.2 million at cur-
rent year-end conversion rate, by way of several loans granted to 
the associated company (31 December 2022: RUB 764 million 
representing CHF 9.7 million). In addition, the Groupʼs investment 
in Kaluga Flower Holding LLCʼs equity amounted to RUB 32 mil-
lion (CHF 0.5 million).

Florentika Management Company LLC
In October 2021, the Group acquired a 50 per cent interest in 
Florentika Management Company LLC which was established as 
a newly incorporated company in the Russian Federation to act 
as the corporate general manager of Kaluga Flower Holding LLC.
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Details on associated companies and joint arrangements

in CHF 1,000 Norinvest Group 1) Vestive Ltd Société des Carrières SA Kaluga Flower Holding LLC

31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Revenue  24,166  23,552  431  521  3,568  3,631  18,168  18,607 

Result from operations  3,740  3,995  -1,372  -4,519  -275  -93  -2,600  -4,293 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -2,093  264 - - - -

Total comprehensive income  3,740  3,995  -3,465  -4,255  -275  -93  -2,600  -4,293 

Current assets  404,744  696,276  259  151  3,389  3,641  6,558  9,188 

Non-current assets  252,415  245,110  5,727  7,274  10,851  10,657  15,276  19,123 

Current liabilities  563,654  865,545  38,598  47,361  1,556  2,018  3,900  2,595 

Non-current liabilities  13,229  3,222  -  -  12,102  11,406  30,190  39,173 

Shareholder’s equity  
as of 31 December  80,276  72,619  -32,612  -39,936  582  874  -12,256  -13,457 

Non-controlling interests  -  -  -  -  343  217  -  - 

Total shareholders’ equity 
(excluding non-controlling 
interests)  80,276  72,619  -32,612  -39,936  925  1,091  -12,256  -13,457 

Share of the Group 32.5% 32.5% 50.0% 50.0% 33.3% 33.3% 50.0% 50.0%

Total carrying amount of 
associated companies  26,056  23,623  -  -  309  364  -  - 

Goodwill  750  750  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Impairment  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Net carrying amount  26,806  24,373  -  -  309  364  -  - 

1)  Norinvest Holding SA is reporting its financial results after Valartis Group. 
Therefore, Valartis Group estimates its share on the result of Norinvest Group 
for the equity accounting of this associated company, based on publicly 

available information. Any differences between these estimates and actual 
results when available will be adjusted in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements of the following period. 

The assets of Vestive Ltd. mainly consist of the Turgenevskaya 
parking garage in Moscow, valued at USD 6.8 million as of  
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: USD 7.9 million). Liabili-
ties consist almost exclusively of loans from shareholders and 
clearly  exceed Vestive’s assets, resulting in negative equity. As 

there is no obligation for shareholders to make additional con-
tributions, the negative equity and its change are not included 
in the consolidated financial statements. The carrying amount 
of the associated company Vestive is therefore zero as of  
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: zero).
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in CHF 1,000 Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & 
Co. KG MS “Langeoog” 1)

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & 
Co. KG MS “Folmhusen” 1)

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & 
Co. KG MS “Nesseborg” 1)

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & 
Co. KG MS “Marz” 1) 2)

31.12.2023 3) 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Revenue  28  549  4,394  7,521  4,734  7,710  929  - 

Result from operations  28  6,217  1,655  4,785  2,451  5,174  -793  -13 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income  28  6,217  1,655  4,785  2,451  5,174  -793  -13 

Current assets  -  84  890  2,101  804  1,929  697  2,450 

Non-current assets  -  -  6,933  7,840  6,786  7,719  23,447  7,730 

Current liabilities  -  -  46  -  46  167  82  - 

Non-current liabilities  -  84  83  65  44  56  13,916  2,200 

Shareholder’s equity  
as of 31 December 1)  -  -  7,694  9,876  7,500  9,425  10,146  7,980 

Non-controlling interests  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total shareholders’ equity 
(excluding non-controlling 
interests)  -  -  7,694  9,876  7,500  9,425  10,146  7,980 

Share of the Group 0.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0%

Total carrying amount of 
associated companies  -  -  3,847  4,938  3,750  4,713  5,073  3,990 

Goodwill  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Impairment  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Net carrying amount  -  -  3,847  4,938  3,750  4,713  5,073  3,990 

1)  The shareholder’s equity in Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS corresponds 
to the total of capital contributions done by all partners.

2)  Between 2021 and 2023, contributions as a limited partner amounting to  
CHF 6.2 million were done in Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz” 
which is a limited partnership.

3)  Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Langeoog” has been liquidated on the 
31 August 2023.

In 2023, the following dividend payments and capital reimburse-
ment were received: CHF 1.6 million from Briese Schiffahrts 
GmbH & Co. KG MS “Folmhusen” (2022: CHF 0.7 million) and CHF 
1.9 million from Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Nesse-
borg” (2022: CHF 0.7 million). No dividend payment or capital re-
imbursement was received from Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. 
KG MS “Langeoog” prior to its liquidation (2022: CHF 4.6 million), 

 

For details on the purchase of the associated interest in Briese 
Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”, please refer to Note 39.
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20. NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Total non-current receivables gross  20,804  57,667 

Valuation adjustments for default risk  -245  -5,378 

Total non-current receivables net  20,559  52,289 

As of 31 December 2023, Non-current receivables include CHF 
10.1 million promissory notes including accrued interests to 
Kaluga Flower Holding LLC (31 December 2022: CHF 12.6 million), 
receivables mainly due from the associated companies Inkonika 

LLC and Société des Carrières SA as well as a loan to Tidesea Ltd. 
Non-current receivables decreased in 2023 compared to the pre-
vious year mainly due to the reimbursement of a EUR 30 million 
promissory notes to European Property Holdings PLC.

 
21. CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Due to banks 15,512 15,881

Other current liabilities 94 75

Current financial liabilities 15,606 15,956

Due to banks include a bank loan of CHF 10.5 million to finance 
the Petrovsky Fort investment property. 

22. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Value added tax and other indirect tax liabilities 101 168

Accrued and deferred liabilities 3,424 3,853

Total other current liabilities 3,525 4,021
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23. NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Leasing liabilities  2,218  2,457 

Non-current financial liabilities  22,251  54,661 

Total non-current financial liabilities  24,469  57,118 

Non-current financial liabilities include investment facilities 
long term loans of CHF 22.0 million (31 December 2022: CHF 
54.3 million).

Details on leasing liabilities
The movement on leasing liabilities are shown in the following 
table:

in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Position at 1 January  2,457  2,438 

Investments  734  576 

Disposals  -274 

Interest expense  207  205 

Lease payments  -539  -816 

Translation differences  -367  54 

Position at 31 December  2,218  2,457 

Lease liabilities are repaid over the term of the contract and are 
due as follows as of balance sheet date:

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Sum of future leasing payments (nominal value)

Up to 1 year  426  764 

More than 1 and up to 5 years  1,451  1,198 

More than 5 years  3,036  4,086 

Total  4,913  6,048 

Sum of future leasing payments (present value)

Up to 1 year  268  574 

More than 1 and up to 5 years  910  531 

More than 5 years  1,040  1,352 

Total  2,218  2,457 

 
As Valartis Group applies the recognition exemption for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets, neither a lease liability 
nor a right-of-use asset is recognised for these kinds of leases. In  

 
the year under review, operating expense included a charge of 
CHF 0.2 million for short-term leases (2022: CHF 0.3 million). 
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24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Although contributions are paid by the employer and employees in 
the case of Swiss pension plans, they are defined benefit plans ow-
ing to the guaranteed interest rate and the prescribed conversion 
rate. The employee pension plan in Switzerland is covered by an  
 

insurance contract with Swiss Life. The last actuarial calculation for 
performance-related plans took place on 31 December 2023, with 
the following results:

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Other provision, including provision for pension funds 530 144

Total defined benefit obligation 530 144

 
Statement of balance sheet item

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Present value of pension liabilities  6,955  6,343 

Market value of plan assets  6,425  6,199 

Total pension liabilities/(pension assets)  530  144 

 
Change in net liabilities/(assets) on the balance sheet

in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Net liabilities/(assets) at 1 January  144  1,108 

Defined benefit cost recognised in personnel expenses  93  108 

Defined benefit cost recognised in other comprehensive income  513  -860 

Employer contributions  -220  -212 

Paid out benefits  -  - 

Net liabilities/(assets) at 31 December  530  144 

Costs and remeasurement for employee pension plan in income statement and comprehensive income

in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Components of pension costs in personnel expenses

Service costs  118  161 

Past service costs  -27  -56 

Net interest expense/(income)  2  3 

Pension costs for defined benefit plans  93  108 

Employer’s pension expense for defined contribution plans  -  - 

Total pension costs  93  108 

whereof discontinued operations  -  - 

Total pension costs recognised in personnel expenses  93  108 

Defined benefit cost recognised in other comprehensive income

Actuarial (gain)/loss on liabilities  462  -818 

Actuarial (gain)/loss on assets  51  -42 

Total remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income  513  -860 
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Change in pension liabilities

in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Present value of pension liabilities at 1 January  6,343  7,754 

Service costs  118  161 

Employee contributions  147  141 

Interest on pension liabilities  146  23 

Paid (out)/in benefits and vested benefits  -234  -862 

Actuarial (gains)/losses  462  -818 

of which from adjustment to financial assumptions  475  - 

of which from adjustment to demographic assumptions  -  -1,107 

of which from adjustment to experience-based assumptions  -13  289 

Past service costs  -27  -56 

Present value of pension liabilities at 31 December  6,955  6,343 

 
Change in pension assets

in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Market value of available pension assets at 1 January 6,199 6,646

Employee contributions 147 141

Employer contributions 220 212

Paid (out)/in benefits and vested benefits -234 -862

Expected return on plan assets 144 20

Actuarial loss/(gain) -51 42

Market value of available pension assets at 31 December 6,425 6,199
 
 

Main groups of the pension fund assets

in per cent 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Liquidity 0.6 1.8

Bonds 50.6 52.4

Real estate 20.6 22.8

Shares and convertibles 1) 14.0 10.0

Others 2) 14.2 13.0

 1)  There are no treasury shares of Valartis Group AG in the pension fund assets. 2)  Assets named Others are consisting of assets invested by group insurance 
foundation Swisslife at Swiss Life Ltd. based on limitation of BVG/LLP 
regulations. 
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Actuarial assumptions 

in per cent 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Discount rate (Switzerland) 1.5 2.3

Expected rate of salary increases (Switzerland) 2.0 2.0

Return on retirement assets (Switzerland) 1.5 1.5

Demographic assumptions (e.g. probabilities of death, disability 
and turnover) are based on the BVG/LLP 2020 actuarial tables 
(prior year on BVG/LLP 2020 actuarial tables). These generational 

tables are based on observations of large pools of insured per-
sons in Switzerland over several years.

Estimate of contributions for the following year

in CHF 1,000 2023 2022

Employee contributions 147 141

Employer contributions 220 212

Sensitivity
The table below shows the change in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation if one of the key assumptions for the 

actuarial calculation is reduced or increased ceteris paribus by 50 
basis points. 

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 Proportion in per cent

Current actuarial calculation of the defined benefit obligation 6,955 100

Discount rate

Increase of 50 basis points -306 -4.4

Reduction of 50 basis points 341 4.9

Salary trend

Increase of 50 basis points 41 0.6

Reduction of 50 basis points -39 -0.6

There were no pension obligations following the change in Group 
insurance for employee benefits as of 1 January 2019 to Swiss 
Life. If Valartis Group would terminate the contract with the 
Group insurance for employee benefits and sign a new contract  

with another provider, these current pension obligations would 
stay with Swiss Life. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis for changes 
in longevity is disclosed. 
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25. PROVISIONS

in CHF 1,000 Provision for 
other business 

risks

Total according to 
balance 

sheet 2023

Total according to 
balance 

sheet 2022

Position at 1 January  3  3  82 

Utilised/released in accordance  
with designated purpose  -1  -1  -50 

Newly formed and charged to income statement  -  -  - 

Released and credited to income statement  -2  -2  -32 

Foreign exchange translation differences  -  -  3 

Position at 31 December  -  -  3 

Maturity of the provisions

Within 1 year  -  -  - 

More than 1 year  -  -  3 

As part of its normal business activities, Valartis Group is ex-
posed to a wide range of legal risks. These include risks relating to 
litigation and tax law. Valartis Group recognises provisions for 
such litigation and tax risks if the Group’s management and its 
legal advisers are of the opinion that an outflow of resources em-
bodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount. 

 
The amount of the provisions and their timing are by their na-
ture subject to uncertainty. However, these uncertainties are 
evaluated as being low since it was possible to reliably estimate 
the individual amounts. Provisions mainly relate to operational 
risks within the real estate activity in Russia.

In 2023, there were no contingent liabilities as set down in  
IAS 37 (prior year: zero).

26. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES
Share capital

in CHF 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Share capital, fully paid-in 3,126,295 4,299,295

Number of registered shares 3,126,295 4,299,295

Nominal value per share 1 1

Equity per share (attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG,  
before appropriation of profit) 29.5 27.9

For the financial year 2023, the Board of Directors proposes to 
the Shareholders’ Meeting 2024 to pay a dividend of CHF 0.50 per 
share (previous year: none).

Share buyback and capital reduction
During the Ordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2023, the 
shareholders approved the buyback of 1,173,000 Valartis Group 
shares for cancellation purpose, which took place subsequently. 
The ordinary share capital reduction has been filed in June 2023.
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Treasury shares

Number of shares

Position at 1 January 2022 353,978

Purchases

of which for the purpose of cancellation  - 

of which for other purposes  - 

Sales  - 

Long Term Incentive Programme (LTI) (at an average price of CHF 17.00 each) 1)  -66,000 

Cancellation

Position at 31 December 2022 287,978

Purchases

of which for the purpose of cancellation (at an average price of CHF 17.32 each)  1,276,000 

of which for other purposes  - 

Sales  - 

Long Term Incentive Programme (LTI) (at an average price of CHF 13.35 each) 1)  -31,900 

Cancellation -1,173,000

Position at 31 December 2023 359,078

of which for the purpose of cancellation 103,000 

of which for other purposes 256,078

Historical cost value at 31 December 2022 in CHF 4,541,838

of which held for the purpose of cancellation  - 

of which held for other purposes 4,541,838

Historical average rate at 31 December 2022 in CHF

of which held for the purpose of cancellation  - 

of which held for other purposes 15.77

Historical cost value at 31 December 2023 in CHF 5,454,977

of which held for the purpose of cancellation  1,416,250 

of which held for other purposes  4,038,727

Historical average rate at 31 December 2023 in CHF

of which held for the purpose of cancellation  13.75 

of which held for other purposes 15.77

1)   Details in the Compensation Report pages 31–32.

Share buyback programme (2023)
At its meeting on 16 May 2023, the Annual General Meeting ap-
proved the repurchase of treasury shares up to a maximum of 
120,000 shares prior to the 2026 Annual General Meeting. Based 
on this authorisation, a share buyback offer has been submitted 
by the Board of Directors of Valartis Group AG on 27 November 
2023 for a maximum of 103,000 registered shares at a fixed price 
of CHF 13.75 per registered share for the purpose of capital  

reduction. Valartis was tendered a total of 134,576 registered 
shares during the offer period from 4 to 15 December 2023. After 
the number of registered shares tendered exceeded the volume 
of the buyback offer, the registered shares were repurchased 
from the tendering shareholders on a pro rata basis, i.e. the ten-
der was reduced on a pro rata basis to a maximum of 103,000 
registered shares
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27. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2023 2022

Net result attributable to the shareholders of Valartis Group AG in CHF 1,000 -3,568 7,185

Net result from continued operations attributable to the shareholders  
of Valartis Group AG, in CHF 1,000 -3,568 6,750

Net result from discontinued operations attributable to the shareholders  
of Valartis Group AG, in CHF 1,000 - 435

Weighted average number of shares 3,653,342 4,299,295

less weighted average number of treasury shares -358,078 -349,277

Undiluted weighted average number of shares 3,295,264 3,950,018

Diluted weighted average number of shares 3,295,264 3,950,018

Earnings per share in CHF in CHF

Undiluted, attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG -1.08 1.82

Diluted, attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG -1.08 1.82

Earnings per share from continued operations

Undiluted, attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG -1.08 1.71

Diluted, attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG -1.08 1.71

Earnings per share from discontinued operations

Undiluted, attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG 0.00 0.11

Diluted, attributable to shareholders of Valartis Group AG 0.00 0.11

 
28. SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 

The share capital has been divided into registered shares (previ-
ously bearer shares) since 18 May 2017. According to the Swiss 
Financial Market Infrastructure Act (FinMIA), anyone holding 
shares in a company listed on the SIX is obliged to notify the com-
pany concerned and SIX as soon as their voting rights exceed or 
fall below certain thresholds. Under the Swiss Code of Obliga-
tions, the company is obliged to disclose the identity of all share-
holders holding more than 5 per cent of the shares in the notes to 
the annual financial statements.

The following is a summary of the holders of 3 or more per cent 
in Valartis Group AG, based on the published reports:

in per cent 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

MCG Holding SA, Baar ZG 68.8 50.3

Avalon Park Group Holding AG 1) 0.0 26.9

Gustav Stenbolt 2.3 1.4

Philipp LeibundGut 0.8 0.7

1)  Formerly Kähli Holding AG

As per 31 December 2023 the beneficial owners of MCG Holding 
SA are Gustav Stenbolt, Geneva, Tidesea Ltd., Fribourg (100 per 
cent controlled by Gustav Stenbolt, Geneva) and Philipp Leibund-
Gut, Zurich. The following are deemed to be holders of qualified 
participations: a) Gustav Stenbolt, who holds 85.1 per cent of the 
voting rights (80.2 per cent of the share capital) of MCG Holding 
SA (partly held through Tidesea Ltd.) and b) Philipp LeibundGut,
who holds 14.9 per cent of the voting rights (19.8 per cent of the 
share capital) of MCG Holding SA.

The shares held directly by Gustav Stenbolt and Philipp 
LeibundGut originate from current and previous years bonus 
plans run by Valartis companies for the Board of Directors and 
employees on the basis of their respective functions they held at 
the time of allocation.

As per 31 December 2022 the beneficial owner of Avalon Park 
Group Holding AG was Beat Kähli, Zurich.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION



VALARTIS GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023   |   NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT   |   87

29. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONS BY CURRENCY

2023 
in CHF 1,000

CHF EUR USD RUB Total  
currencies

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  894  1,037  381  288  2,600 

Trading portfolio assets  4,088  2,538  3,987  1,174  11,787 

Derivative financial instruments  5  -  5,273  -  5,278 

Other financial assets at fair value  1,234  17,265  -  -  18,499 

Due from third parties  331  190  29  846  1,396 

Accrued and deferred assets  269  40  276  49  634 

Total current assets  6,821  21,070  9,946  2,357  40,194 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  7,090  -  -  -  7,090 

Property, plant and equipment  1,247  27  -  -  1,274 

Investment property  -  -  -  27,629  27,629 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  -  -  -  1,281  1,281 

Associated companies  26,806  309  12,669  1  39,785 

Non-current receivables  4,636  2,862  816  12,245  20,559 

Total non-current assets  39,779  3,198  13,485  41,156  97,618 

Total current and non-current assets  46,600  24,268  23,431  43,513  137,812 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  -  -  -  -  - 

Total assets  137,812 

Claims arising from spot and forward transactions 428   -17,264  17,264  -  428

Total at 31 December 2023  47,028  7,004  40,695  43,513  138,240 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Accounts payables  112  287  -  514  913 

Current financial liabilities  5,033  10,479  -  94  15,606 

Derivative financial instruments  106  -  -  -  106 

Current tax liabilities  121  34  -  -  155 

Other current liabilities  2,544  94  224  663  3,525 

Current provisions  -  -  -  -  - 

Total current liabilities  7,916  10,894  224  1,271  20,305 

Non-current financial liabilities  1,388  -  21,961  1,120  24,469 

Defined benefit obligation  530  -  -  -  530 

Deferred tax liabilities  -  -  -  235  235 

Provisions  -  -  -  -  - 

Total non-current liabilities  1,918  -  21,961  1,355  25,234 

Shareholders’ equity  92,273  -  -  -  92,273 

On-balance-sheet liabilities  102,107  10,894  22,185  2,626  137,812 

Total liabilities  137,812 

Obligations arising from spot and forward transactions  -  -  428 - 428

Total at 31 December 2023  102,107  10,894  22,613  2,626  138,240 

Net position per currency 31 December 2023  -55,079  -3,890  18,082  40,887 
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2022 Restated 
in CHF 1,000

CHF EUR USD RUB Total  
currencies

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  5,010  2,263  85  917  8,275 

Trading portfolio assets  1,940  2,756  3,743  175  8,614 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  4,243  -  4,243 

Other financial assets at fair value  1,461  20,956  -  -  22,417 

Due from third parties  151  496  29  363  1,039 

Accrued and deferred assets  290  17  264  53  624 

Total current assets  8,852  26,488  8,364  1,508  45,212 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  29,766  -  -  -  29,766 

Property, plant and equipment  831  40  -  391  1,262 

Investment property  -  -  -  36,719  36,719 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  -  -  -  1,731  1,731 

Associated companies  24,737  -  13,640  2  38,379 

Non-current receivables  2,942  32,357  980  16,010  52,289 

Total non-current assets  58,276  32,397  14,620  54,853  160,146 

Total current and non-current assets  67,128  58,885  22,984  56,361  205,358 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  -  -  -  -  - 

Total assets  205,358 

Claims arising from forex spot and forward transactions  - -20,956 20,956  -  - 

Total at 31 December 2022  67,128  37,929  43,940  56,361  205,358 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Accounts payables  111  305  -  66  482 

Current financial liabilities  4,971  10,917  -  68  15,956 

Derivative financial instruments  27  -  -  -  27 

Current tax liabilities  111  36  -  -  147 

Other current liabilities  2,574  139  246  1,062  4,021 

Current provisions  -  -  -  -  - 

Total current liabilities  7,794  11,397  246  1,196  20,633 

Non-current financial liabilities  1,005  30,212  24,136  1,765  57,118 

Defined benefit obligation  144  -  -  -  144 

Deferred tax liabilities  -  -  -  356  356 

Provisions  -  -  -  3  3 

Total non-current liabilities  1,149  30,212  24,136  2,124  57,621 

Shareholders’ equity  127,104  -  -  -  127,104 

On-balance-sheet liabilities  136,047  41,609  24,382  3,320  205,358 

Total liabilities  205,358 

Obligations arising from forex spot and forward  
transactions  -  -  -  -  - 

Total at 31 December 2022  136,047  41,609  24,382  3,320  205,358 

Net position per currency 31 December 2022  -68,919  -3,680  19,558  53,041 
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30. MATURITY STRUCTURE OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ITEMS

2023 
in CHF 1,000

Demand Due within 3 
months

Due within 3 
to 12 months

Due within 1 
to 5 years

Due after 
5 years

Total 

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  2,447  153  -  -  -  2,600 

Trading portfolio assets  11,787  -  -  -  -  11,787 

Derivative financial instruments  -  5,273  5  -  -  5,278 

Other financial assets at fair value  -  17,264  1,235  -  -  18,499 

Due from third parties  67  639  690  -  -  1,396 

Accrued and deferred assets  10  389  235  -  -  634 

Total current assets  14,311  23,718  2,165  -  -  40,194 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  -  -  7,090  -  7,090 

Property, plant and equipment  -  68  206  876  124  1,274 

Investment property  -  -  -  -  27,629  27,629 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  -  -  -  -  1,281  1,281 

Associated companies  -  -  -  -  39,785  39,785 

Non-current receivables  -  -  -  20,559  -  20,559 

Total non-current assets  -  68  206  28,525  68,819  97,618 

Total current and non-current assets  14,311  23,786  2,371  28,525  68,819  137,812 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  - 

Total at 31 December 2023  14,311  23,786  2,371  28,525  68,819  137,812 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Accounts payables  -  634  279  -  -  913 

Current financial liabilities  10,479  -  5,127  -  -  15,606 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  106  -  -  106 

Current tax liabilities  -  40  115  -  -  155 

Other current liabilities  83  1,227  2,215  -  -  3,525 

Current provisions  -  -  -  -  - 

Total current liabilities  10,562  1,901  7,842  -  -  20,305 

Non-current financial liabilities  -  66  201  23,129  1,073  24,469 

Defined benefit obligation  -  -  -  530  -  530 

Deferred tax liabilities  -  -  -  -  235  235 

Provisions  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total non-current liabilities  -  66  201  23,659  1,308  25,234 

Total liabilities  45,539 

Contingent liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total at 31 December 2023  10,562  1,967  8,043  23,659  1,308  45,539 
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2022 Restated 
in CHF 1,000

Demand Due within 3 
months

Due within 3 
to 12 months

Due within 1 
to 5 years

Due after 
5 years

Total

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  7,855  420  -  -  -  8,275 

Trading portfolio assets  8,614  -  -  -  -  8,614 

Derivative financial instruments  -  4,243  -  -  -  4,243 

Other financial assets at fair value  -  20,956  1,461  -  -  22,417 

Due from third parties  33  964  42  -  -  1,039 

Accrued and deferred assets  17  404  203  -  -  624 

Total current assets  16,519  26,987  1,706  -  -  45,212 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  -  -  29,766  -  29,766 

Property, plant and equipment  -  149  433  525  155  1,262 

Investment property  -  -  -  -  36,719  36,719 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  -  -  -  -  1,731  1,731 

Associated companies  -  -  -  -  38,379  38,379 

Non-current receivables  -  -  -  52,289  -  52,289 

Total non-current assets  -  149  433  82,580  76,984  160,146 

Total current and non-current assets  16,519  27,136  2,139  82,580  76,984  205,358 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  - 

Total at 31 December 2022  16,519  27,136  2,139  82,580  76,984  205,358 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Accounts payables  -  182  300  -  -  482 

Current financial liabilities  71  71  15,814  -  -  15,956 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  27  -  -  27 

Current tax liabilities  -  37  110  -  -  147 

Other current liabilities  114  1,587  2,320  -  -  4,021 

Current provisions  -  -  -  -  - 

Total current liabilities  185  1,877  18,571  -  -  20,633 

Non-current financial liabilities  -  149  425  55,161  1,383  57,118 

Defined benefit obligation  -  -  -  144  -  144 

Deferred tax liabilities  -  -  -  -  356  356 

Provisions  -  -  -  3  -  3 

Total non-current liabilities  -  149  425  55,308  1,739  57,621 

Total liabilities  78,254 

Contingent liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total at 31 December 2022  185  2,026  18,996  55,308  1,739  78,254 
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31. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values 
of financial assets and financial liabilities:

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 Restated

Book value Fair value Variation Book value Fair value Variation

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  2,600  2,600  -  8,275  8,275  - 

Due from third parties  1,396  1,396  -  1,039  1,039  - 

Accrued and deferred assets  634  634  -  624  624  - 

Non-current receivables  20,559  20,559  -  52,289  52,289  - 

Financial assets at amortised costs  25,189  25,189  -  62,227  62,227  - 

Trading portfolio assets  11,787  11,787  -  8,614  8,614  - 

Derivative financial instruments  5,278  5,278  -  4,243  4,243  - 

Other financial assets at fair value  18,499  18,499  -  22,417  22,417  - 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  7,090  7,090  -  29,766  29,766  - 

Financial assets at fair value  42,654  42,654  -  65,040  65,040  - 

Liabilities

Accounts payables  913  913  -  482  482  - 

Current financial liabilities  15,606  15,606  -  15,956  15,956  - 

Current income taxes  155  155  -  147  147  - 

Other current liabilities  3,525  3,525  -  4,021  4,021  - 

Non-current financial liabilities  24,469  24,469  -  57,118  57,118  - 

Financial liabilities at amortised costs  44,668  44,668  -  77,724  77,724  - 

Derivative financial instruments  106  106  -  27  27  - 

Financial liabilities at fair value  106  106  -  27  27  - 
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The following table shows the financial assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value, classified by a fair value hierarchy of three  

levels. For an explanation of the levels, please refer to the ac-
counting principles, pages 54 and 55.

2023 
in CHF 1,000 
 

Quoted market prices 
(level 1)

Valuation method  
based on  

market data  
(level 2)

Valuation method  
not based on  
market data  

(level 3)

31.12.2023 
 
 

Assets

Trading portfolio assets  9,665  164  1,958  11,787 

Derivative financial instruments  5  5,273  -  5,278 

Other financial assets at fair value  17,265  -  1,234  18,499 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  7,090  -  7,090 

Investment property  -  -  27,629  27,629 

Assets at fair value  26,935  12,527  30,821  70,283 

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  -  106  -  106 

Total financial liabilities at fair value  -  106  -  106 

2022 Restated 
in CHF 1,000 
 

Quoted market prices 
(level 1)

Valuation method  
based on  

market data  
(level 2)

Valuation method  
not based on  
market data  

(level 3)

31.12.2022 
 
 

Assets

Trading portfolio assets  6,592  50  1,972  8,614 

Derivative financial instruments  -  4,243  -  4,243 

Other financial assets at fair value  20,956  -  1,461  22,417 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  29,766  -  29,766 

Investment property  -  -  36,719  36,719 

Assets at fair value  27,548  34,059  40,152  101,759 

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  -  27  -  27 

Total financial liabilities at fair value  -  27  -  27 
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The following table shows the movements of level 3 financial as-
sets and liabilities measured at fair value:

2023 
in CHF 1,000 
 

1.1.2023 Recognised 
in the 

income 
statement

Net income 
recognised 

in OCI

Transfer 
from/(to) 

level 1 and 
level 2 

Purchase 
 
 

Sales 
 
 

31.12.2023 

Trading portfolio assets  1,972  -14  -  -  1,958 

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - -

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other financial assets at fair value  1,461  -227  -  -  -  -  1,234 

Investment property  36,719  -507  -9,610  -  1,027  -  27,629 

Total assets at fair value (level 3)  40,152 - 748  -9,610  -  1,027  -  30,821 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total financial liabilities at fair value  
(level 3)  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

2022 Restated 
in CHF 1,000 
 

1.1.2022 Recognised 
in the 

income 
statement

Net income 
recognised 

in OCI

Transfer 
from/(to) 

level 1 and 
level 2 

Purchase 
 
 

Sales 
 
 

31.12.2022 

Trading portfolio assets  5,323  -168  -  -  -3,183  1,972 

Derivative financial instruments - - -  -  -  - -

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other financial assets at fair value  1,629  -168  -  -  -  -  1,461 

Investment property  36,195  -1,882  1,512  -  894  -  36,719 

Total assets at fair value (level 3)  43,147  -2,218  1,512  -  894  -3,183  40,152 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Total financial liabilities at fair value  
(level 3)  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
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Explanation of significant unobservable input parameters
The valuation of trading positions classified as level 3 is based on 
the annual financial statements of the corresponding securities 
and individual transactions observable on the market.

Significant unobservable input parameters for the valuation of 
 investment property are the following:

Significant, unobservable inputs in the evaluation of the investment property Petrovsky Fort 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Fair value of Petrovsky Fort (investment property)

in RUB 2,837,100,000 2,793,330,000

in CHF 26,557,000 35,823,000

Capitalisation rate for income capitalisation 10.75% 10.50%

Discount rate for discounted cash flow 15.50% 15.00%

Estimated Rental Value (ERV) per square meter in RUB 13,133 12,750

Effects of changes in input parameters on fair value
The fair values of the investment property were determined us-
ing a 3 per cent vacancy rate for 2023 year-end valuation. Should 
this rate be increased by 5 per cent, the valuation of the property 
would decrease by RUB 53 million from RUB 2,837.1 million to 
RUB 2,784.1 million. The previous year valuation used a 3 per cent 
vacancy rate and had this rate increased by 5 per cent, the 2022 
year-end valuation would have reduced by RUB 52.4 million from 
RUB 2,793.3 million to RUB 2,740.9 million.

 
If the ERV (Estimated Rental Value) decreases by 5 per cent then 
the value of the investment property would decrease by RUB 
128.5 million from RUB 2,837.1 million to RUB 2,708.6 million. The 
same variance of ERV would have caused the investment property 
to decrease by RUB 132.8 million from RUB 2,793.3 million to RUB 
2,660.5 million for the 2022 year-end valuation.

 
32. INFORMATION ON HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022  
(restated)

Fair value hedges

Forward contract (spot element)  4,696  3,180 

Total  4,696  3,180 

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022

Ineffectiveness

Fair value hedges  -  - 

Total  -  - 
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33. LONG TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAMME (LTI)

Number 2023 2022

Holdings of rights at 1 January  -  - 

Allotted rights (addition) 1)  31,900  66,000 

Granted during the year (reduction) 1)  -31,900  -66,000 

Holdings of rights at 31 December  -  - 

Average price of shares upon allotment, in CHF  13.35  17.00 

in CHF 1,000

Charged as personnel expense in the year under review  -260  -666 

of which continued operations  -260  -666 

of which discontinued operations  -  - 

1)  Refer to Valartis Group all shares granted to participants of the Long Term Incentive Programme.

The Long Term Incentive Programme (the “LTI”) as implemented 
by the Group is a share-based performance-related remunera-
tion offered to elected members of the Board of Directors and 
Executive Management as well as employees to reward and re-
tain them on a long-term basis. The LTI package consists of a cer-
tain number of grant shares (“Award Shares”) in combination of a 
sale of shares at preferential conditions (“Purchase Shares”) fi-
nanced by way of a loan granted by the Valartis Group. The shares 
are awarded or sold at a preferential price corresponding to 84 
per cent of the relevant market price on the day of shares alloca-
tion because the shares are restricted for a period of 3 years and 
cannot be sold during this period.

Ownership of shares will only vest to the eligible participant if 
their employment or mandate contract with Valartis Group, or a 
subsidiary controlled by Valartis Group has not been terminated. 
In case, they have left the Group: 

 – as a good leaver, both Award and Purchase Shares remain vest-
ed to the eligible participant

 – as a medium leaver, Award Shares remain vested to the eligible 
participant. The Group has the right, but not the obligation to 
acquire any Purchase Shares at the lower of original purchase 
price and the fair market value.

 – as a bad leaver, the Group has the right, but not the obligation 
to acquire any Award and Purchase Shares at the lower of orig-
inal purchase price and the fair market value.

 
The Long Term Incentive Agreement governs conditions and the 
definition of good, medium and bad leaver.

In case, the Group would repurchase any restricted shares, it will 
reallocate them as well as the loan portion to one or more partic-
ipants or buy them for its account to be reissued in a future pro-
gramme.

In addition, put options are granted to each LTI participant for all 
Award and Purchase Shares in order to cover the loan value at  
maturity in case the market value of the shares would not be suf-
ficient. The strike price has been set a 42 per cent of the relevant 
market price on the day of shares allocation.

The Group fulfils its requirement in regard to the LTI shares distri-
bution using its treasury shares acquired over the former periods.
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34. RELATED PARTIES AND COMPANIES

Persons and companies are considered related parties if they could 
control the Group or can exert a significant influence on operatio-

nal and financial decisions. The following table provides an over-
view of transactions with related parties and companies:

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Assets

Key management and relatives  587  504 

Associated companies  15,903  19,051 

Other related entities 1)  4,490  32,532 

Total  20,980  52,087 

Liabilities

Key management and relatives  -  - 

Associated companies  592  72 

Other related entities  -  82 

Total  592  154 

Expenses

Key management and relatives  -998  -1,133 

Associated companies  -1  - 

Other related entities  -428  -615 

Total  -1,427  -1,748 

Income 

Key management and relatives  8  1 

Associated companies  4,643  10,694 

Other related entities  2,074  4,531 

Total  6,725  15,226 

1)  Includes CHF 0.6 million (previous year: CHF 0.4 million) loan granted to the LTI 
participant to finance the Purchase Shares, please refer to Note 33.

Assets in associated companies comprise CHF 10.1 million prom-
issory notes and loans to Kaluga Flower Holding LLC, CHF 2.9 mil-
lion of loans toward Inkonika LLC, a loan of CHF 2.9 million to So-
ciété des Carrières SA. Assets other related entities comprises a 
loan of CHF 3.6 million granted to a company privately held by the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors (see Note 28). In 2022, Assets 
Other related entities included a CHF 29.5 million promissory 
notes to EPH, which was reimbursed in 2023.

Expenses for other related parties include an amount of CHF 0.2 mil-
lion which is attributable to the following circumstances: after 
the additional time burden for a Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors and Delegate of the Board of Directors due to the very large 
reduction of staff in the Group service organisation has increased 
significantly and since 2017 included tasks which traditionally 

 
 
are not directly performed by these two functions, a consulting  
agreement was concluded between a Valartis Group company 
and a Swiss stock corporation privately held by the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors. This agreement provides for the provision 
of national and international advisory services in the areas of the 
Group’s investment policy and strategy and asset management, 
in particular short-term cash management, business develop-
ment and project development. The contract was concluded with 
Valartis International Ltd. because this company uses most of 
these consulting and management services. In 2023, the fee from 
the consulting contract amounted to CHF 0.2 million plus VAT 
(2022: CHF 0.2 million). The fee is included in the total remunera-
tion of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Delegate of 
the Board of Directors and is disclosed in the Compensation Re-
port on page 30.
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35. LOANS AND SHARE HOLDINGS BY MEMBERS OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
 
2023
Members of the Board of Directors 
 

Gustav Stenbolt, 
Chairman & Delegate 

of the BoD

Philipp LeibundGut, 
Vice Chairman

Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member 

Diana Stenbolt, 
Member 4) 

Total 
 

Numbers of shares  1,901,395  344,472  15,115  2,750 2,263,732 

Loans and advances in CHF 1)  384,033  150,056  32,118  21,251 587,458 

Loans and advances in CHF  
to related parties  3,625,963  -  -  -  3,625,963 

Number of put options  
(balance) 2) 3)  71,000  24,000  6,300  2,750 104,050 

1)  Refer to loan granted to finance (“Purchase Shares”) within the Long Term 
Incentive Programme 2023, 2022, 2021 and 2020

2)  Put options have been granted to each LTI participant for all Award and 
Purchase Shares in order to cover the loan value at maturity in case the market 

     value of the shares would not be sufficient to reimburse the financing loan.
3)  1:1 ratio with Group’s shares
4)  Diana Stenbolt was elected by the General Shareholder’s Meeting on 16 May 

2023 as member of the Board of Directors.

2022
Members of the Board of Directors 
 

Gustav Stenbolt, 
Chairman & Delegate of 

the BoD

Philipp LeibundGut,  
Vice Chairman

Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member 

Total 
 

 
Numbers of shares  1,899,760  352,112  14,415  2,266,287 

Loans and advances in CHF 1)  317,569  158,785  27,776  504,130 

Loans and advances in CHF  
to related parties  2,065,680  -  -  2,065,680 

Number of put options  
(balance) 2) 3)  60,000  30,000  5,600  95,600 

1)  Refer to loan granted to finance (“Purchase Shares”) within the Long Term 
Incentive Programme 2022, 2021 and 2020

2)  Put options have been granted to each LTI participant for all Award and  
Purchase Shares in order to cover the loan value at maturity in case the market 
value of the shares would not be sufficient to reimburse the financing loan.

3)  1:1 ratio with Group’s shares

Loans, shares and options held by the members  
of the Executive Management 2023 and 2022
Loans, shares and options held by Gustav Stenbolt as Delegate of 
the Board of Directors are shown above under Loans, shares and  
 

 
 
options held by the members of the Board of Directors 2023 and 
2022.
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36. BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

In the current organisational structure, there is only one  
management level in the sense of a leading decisions-maker 
(Delegate of the Board of Directors). Valartis Group now only has 
one single segment and, in accordance with IFRS 8, reporting is 
only for one component of the company.

Valartis Group’s external segment reporting is based on the  
internal reporting as of 31 December 2023.

Valartis Group prepares a monthly Management Report contai-
ning consolidated financial information for the Executive  
 
 

 
 
 
Management and quarterly for the Board of Directors. The same 
principles apply to the valuation as to the consolidated financial 
statements. Management reviews the consolidated financial in-
formation and uses it in its management decisions to imple-
ment the overall strategy.

Information on geographical areas by the domicile of the repor-
ting unit is shown below. This geographical information does 
not reflect the Group’s management structure.

Information on regions

in CHF 1,000 1.1.–31.12.2023 1.1.–31.12.2022 Restated

Domestic Non-domestic Total Domestic Non-domestic Total

Operating income  4,518  6,234  10,752  4,600  15,993  20,593 

Total assets  49,920  87,892  137,812  74,167  131,191  205,358 

 
Reporting is based on operating locations. 

Information about services
In 2023, the Financial Services represented an operating income 
of CHF 3.3 million (2022: CHF 5.2 million) and the Real estate 
management represented an operating income of CHF 3.7 mil-
lion (2022: CHF 4.8 million).

Information about major customers
In 2023, the revenues related to external customers exceeding 10 
per cent or more of Group’s revenue amounted to CHF 2.1 million 
(2022: CHF 3.7 million).
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37. GROUP COMPANIES

In addition to the financials of Valartis Group AG, Fribourg, the consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of 
the following fully consolidated companies and associated companies:

Fully consolidated entities Domicile Purpose Currency Share capital Participation 
in per cent 

31.12.2023

Participation 
in per cent 

31.12.2022

 
Valartis International Ltd. Tortola, BVI Investment Advisor USD  20,000,000 100.00 100.00

 
VLR Property Management Ltd. Moscow, RU Investment Advisor RUB  100,000 99.99 99.99

 
ENR Russia Invest SA (Group) Geneva, CH Investment Company CHF  32,790,585 63.22 63.22

 
ENR Investment Ltd. Limassol, CY Investment Company EUR  6,576,660 63.22 63.22

ENR Private Equity Ltd.
Grand  

Cayman, CYM Investment Company USD  500 63.22 63.22

 
Stainfield Ltd. Limassol, CY Holding Company EUR  3,420 63.22 63.22

ENR Development LLC
St. Petersburg, 

RU
Real estate project  

Company RUB  15,535,100 63.22 63.22

Petrovsky Fort LLC
St. Petersburg, 

RU
Real estate  

Company RUB  18,000 63.22 63.22

 
Romsay Properties Ltd. Limassol, CY Holding Company EUR  1,710 63.22 63.22

Eastern Property Partners II LP
Grand  

Cayman, CYM Holding Company USD  67,831,133 63.22 63.22

EPP GP Ltd.
Grand  

Cayman, CYM Holding Company USD  50,000 63.22 63.22

Parking Clé de Rive SA Geneva, CH
Real estate project  

Company CHF  148,500 50.98 50.98

 
Valartis Finance Holding AG Vaduz, FL Holding Company CHF  100,000 100.00 100.00

 
Valartis AG Fribourg, CH Holding Company CHF  100,000 100.00 100.00

MCT Luxembourg Management 
S.à.r.l. Luxembourg, L Investment Advisor EUR  12,085 100.00 100.00

Valartis Advisory Services SA Geneva, CH
Investment Advisory  

and Corporate Centre CHF  1,896,210 100.00 100.00

 
Valartis Group Foundation Vaduz, FL Foundation CHF  30,000 100.00 100.00

VLR Germany GmbH
Frankfurt am 

Main, DE Investment Advisor EUR  25,000 100.00 100.00

 
VLR Austria GmbH Vienna, AT Investment Advisor EUR  35,000 100.00 100.00

 
Valartis Property Holdings Ltd Tortola, BVI Holding Company USD  - 100.00 100.00

 
Valartis M LLC Moscow, RU Corporate director RUB  100,000 Liquidated 80.00
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Associated companies and  
joint arrangements

Domicile Purpose Currency Share capital Participation in 
per cent 

31 December 
2023

Participation in 
per cent 

31 December 
2022

 
 
Norinvest Holding SA Geneva, CH

Holding  
Company CHF  22,000,000 32.46 32.53

Darsi Investment Ltd. Tortola, BVI

Real estate  
project  

Company EUR  7,476,190 38.81 38.81

 
 
Société des Carrières SA Luxembourg, L

Holding  
Company EUR  33,000 33.33 33.33

 
 
Vestive Ltd Nicosia, CY

Holding  
Company EUR  5,000 50.00 50.00

 
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG 
MS “Langeoog” Leer, DE

Holding  
Company EUR  2,900,000 Liquidated 50.00

 
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG 
MS “Folmhusen” Leer, DE

Holding  
Company EUR  5,000,000 50.00 50.00

 
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG 
MS “Nesseborg” Leer, DE

Holding  
Company EUR  5,000,000 50.00 50.00

 
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG 
MS “Marz” Leer, DE

Holding  
Company EUR  5,003,208 50.00 50.00

 
 
Inkonika LLC Moscow, RU

Real estate  
Company RUB  16,510,836 50.00 50.00

Kaluga Flower Holding LLC
Kaluga Oblast, 

RU

Flower  
Production  

Company RUB  64,010,000 50.00 50.00

 
Florentika Mangement Company 
LLC

Kaluga Oblast, 
RU

Corporate 
director RUB  20,000 50.00 50.00

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition during the financial year
There was no acquisition of subsidiaries during the current finan-
cial year.

Acquisition in the same period of the previous year
There was no acquisition of subsidiaries during the previous fi-
nancial year.
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39. ACQUISITION OF ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

Acquisition during the financial year
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”
On the 29 March and 13 September 2023, Valartis Group pro-
ceeded with a third and fourth tranches of investment for CHF 
2.1 million in Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”. The 
latter has finalised the construction of a mid-size container car-
go, which is now operating. The Company is a German KG (Kom-
manditgesellschaft) i.e. a limited partnership, characterised by 
the fact that at least one personally liable partner is present, who 
is indefinitely liable for the company’s liabilities with his entire 
assets. The KG is the only mixed form among the partnerships in  
which, in addition to this or these personally liable partners,  

there are also partners who are only liable with their capital con-
tribution.
 
Valartis Group values this capital contribution as a limited part-
ner at cost. Any differences between this estimate and actual 
results will be adjusted in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements when available.

As of 31 December 2023, Valartis Group’s investment in Briese 
Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz” amounts to CHF 6.2 million.

Capital contribution in Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”
in CHF 1,000 Briese Schiffahrts GmbH 

& Co. KG MS “Marz”
 
Current assets, including cash & cash equivalents 12,324

Non-current assets, including investment property n/a

Total assets n/a

Current liabilities n/a

Non-current liabilities n/a

Total liabilities n/a

Equity  12,324 

Proportion of the Group’s ownership in per cent  50.00 

Group’s share of equity  6,162 

Unrecognised Group’s share of equity n/a

Carrying amount of the investment in associated company  6,162 

Purchase price paid cash as of 24.11.2021  2,595 

Purchase price paid cash as of 25.07.2022  1,430 

Purchase price paid cash as of 29.03.2023  1,247 

Purchase price paid cash as of 13.09.2023  890 

Goodwill  - 

Net cash outflow in 2021  -2,595 

Net cash outflow in 2022  -1,430 

Net cash outflow in 2023  -2,137 

Acquisition in the same period of the previous year
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”
On the 25 July 2022, Valartis Group proceeded with a second 
tranche of investment of CHF 1.4 million following a first  
 

 
 
tranche of investment of CHF 2.6 million in November 2021 in 
Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”.
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40. SALE TRANSACTIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Disposals during the financial year
During the first half year 2023, the Group finalised the liquida-
tion of the Group Company Valartis M LLC, which was dormant
with no asset or liabilities. No gain or loss has been recognised
following the liquidation of this entity.

Disposal in the same period of the previous year
During the first half year 2022, the Group finalised the liquida-
tion of the Group Company Vaba1 Holding GmbH in Liquidation.
The result from discontinued operations is related to a gain on  
 
 

liquidation of Vaba1 Holding GmbH in Liquidation due to transfer
of cumulated foreign currency translation difference from equity
to income statement.

in CHF 1,000 10.02.2022

Balance sheet at closing date
Vaba1 Holding GmbH 

in Liquidation

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  37 

Total assets  37 

Liabilities

Total liabilities  - 

Net assets  37 

Gain from sale of subsidiary before currency translation differences  - 

Transfer of cumulated foreign currency translation difference from  
equity of Valartis Group to income statement  435 

Gain from liquidation of subsidiary  435 
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41. SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table shows the information on each subsidiary of 
the Group with significant non-controlling interests. Figures re-
fer to the figures before intra-group elimination:

in CHF 1,000 Parking Clé de Rive SA ENR Russia Invest SA

31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Share of non-controlling interests in per cent

Participation 49.02% 49.02% 36.78% 36.78%

Voting rights 49.02% 49.02% 36.78% 36.78%

Total asset  30  30  43,682  56,447 

Total liabilities  1,422  1,422  14,737  14,763 

Net asset  -1,392  -1,392  28,945  41,684 

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests  -681  -681  11,314  16,000 

Operating income  -1 -1  585  1,096 

Profit/loss  -1  -1  -7,948  177 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -4,792  707 

Total comprehensive income  -1  -1  -12,740  884 

(Loss)/profit allocated to non-controlling  
interests  -  -  -2,923  65 

Other comprehensive income allocated to 
non-controlling interests  -  -  -1,763  259 

Cash flow from operating activities  -1  -  925  2,605 

Cash flow investing from investment activities  -  -  -1,015  -886 

Cash flow from financing activity  -  -  110  -1,808 

Foreign currency translation effects  -  -  -101  5 

Net cash flow  -1  -  -81  -84 

Paid dividends to non-controlling interests  -  -  -  - 
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Changes in non-controlling interests
The following table shows the effects of the change in the share-
holding quota on non-controlling interests (minorities):

in CHF 1,000 Parking Clé  
de Rive SA

ENR Russia  
Invest SA

2022 2022

 
Non-controlling interests at 1 January -681 15,676

Gains/losses from financial assets at fair value through OCI - -

Foreign exchange translation differences -  259 

Other comprehensive income  -  259 

Net (loss)/profit  -  65 

Total comprehensive income  -  324 

Transaction with non-controlling interests  -  - 

Increase in capital  -  - 

Owner-related changes  -  - 

Total non-controlling interests at 31 December  -681  16,000 

Parking Clé de Rive SA ENR Russia  
Invest SA

2023 2023

Non-controlling interests at 1 January  -681  16,000 

Gains/losses from financial assets at fair value through OCI - -

Foreign exchange translation differences -  -1,763 

Other comprehensive income  -  -1,763 

Net (loss)/profit  -  -2,923 

Total comprehensive income  -  -4,686 

Transaction with non-controlling interests  -  - 

Increase in capital  -  - 

Owner-related changes  -  - 

Total non-controlling interests at 31 December  -681  11,314 
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42. STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Valartis Group acts as an investment advisor to a collective in-
vestment instrument that meets the definition of IFRS 12 for 
structured entities. As Valartis Group acted as an agent in the 
interests of investors, this investment instrument was not con-
solidated. As of 31 December 2023, there was no contractual or 
constructive obligations to provide financial or other support to 
the investment fund. Valartis Group took on various adminis-
trative tasks for the collective investment instrument. For these  
services, it was compensated with customary market fees.  

Gross income from services for the collective investment instru-
ment amounted to CHF 0.5 million for the 2023 financial year 
(2022: CHF 0.9 million). Shares in own investment funds held by 
Valartis Group were treated as financial instruments.

The following table shows the development of the book value 
of the units in the collective investment instruments held by 
Valartis Group. The carrying amount corresponds to the maxi-
mum risk of loss.
 

in CHF 1,000 Trading portfolio assets Trading portfolio assets

2023 2022

Carrying amount 1 January  1,959  2,067 

Purchase  -  - 

Sales  -  - 

Recognised in the income statement  -1  -108 

Total as of 31 December  1,958  1,959 

43. ASSETS PLEDGED OR ASSIGNED TO SECURE OWN LIABILITIES AND ASSETS UNDER RESERVATION  
OF OWNERSHIP

in CHF 1,000 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Market value Effective 
commitment

Market value Effective 
commitment

 
Cash and cash equivalents  420  146  559  146 

Trading portfolio assets  9,028  4,900  7,821  4,900 

Other financial assets at fair value  17,894  21,961  17,894  24,377 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI  6,355  -  16,150  - 

Investment property  27,629  10,479  37,243  10,910 

Non-current receivables  9,570  -  11,773  - 

Total  70,896  37,486  91,440  40,333 

44. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

None.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

  

 
 

 

 
BDO Ltd, a limited company under Swiss law, incorporated in Zurich, forms part of the international BDO Network of independent member firms. 

 
 

  

 

 

Phone +41 22 322 24 24 
www.bdo.ch 
geneve@bdo.ch 

BDO Ltd 
Rte de Meyrin 123 
P.O. Box 150 
1215 Geneva 15 

 

STATUTORY AUDITOR'S REPORT  

To the general meeting of Valartis Group AG, Fribourg 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Valartis Group AG and its subsidiaries (the 
Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and 
the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated financial statements (pages 37 to 105) give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and 
Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are 
further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements" section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions 
of Swiss law, together with the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, as well as those of the 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key Audit Matter How the Key Audit Matter was addressed in 
the audit  

Valuation of the investment property 
"Petrovsky Fort" 
As of 31 December 2023, the investment property 
"Petrovsky Fort" is valued at KCHF 27,629 in the 
consolidated financial statements. This corresponds 
to 20 percent of the total assets as of 
31 December 2023. 

On initial recognition (30 September 2014), the 
investment property was recognised at cost. For 
subsequent measurement, it is recorded at fair value 
and changes are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The fair value 
is determined on the basis of an independent third 
party valuation. 

In our view, this key position was of particular 
importance due to the associated discretionary 
powers and estimates of the Management and 
external experts. 

The valuation techniques used are subjective in 
nature and involve key assumptions concerning the 
pricing factors. These key assumptions include 
occupancy rate, future rental cash flows, 
capitalisation rates and discount rates. The use of 
different valuation techniques could result in 
different estimates of fair value. 

The Group explains the accounting principles applied 
section "major accounting principle". Please also 
refer to notes 8 and 17 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
 

We have examined the valuation on the basis of the 
report from an independent real estate expert. We 
assessed the objectivity, independence and 
expertise of the valuation specialist.  

With the support of real estate specialists with 
experience of the Russian market, we have verified 
the appropriateness of the valuation method and the 
underlying assumptions used. We also assessed the 
adequacy of the input factors used on the basis of 
supporting documentation. These input factors 
included rent, occupancy rate, interest rates and 
expected maintenance costs.  

We also focused on the correct application of IFRS 13 
and IAS 40 and the adequacy of disclosures in the 
annual report in connection with this investment 
property. 
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Key Audit Matter How the Key Audit Matter was addressed in 
the audit  

Valuation of the loans to Kaluga Flower 
Holding LLC   
The Group acquired a 50 percent interest in Kaluga 
Flower Holding LLC (KFH) in late 2019. KFH 
subsequently acquired a greenhouse facility for 
flower growing in Kaluga Oblast in Russia through a 
public auction.  

As of 31 December 2023, Group loans toward Kaluga 
Flower Holding LLC was valued at KCHF 7,155 and 
accrued interest for a total value of KCHF 2,992 to 
Kaluga Flower Holding LLC which are presented as 
non-current receivables in the consolidated financial 
statements. The loans were used by KFH to purchase 
a greenhouse facility in a public auction and for 
capital and operational expenses. In 2021 the loans 
were converted into promissory notes and were 
pledged for KFH to obtain loan facilities. This 
corresponds to 7.4 percent of total assets as of 
31 December 2023. 

In our view, this key position was of particular 
importance due to the development phase of the 
project and the judgement basis included in the 
impairment analysis performed by management.  

The Group explains the accounting principles applied 
in section "major accounting principle". Please also 
refer to notes 19, 20, 34, and 37 of the consolidated 
financial statements 

 
 

We have assessed the underlying information and 
supporting documentation for the recording of the 
loans.  

We confirmed the IFRS classification as Financial 
assets at amortised cost as per IFRS 9. 

We have also reviewed the assumptions by 
Management and the calculations made in assessing 
the need for impairment of the loans. We assessed 
the adequacy of the input information used for the 
valuation and revaluation analysis, which include 
financial statements, budget and long-term business 
plan.  

 

We have also assessed presentation in the annual 
report and the adequacy of disclosures in relation 
with the impairment review of the loans by the 
management. 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, 
the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, the compensation report and our auditor’s 
report thereon.  

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information,we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, 
which give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS, and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such 
internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and SA-CH will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements is located at EXPERTsuisse's website at: https://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-
for-ordinary-audits. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control 
system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.  

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

Geneva, 28 March 2024  

BDO Ltd 

Nigel Le Masurier 

Auditor in Charge 
Licensed audit expert 

Olivier Griot 

Licensed audit expert 
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INCOME STATEMENT OF VALARTIS GROUP AG

Income

in CHF Note 1.1.– 31.12.2023 1.1.– 31.12.2022

Reversal of impairment on financial assets and investments (net) 3.1  -  7,070,420 

Other financial income 3.2  3,078,852  57,514 

Total income  3,078,852  7,127,934 

Expenses

Impairment on financial assets and securities investments (net) 3.3 -1,650,825  - 

Operating expenses 3.4 -1,616,271 -1,306,737 

Financial expenditure 3.5 -364,392 -53,786 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment -2,547 -2,547 

Result for the year before extraordinary and off-period income and taxes -555,183  5,764,864 

Extraordinary and out-of-period income 3.6  45,350  6,578 

Result before tax -509,833  5,771,442 

Direct Taxes -21,600 -21,600 

Annual result -531,433  5,749,842 
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Assets

in CHF Note 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Current assets

Due from banks  203,000  80,730 

Trading portfolio  4,833  2,564 

Other short-term receivables 4.1  222,208  207,980 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  30,440  58,004 

Total current assets  460,481  349,278 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment  1,090  3,637 

Loans 4.2  1,043,983  925,279 

Financial assets 4.3  -  4,604,873 

Participations 4.4  96,028,925  97,679,749 

Total non-current assets  97,073,998  103,213,538 

Total assets  97,534,479  103,562,816 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity

Short-term liabilities

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 4.5  24,674,151  8,410,637 

Accrued expenses and deferred income  550,848  294,184 

Total short-term liabilities  25,224,999  8,704,821 

Long-term liabilities

Other long-term liabilities  105,786  26,628 

Total long-term liabilities  105,786  26,628 

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 4.6  3,126,295  4,299,295 

Legal retained earnings

General legal retained earnings  1,000,000  1,000,000 

Reserve for treasury shares 4.7  4,038,727  4,541,838 

Voluntary retained earnings

General voluntary retained earnings  1,514,661  20,518,540 

Profit brought forward  64,471,694  58,721,852 

(Loss)/Profit for the year -531,433  5,749,842 

Treasury shares 4.7 -1,416,250  - 

Total shareholders’ equity  72,203,694  94,831,367 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  97,534,479  103,562,816 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF VALARTIS GROUP AG
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Company/name, domicile
Valartis Group AG, rue de Romont 29/31, Fribourg. Swiss company 
identification number (UID) CHE-101.833.144.

Number of full-time employees
The Company had no employees in the year under review (previ-
ous year: none).

2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

General information on the accounting principles
The financial statements were prepared according to the provi-
sions of the Swiss Code of Obligations (Art. 959 ff.). All amounts 
are disclosed in CHF unless expressed otherwise. The main valu-
ation principles, other than required by law are explained below:

Securities
Investments are carried at cost less any necessary write-downs.

Long Term Incentive Programme
Expenditures related to the Valartis Group shares awarded or 
sold to Company’s Board member as well as to employees of sub-
sidiaries at preferential price as part of the Long Term Incentive 
Programme have been charged to other operating expenses. De-
tails on the compensation system can be found in the Compen-
sation Report (see page 26 ff).

Information on exchange rates
The financial statements are kept and accounted for in Swiss 
francs. For foreign currency translations, closing rates are used  

for the balance sheet items, average rates are used for transac-
tions during the year and the income statement.

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

USD balance-sheet date rate 0.8401 0.9233

USD average price 0.8973 0.9537

EUR balance-sheet date rate 0.9281 0.9839

EUR average price 0.9716 1.0022

Treasury shares
Treasury shares are held for the purpose of servicing employee 
participation programmes. Treasury shares held directly are recog-
nised at cost as a negative item in equity at the time of acquisition.

On subsequent resale, the gain or loss is recognised in the income 
statement as financial income or expense. For indirect  Valartis 
Group AG shares held by other Group companies, a reserve for 
treasury shares is created in equity.

In case of cancellation, the corresponding treasury shares re-
serve is offset with corresponding amount of General voluntary 
retained earnings and share capital.

No cash flow statement and additional disclosures in the
appendix
Since Valartis Group AG prepares consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with a recognised accounting standard 
(IFRS), it has waived the disclosures in the notes on interest-bear-
ing liabilities and auditing fees as well as the presentation of  
a cash flow statement in these annual financial statements in 
accordance with statutory provisions.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. INCOME STATEMENT 

in CHF 2023 2022

3.1 Reversal of impairment on financial assets and investments (net)

Reversals of impairment on investments  -  7,327,025 

Allowances for investments  - -256,605 

Total  -  7,070,420 

In 2022, Reversal of impairment losses relates to Valartis Inter-
national Ltd (CHF 7.1 million) and ENR Russia  Invest SA (CHF 0.2 

million). Allowance for investments mainly relates to Valartis 
Advisory Services SA (CHF 0.2 million). 

in CHF 2023 2022

3.2 Other financial income

Income from cash and marketable securities  2,665  44,293 

Gains on sale of financial assets  3,062,077  - 

Fair value adjustment on long term liabilities  -  11,745 

Interest income  14,110  1,476 

Total  3,078,852  57,514 

in CHF 2023 2022

3.3 Impairment on financial assets and investments (net)

Reversals of impairment on investments  1,425,936  - 

Allowances for investments -3,076,761  - 

Total -1,650,825  - 

 
In 2023, the allowance for investments relates to ENR Russia 
 Invest SA (CHF 3.0 million) and Valartis Advisory Services SA  

 
(CHF 0.1 million) Reversal of impairment losses relates to Valartis 
International Ltd (CHF 1.4 million).

in CHF 2023 2022

3.4 Operating expenses

Occupancy expense -15,116 -14,989 

Consulting and auditing expenses -269,479 -165,782 

Other operating expenses -1,331,676 -1,125,966 

Total -1,616,271 -1,306,737 

Other operating expenses include intercompany cost alloca-
tions based on a service level agreement (transfer pricing) of  
CHF 1.2 million (previous year: CHF 0.9 million).
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in CHF 2023 2022

3.5 Financial expenditure 

Interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities to third parties -2,483 -281 

Interest expense from interest-bearing liabilities to subsidiaries -288,733 -42,506 

Losses from marketable securities -396 -4,059 

Fair value adjustment on long term liabilities -58,104  - 

Other financial expenses (incl. losses from foreign currencies) -14,676 -6,940 

Total -364,392 -53,786 

in CHF 2023 2022

3.6 Extraordinary and out-of-period income

Tax reimbursement relating to a former period  45,350  - 

Profit on sale of participation  -  6,578 

Total  45,350  6,578 
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4. BALANCE SHEET

in CHF 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

4.1 Other short-term receivables 

Third parties  93,610  79,382 

Group companies  128,598  128,598 

Total  222,208  207,980 

 

in CHF 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

4.2 Loans

Loans to shareholders  1,043,983  925,279 

Total  1,043,983  925,279 

Loans to shareholders refer to the loans granted to participants of 
the Long Term Incentive Programmes as implemented by Valartis 
Group during years 2020 to 2023. 

in CHF 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

4.3 Financial assets

Securities  -  4,604,873 

Total  -  4,604,873 

 
4.4 Participations 

Name and domicile Capital/ 
participation 

quote 2023

Capital/ 
participation 

quote 2022

Share capital

Valartis AG, Fribourg, Switzerland 100%/100% 100%/100% CHF 100,000

Valartis Finance Holding AG, Vaduz, Liechtenstein 100%/100% 100%/100% CHF 100,000

Valartis Advisory Services SA, Geneva & Zurich, Switzerland 100%/100% 100%/100% CHF 1,896,210

Valartis International Ltd., Tortola, BVI 100%/100% 100%/100% USD 20,000,000

Parking Clé de Rive SA, Geneva, Switzerland 50.98%/50.98% 50.98%/50.98%  CHF 148,500

MCT Luxembourg Management S.à.r.l., Luxembourg 100%/100% 100%/100% EUR 12,500

ENR Russia Invest SA, Geneva, Switzerland 23.43%/23.43% 23.43%/23.43% CHF 32,790,585

Valartis Property Holdings Ltd, Tortola, BVI 100%/100% 0%/0% -
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Significant indirect investments

Name and domicile Parent company Capital/ 
participation 

quote 2023

Capital/ 
participation 

quote 2022

Share capital/ 
Nominal capital

ENR Russia Invest SA, Geneva, Switzerland Valartis AG 38.1%/38.1% 38.1%/38.1% CHF 32,790,585

 
Norinvest Holding SA, Geneva, Switzerland Valartis AG 32.5%/32.5% 32.5%/32.5% CHF 22,000,000

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Langeoog”,  
Leer, Germany 1), 2) Valartis International Ltd. 0%/0% 50%/50% EUR 2,900,000

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Folmhusen”, 
Leer, Germany 2) Valartis International Ltd. 50%/50% 50%/50% EUR 5,000,000

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Nesseborg”,  
Leer, Germany 2) Valartis International Ltd. 50%/50% 50%/50% EUR 5,000,000

Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz”,  
Leer, Germany 2) Valartis International Ltd. 50%/50% 50%/50% EUR 5,003,208

 
Valartis Property Holdings Ltd, Tortola, BVI Valartis International Ltd. 0%/0% 100%/100% -

 
VLR Germany GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany Valartis AG 100%/100% 100%/100% EUR 25,000

 
VLR Austria GmbH, Vienna, Austria VLR Germany GmbH 100%/100% 100%/100% EUR 35,000

 
Kaluga Flower Holding LLC, Kaluga Oblast, Russia ENR Investment Ltd 3) 50%/50% 50%/50% RUB 64,010,000

 
Petrovsky Fort LLC, Saint Petersburg, Russia Romsay Properties Ltd 3) 100%/100% 100%/100% RUB 18,000

 
Vestive Ltd, Nicosia, Cyprus ENR Private Equity Ltd 3) 50%/50% 50%/50% EUR 5,000

1)  Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Langeoog” has been liquidated on the 
31 August 2023.

2)  Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Langeoog”, Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & 
Co. KG MS “Folmhusen”, Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Nesseborg” 
and Briese Schiffahrts GmbH & Co. KG MS “Marz” are German KG (Komman 

 ditgesellschaft) i.e. Limited partnerships. Valartis Group AG through Valartis  
 International is indirectly limited Partner in these companies.
3)  ENR Investment Ltd, Romsay Properties Ltd and ENR Private Equity Ltd are 

subsidiaries of ENR Russia Invest SA

in CHF 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

4.5 Short-term interest-bearing liabilities

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities to participations  24,674,151  8,410,637 

Total  24,674,151  8,410,637 
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31.12.2023 31.12.2022

 
4.6 Share capital

Share capital (CHF) 3,126,295  4,299,295 

Number of registered shares  3,126,295  4,299,295 

Nominal value per share (CHF)  1  1 

During the Ordinary General Meeting held on 16 May 2023, the
shareholders approved the buyback of 1,173,000 Valartis Group

shares for cancellation purpose, which took place subsequently.
The ordinary share capital reduction has been filed in June 2023.

4.7 Treasury shares 

Quantity 2023 Quantity 2022 in CHF 2023 in CHF 2022

Balance at 1 January  287,978  353,978  4,541,838  5,582,755 

Purchases  103,000  -  1,416,250  - 

Cancellation  -  -  -  - 

Long Term Incentive Programme -31,900 -66,000 -503,111 -1,040,917 

Balance at 31 December  359,078  287,978  5,454,977  4,541,838 

thereof held directly by Valartis Group AG  -  -  -  - 

thereof held directly by Valartis Group AG  
for purpose of cancelation  103,000  -  1,416,250  - 

thereof held by participations  256,078  287,978  4,038,727  4,541,838 

2023 2022

Average purchase price per share in the reporting period  17.32  - 

Average disposal price per share in the reporting period  17.52 12.00

Average acquisition price per share as of balance sheet date  15.19 15.77

At its meeting on 16 May 2023, the Annual General Meeting ap-
proved the repurchase of treasury shares up to a maximum of 
120,000 shares. Based on this authorisation, a share buyback of-
fer has been submitted by the Board of Directors of Valartis 
Group AG on 27 November 2023 for a maximum of 103,000 reg-
istered shares at a fixed price of CHF 13.75 per registered share 
for the purpose of capital reduction. Valartis was tendered a total  

of 134,576 registered shares during the offer period from 4 to 15 
December 2023. After the number of registered shares tendered 
exceeded the volume of the buyback offer, the registered shares 
were repurchased from the tendering shareholders on a pro rata 
basis, i.e. the tender was reduced on a pro rata basis to a maxi-
mum of 103,000 registered shares

in CHF 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Presentation in the equity

Deduction from equity for treasury shares held directly -1,416,250  - 

Reserve for treasury shares of Valartis Group AG held by participations  4,038,727  4,541,838 
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5. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

in CHF 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Total amount of assets used to secure own liabilities

Total amount of assets used to secure own liabilities  6,840  6,840 

Total assets under restricted control

Total assets under restricted control  6,840  6,840 

Shareholders
The share capital has been divided into registered shares (previ-
ously bearer shares) since 18 May 2017. According to the Swiss 
Financial Market Infrastructure Act (FinMIA), anyone holding 
shares in a company listed on the SIX is obliged to notify the com-
pany concerned and SIX as soon as their voting rights exceed or 
fall below certain thresholds. Under the Swiss Code of Obliga-
tions, the company is obliged to disclose the identity of all share-
holders holding more than 5 per cent of the shares in the notes to 
the annual financial statements.

The following is a summary of the holders of 3 or more per cent 
in Valartis Group AG, based on the published reports:

in per cent 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

MCG Holding SA, Baar ZG 68.8 50.3

Avalon Park Group Holding AG 1) 0.0 26.9

Gustav Stenbolt 2.3 1.4

Philipp LeibundGut 0.8 0.7

1)  Formerly Kähli Holding AG

As per 31 December 2023 the beneficial owners of MCG Holding 
SA are Gustav Stenbolt, Geneva, Tidesea Ltd., Fribourg (100 per 
cent controlled by Gustav Stenbolt, Geneva) and Philipp Leibund-
Gut, Zurich. The following are deemed to be holders of qualified 
participations: a) Gustav Stenbolt, who holds 85.1 per cent of the 
voting rights (80.2 per cent of the share capital) of MCG Holding 
SA (partly held through Tidesea Ltd.) and b) Philipp LeibundGut, 
who holds 14.9 per cent of the voting rights (19.8 per cent of the 
share capital) of MCG Holding SA.

The shares held directly by Gustav Stenbolt and Philipp LeibundGut 
originate from current and previous years bonus plans run by 
 Valartis companies for the Board of Directors and employees on 
the basis of their respective functions they held at the time of 
allocation.

As per 31 December 2022 the beneficial owner of Avalon Park 
Group Holding AG was Beat Kähli, Zurich.
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Loans and equity holdings of the members of the Board of Directors at year end

2023 Gustav Stenbolt, 
Chairman & Delegate 

of the BoD 

Philipp LeibundGut, 
Vice Chairman

Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member

Diana Stenbolt, 
Member 6)

Total

Shareholdings held by and Loans/
loans to Directors

Number of shares held by 1)  1,901,395  344,472  15,115  2,750 2,263,732 

Number of shares  
(entitlements) 2)  11,000  5,500  700  700 17,900 

Value of shares (entitlements)  
in CHF 2)  123,298  61,649  7,846  7,846 200,639

Loans and credits in CHF 3)  384,033  150,056  32,118  21,251 587,458

Loans and credits to related parties 
in CHF  -  -  - -  - 

Number of put options  
(entitlements) 4) 5)  11,000  5,500  700  700  17,900 

Value of put options  
(entitlements) in CHF  7,260  3,630  462  462 11,814

Number of put options (balance)  71,000  24,000  6,300  2,750  104,050 

1)  Includes entitled Company shares during 2023
2)  Entitled shares refer to Valartis Group shares awarded (“Award Shares”) or sold 

to participants (“Purchase Shares”) of the Long Term Incentive Programme in 
2023. Sold shares are financed by way of a loan granted by the Company. 
Further details on the Long Term Incentive programme can be found in the 
Compensation Report (see page 26 ff).

3)  Refer to loan granted to finance (“Purchase Shares”) within the Long Term 
Incentive Programme 2023, 2022, 2021 and 2020

4)  Put options have been granted to each LTI participant for all Award and 
Purchase Shares in order to cover the loan value at maturity in case the market 
value of the shares would not be sufficient to reimburse the financing loan.

5)  1:1 ratio with company’s shares
6)  Diana Stenbolt was elected by the General Shareholder’s Meeting on 16 May 

2023 as member of the Board of Directors.

 
2022 Gustav Stenbolt, 

Chairman & Delegate  
of the BoD 

Philipp LeibundGut,  
Vice Chairman

Olivier Brunisholz, 
Member 

Total

Shareholdings held by and Loans/
loans to Directors

Number of shares held by 1)  1,899,760  352,112  14,415  2,266,287 

Number of shares (entitlements) 2)  11,500  5,750  750  18,000 

Value of shares (entitlements)  
in CHF 2)  164,146  82,073  10,705  256,924 

Loans and credits in CHF 3)  317,569  158,785  27,776  504,130 

Loans and credits to related parties 
in CHF  -  -  -  - 

Number of put options  
(entitlements) 4) 5)  23,000  11,500  1,500  36,000 

Value of put options  
(entitlements) in CHF  8,970  4,485  585  14,040 

Number of put options (balance)  60,000  30,000  5,600  95,600 

1)  Includes entitled Company shares during 2022
2)  Entitled shares refer to Valartis Group shares awarded (“Award Shares”) or sold 

to participants (“Purchase Shares”) of the Long Term Incentive Programme in 
2022. Sold shares are financed by way of a loan granted by the Company. 
Further details on the Long Term Incentive programme can be found in the 
Compensation Report (see page 26 ff).

3)  Refer to loan granted to finance (“Purchase Shares”) within the Long Term 
Incentive Programme 2022, 2021 and 2020

4)  Put options have been granted to each LTI participant for all Award and 
Purchase Shares in order to cover the loan value at maturity in case the market 
value of the shares would not be sufficient to reimburse the financing loan.

5)  1:1 ratio with company’s shares
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Loans and equity holdings of the members of  
Executive Management at year end
Loans, shares and options held by Gustav Stenbolt as Delegate of 
the Board of Directors are shown above under Loans, shares and  
 

options held by the members of the Board of Directors 2023 and 
2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

None.

PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO THE 
GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Board of Directors will submit the following proposal to the 
Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on 14 May 2024 in re-
spect of the distribution of retained earnings: 

in CHF 2023

Profit brought forward from previous year  64,471,694 

Net result -531,433 

Retained earnings available for the General Meeting of Shareholders  63,940,261 

Dividend on capital entitled to dividend payments 1) -1,383,609

Profit to be carried forward 62,556,652 

 1)  Dividend of CHF 0.50 per share for 2,767,217 dividend entitled shares as of 31 
December 2023 (excluding treasury shares). Previous year: None.

Dividend payments
For the financial year 2023, the Board of Directors proposes to 
the Shareholders’ Meeting 2024 to pay a dividend of CHF 0.50 per 
share (previous year: none). 
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS  
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  

 
 

 

 
BDO Ltd, a limited company under Swiss law, incorporated in Zurich, forms part of the international BDO Network of independent member firms. 

 
 

  

 

 

Phone +41 22 322 24 24 
www.bdo.ch 
geneve@bdo.ch 

BDO Ltd 
Rte de Meyrin 123 
P.O. Box 150 
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STATUTORY AUDITOR'S REPORT  

To the general meeting of Valartis Group AG, Fribourg 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Valartis Group AG (the Company) – which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the income statement for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 111 to 121) comply with Swiss law and the Company's 
articles of incorporation. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our 
responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the "Auditor’s Respon-
sibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit 
profession, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these require-
ments.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Key Audit Matter How the Key Audit Matter was addressed in 
the audit  

Existence and valuation of participations  
As at 31 December 2023, the Company shows 
participations in its financial statements with a total 
value of CHF 96,028,925. These participations are 
accounted for at the lower of acquisition costs and 
net realisable value according to the principle of 
individual valuation. A potential impairment loss is 
determined by comparing the book value with the 
net asset value. 

This position represents 98.5 percent of total assets 
as of the balance sheet date and was therefore, in 
our opinion, of particular importance. 

Details of the Company's participations are described 
in Note 4.4 to the financial statements of Valartis 
Group AG as at 31 December 2023.  

 

We tested the existence of the participations 
recognised as of the balance sheet date by matching 
them with the shareholders registers of the 
respective companies. 

We assessed the valuation based on a net asset value 
analysis of the most recent annual financial 
statements of the respective companies that were 
included in our audit work on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. We analysed 
whether the net asset value was lower than the cost 
of acquisition. 

In the event of any changes in the value of the 
investments, we have also examined whether these 
changes are correctly reflected in the income 
statement. 

Furthermore, we assessed the presentation and 
disclosures in the statutory financial statements of 
Valartis Group AG as at 31 December 2023. 
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Other Information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements, the 
consolidated financial statements, the compensation report and our auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information,we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of Swiss law and the Company's articles of incorporation, and for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Com-
pany’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going con-
cern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and SA-CH will always detect a material mis-
statement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic deci-
sions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is lo-
cated at EXPERTsuisse's website at: https://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-ordinary-au-
dits. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In accordance with Art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an internal control 
system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the 
instructions of the Board of Directors.  

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and 
the Company's articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to 
you be approved. 

Geneva, 28 March 2024  

BDO Ltd 

Nigel Le Masurier 

Auditor in Charge 
Licensed audit expert 

Olivier Griot 

 
Licensed audit expert 
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VALARTIS GROUP AG REGISTERED SHARE

in CHF 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2023

Share capital Valartis Group AG 4,769,295 4,299,295 4,299,295 4,299,295 3,126,295

Number of VLRT shares issued 4,769,295 4,299,295 4,299,295 4,299,295 3,126,295

Number of outstanding VLRT shares, entitled to  
dividends 3,836,417 3,900,917 3,945,317 4,011,317 2,767,217

Nominal value of VLRT share 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Closing price VLRT share 10.20 9.00 13.80 18.00 12.70

High for the year VLRT share 11.30 10.70 13.80 18.50 18.50

Low for the year VLRT share 9.60 7.40 8.00 10.90 11.85

Market capitalisation 48,646,809 38,693,655 59,330,271 77,387,310 39,703,947

Dividend per share 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.50

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.9%

Price-to-book ratio 0.39 0.36 0.50 0.61 0.43
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